
 

 
Agenda 

 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet 
 
 
 

Date: Wednesday 10 July 2019 

Time: 6.00 pm 

Place: The Old Library - Oxford Town Hall 

 
For any further information please contact:  

John Mitchell, Committee and Member Services Officer 

Telephone: 01865252217 

Email: jmitchell@oxford.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 

 
Details of how City Councillors and members of the public may engage with this 
meeting may be found on page 8 of this agenda. 
 
 
 
 
As a matter of courtesy, if you intend to record the meeting please let the 
Committee Services Officer know how you wish to do this before the start of the 
meeting. 
 
 



 
 

Cabinet 
 
Membership 
 
 
Chair/ Leader Councillor Susan Brown Leader of the Council, Cabinet 

Member for Economic 
Development and Partnerships 

 
Vice Chair/ 
Deputy Leader 
 

Councillor Linda Smith Deputy Leader (Statutory), 
Cabinet Member for Leisure and 
Housing 

 
 

Councillor Ed Turner Deputy Leader, Cabinet 
Member for Finance and Asset 
Management 

 
 

Councillor Nigel Chapman Cabinet Member for Safer 
Communities and Customer 
Focused Services 

 
 

Councillor Mary Clarkson Cabinet Member for Culture and 
City Centre 

 
 

Councillor Tom Hayes Cabinet Member for Zero 
Carbon Oxford 

 
 

Councillor Alex Hollingsworth Cabinet Member for Planning 
and Sustainable Transport 

 
 

Councillor Mike Rowley Cabinet Member for Affordable 
Housing 

 
 

Councillor Marie Tidball Cabinet Member for Supporting 
Local Communities 

 
 

Councillor Louise Upton Cabinet Member for Healthy 
Oxford 

 
 
 
 

The quorum for this meeting is three, substitutes are not allowed. 
 
Future items to be discussed by the Cabinet can be found on the Forward Plan which is 
available on the Council’s website 
 

Copies of this agenda 

 
Reference copies are available to consult in the Town Hall Reception. Agendas are published 6 
working days before the meeting and the draft minutes a few days after. 

 

All agendas, reports and minutes are available online and can be: 

- viewed on our website – mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk 

- downloaded from our website 

- viewed using the computers in the Customer Services, St Aldate’s, or 

- subscribed to electronically by registering online at mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk 

 

 
 

http://10.206.136.158/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=345&RD=0
https://www.oxford.gov.uk/info/20169/council_meetings
http://mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk/ielogon.aspx?lp=1&RPID=2852798&HPID=2852798&Forms=1&META=mgSubscribeLogon


 

AGENDA 
 

PART ONE 
PUBLIC BUSINESS 

 
 
  Pages 
   

1   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

 

2   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 

 

3   ADDRESSES AND QUESTIONS BY MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC  
 

 

4   COUNCILLOR ADDRESSES ON ANY ITEM FOR DECISION ON 
THE BOARD'S AGENDA  
 

 

5   COUNCILLOR ADDRESSES ON NEIGHBOURHOOD ISSUES  
 

 

6   ITEMS RAISED BY BOARD MEMBERS  
 

 

7   SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORTS 
 

11 - 16 

 The Scrutiny Committee met on 4 June 2019 to consider the Fusion 
Lifestyle Annual Service Plan. Its subsequent report and 
recommendation are attached, together with the draft Cabinet 
response. 
 
Recommendations from the Finance Panel of Scrutiny Committee in 
relation to the Q4 Integrated Performance Report (item 8  of this 
agenda) will be published as a supplement.   
 

 

8   Q4 INTEGRATED PERFORMANCE  REPORT 
 

17 - 46 

 Lead Member: Deputy Leader - Finance and Asset Management 
(Councillor Ed Turner) 

 

 The Head of Financial Services and Head of Business Improvement 
have submitted a report to update Members on Finance, Risk and 
Performance as at the end of the financial year. 
 
Recommendations: That Cabinet resolves to: 
 
1. Note the financial outturn and performance of the Council for the 

year 2018/19 and also the position on risks outstanding as at 31st 
March 2019; 

2. Agree the carry forward requests in respect of the General Fund as 
shown in paragraph 6 and on Appendix D; 

 



 

3. Agree the additional transfer to the General Fund Repairs and 
Maintenance Reserve of £0.610 million detailed in paragraph 2 a;  

4. Agree the carry forward requests in respect of the HRA as shown 
in paragraph 14 and on Appendix D;  

5. Agree the additional transfer to the HRA Contributions to HRA 
Projects Reserve of £3.716 million detailed in paragraph 2(c); 

6. Recommend to Council the inclusion of an additional £1.53m 
budget within the HRA in 2019-20 for completion of the Tower 
Block refurbishment scheme;  

7. Agree to delegate authority to the Chief Executive to agree the  
terms of the Towers contract final account with Fortem based on 
the principles detailed in Appendix G;and 

8. Recommend to Council the inclusion of £200k in 2019-20 in 
respect of costs to establish a citizens’ assembly together with 
associated staffing costs for reporting and research.  

 
 

9   FUSION LIFESTYLE’S ANNUAL SERVICE PLAN FOR OXFORD 
LEISURE FACILITIES (2019/20) 
 

47 - 102 

 Lead Member: Deputy Leader (Statutory) - Leisure and Housing 
(Councillor Linda Smith) 

 

 The Head of Community Services has submitted a report to 
recommend that Cabinet endorses Fusion Lifestyles 2019/20 Annual 
Service Plan for the continuous development, management and 
operation of leisure services in Oxford. 
 
Recommendations: That  Cabinet resolves to: 
 
1. Note the national and local context of the leisure market; 
2. Note the overarching performance dashboard for 2018/19, as 

attached as Appendix 1; and 
3. Endorse the Fusion Lifestyle Annual Service Plan as 

recommended by   the   Leisure Partnership Board and 
attached as Appendix 2. 

 
 

 

10   BARTON OXFORD LLP 
 

103 - 110 

 Lead Member: Deputy Leader - Finance and Asset Management 
(Councillor Ed Turner) and Affordable Housing (Councillor Mike 
Rowley) 

 

 The Regeneration and Major Projects Service Manager has submitted 
a report asking the Cabinet to note the progress made with the 
development of Barton Park by the Joint Venture and to note the 
update in relation to the purchase of the affordable housing.  
 
 
 

 



 

Recommendations: That Cabinet resolves to:  
 
1. Note the progress made by Barton Oxford LLP in bringing forward 

development at Barton Park; 
2. Note the current financial position in relation to potential payments 

from the Joint Venture;  
3. Note the progress of the purchase of affordable housing on the site 

and the arrangements between the Council and its Housing 
Company (OCHIL) for ownership; and 

4. Require quarterly reports to be made to the Council’s Shareholder 
body (which will have an expanded remit to receive reports from 
companies and joint ventures which do not have shareholders, 
such as Barton Oxford LLP) on the overall progress of the Barton 
Park development, to include information on overall delivery of 
housing, with particular reference to social rented homes, and the 
financial performance of the project in general. 

 

11   DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS 
 

 

 Meetings are scheduled for the following dates: 
 

 07 August 

 11 September 

 09 October 

 13 November  

 11 December 
 
All meetings start at 6pm. 
 

 

 PART TWO 
MATTERS EXEMPT FROM PUBLICATION 

 

 

12   MATTERS EXEMPT FROM PUBLICATION 
 

 

 If the Board wishes to exclude the press and the public from the 
meeting during consideration of any of the items on the exempt from 
publication part of the agenda, it will be necessary for the Board to 
pass a resolution in accordance with the provisions of Paragraph 
4(2)(b) of the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Access to 
Information) (England) Regulations 2012 on the grounds that their 
presence could involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
described in specific paragraphs of Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972.  
 
The Board may maintain the exemption if and so long as, in all the 
circumstances of the case, the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information. 
 
 

 



 

13   MINUTES 
 

111 - 116 

 Recommendation: The City Executive Board resolves to APPROVE 
the minutes of the meeting held on 12 June 2019 as a true and 
accurate record. 
 

 

14   Q4  INTEGRATED REPORT APPENDIX G  
 

117 - 120 



 

DECLARING INTERESTS 
 
General duty 
 
You must declare any disclosable pecuniary interests when the meeting reaches the item 
on the agenda headed “Declarations of Interest” or as soon as it becomes apparent to you. 
 
What is a disclosable pecuniary interest? 
 
Disclosable pecuniary interests relate to your* employment; sponsorship (ie payment for 
expenses incurred by you in carrying out your duties as a councillor or towards your 
election expenses); contracts; land in the Council’s area; licences for land in the Council’s 
area; corporate tenancies; and securities.  These declarations must be recorded in each 
councillor’s Register of Interests which is publicly available on the Council’s website. 
 
Declaring an interest 
 
Where any matter disclosed in your Register of Interests is being considered at a meeting, 
you must declare that you have an interest.  You should also disclose the nature as well as 
the existence of the interest. 
 
If you have a disclosable pecuniary interest, after having declared it at the meeting you 
must not participate in discussion or voting on the item and must withdraw from the meeting 
whilst the matter is discussed. 
 
Member’s Code of Conduct and public perception 
 
Even if you do not have a disclosable pecuniary interest in a matter, the Members’ Code of 
Conduct says that a member “must serve only the public interest and must never 
improperly confer an advantage or disadvantage on any person including yourself” and that 
“you must not place yourself in situations where your honesty and integrity may be 
questioned”.  What this means is that the matter of interests must be viewed within the 
context of the Code as a whole and regard should continue to be paid to the perception of 
the public. 
 
*Disclosable pecuniary interests that must be declared are not only those of the member her or himself 
but also those of the member’s spouse, civil partner or person they are living with as husband or wife or 
as if they were civil partners. 



 

 
HOW OXFORD CITY COUNCILLORS AND MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC CAN ENGAGE 

AT THE CABINET 
 

Addresses and questions by members of the public, (15 minutes in total) 
 
Members of the public can submit questions in writing about any item for decision at the 
meeting. Questions, stating the relevant agenda item, must be received by the Head of Law 
and Governance by 9.30am two clear working day before the meeting (eg for a Tuesday 
meeting, the deadline would be 9.30am on the Friday before). Questions can be submitted 
either by letter or by email (to cabinet@oxford.gov.uk ). 
 
Answers to the questions will be provided in writing at the meeting; supplementary 
questions will not be allowed. If it is not possible to provide an answer at the meeting it will 
be included in the minutes that are published on the Council’s website within 2 working 
days of the meeting. 
 
The Chair has discretion in exceptional circumstances to agree that a submitted question or 
related statement (dealing with matters that appear on the agenda) can be asked verbally 
at the meeting. In these cases, the question and/or address is limited to 3 minutes, and will 
be answered verbally by the Chair or another Cabinet member or an officer of the Council. 
The text of any proposed address must be submitted within the same timescale as 
questions. 
 
For this agenda item the Chair’s decision is final. 
 
Councillors speaking at meetings 
 
Oxford City councillors may, when the chair agrees, address the Cabinet on an item for 
decision on the agenda (other than on the minutes). The member seeking to make an 
address must notify the Head of Law and Governance by 9.30am at least one clear working 
day before the meeting, stating the relevant agenda items. An address may last for no more 
than three minutes. If an address is made, the Cabinet member who has political 
responsibility for the item for decision may respond or the Cabinet will have regard to the 
points raised in reaching its decision. 
 
Councillors speaking on Neighbourhood issues (10 minutes in total) 
 
Any City Councillor can raise local issues on behalf of communities directly with the 
Cabinet. The member seeking to make an address must notify the Head of Law and 
Governance by 9.30am at least one clear working day before the meeting, giving outline 
details of the issue. Priority will be given to those members who have not already 
addressed the Cabinet within the year and in the order received. Issues can only be raised 
once unless otherwise agreed by the Cabinet. The Cabinet’s responsibility will be to hear 
the issue and respond at the meeting, if possible, or arrange a written response within 10 
working days. 
 
Items raised by Cabinet members 
 
Such items must be submitted within the same timescale as questions and will be for 
discussion only and not for a Cabinet decision. Any item which requires a decision of the 
Cabinet will be the subject of a report to a future meeting of the Cabinet 

mailto:cabinet@oxford.gov.uk


 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

. 

 

To: Cabinet 

Date: 10 July 2019 

Report of: Scrutiny Committee 

Title of Report:  Scrutiny Committee recommendations concerning the 
Fusion Lifestyle Annual Service Plan   

 

Summary and recommendation 

Purpose of report: To present a Scrutiny Committee recommendation for 
Cabinet consideration and decision 

Key decision: 

Scrutiny Lead 
Member: 

No 

Councillor Andrew Gant, Scrutiny Committee Chair 

Cabinet Member: Councillor Linda Smith, Leisure and Housing 
  

Corporate Priority: Strong Active Communities, Efficient Effective Council, A 
Cleaner Greener City. 
 

Policy Framework: Leisure and Wellbeing Strategy, 2015 to 2020. 

Recommendation: That the Cabinet states whether it agrees or disagrees 
with the recommendation in the body of this report. 

 

 

 

Introduction and overview 

1. The Scrutiny Committee met on 4 June 2019 to consider the Fusion Lifestyle 
Annual Service Plan. This follows a recent audit of performance data as requested 
by the Committee in 2018 and a series of quarterly meetings to monitor leisure 
centre participation. The Committee would like to thank Councillor Smith, Deputy 
Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for Leisure and Housing, Ian Brooke, 
Head of Community Services, and Tim Mills from Fusion Lifestyle for attending the 
meeting.  
 

2. The Committee noted that since a significant drop in participation in 2017/18, the 
number of active participation visits increased in 2018/19 by 25%. This was positive 
to see, noting that recording processes and attention to gate access at centres had 
improved since the fall in recorded participation.  

11

Agenda Item 7



Summary and recommendation 
 
3. The Committee’s discussion on this report began by focussing on concerns over 

the timeliness of maintenance and repairs; a matter which the Committee has 
previously raised. It was noted that this matter was a focus area in the Annual 
Service Plan.  
 

4. The Committee’s principal focus concerned the need to continue to increase 
participation by people from deprived areas within the City. It was positive to note 
the increase of 5,037 users from deprived areas, which represents an above target 
achievement for 2018/19. The impact that improved recording practices had on this 
figure is not clear however. Councillors said that there was a notable trend whereby 
under participation in leisure activities tended to be concentrated in areas of 
deprivation.  

 
5. Accordingly, the view was expressed that additional resource and new and creative 

ways of engaging communities and promoting leisure facilities should be used to 
draw in additional membership from these areas. Consideration should also be 
given to whether the target of increasing participation from deprived areas (3%) is 
ambitious enough, and whether it can be increased to highlight the importance of 
the issue. 

 
6. This view was similarly expressed in relation to Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic 

(BAME) engagement. The 2011 Census showed that 22% of Oxford’s population 
were BAME, however just over 10% of the users of Fusion Lifestyle centres in 
Oxford identify in this category (79,634 of 775,703 participants). Councillors 
explained that outreach work with communities in deprived areas, and with 
organisations and community leaders associated with underrepresented BAME 
groups, would be very welcome by residents, and likely result in a strong take up in 
membership.  

 
7. It is noted that the Annual Service Plan includes an objective to “create a specific 

action plan to increase deprived usage.” Councillors suggested that ways in which 
this might be done could include, but are not limited to: 

 

 Establishing community leisure champions 

 Partnering with local health and community organisations 

 Engaging with local community leaders  

 Considering localised discounts for the most deprived areas 
 

8. Councillors also discussed the response to a previous recommendation they made 
concerning the need for women only sessions at the Leys Pool to be time 
appropriate. The proposal to change these sessions from a Friday evening to a 
Tuesday daytime slot was welcome. The female only session will be incorporated 
into the pool timetable at Leys Pools and Leisure Centre in September 2019. This 
session is aligned to the provision of a crèche also within the facility. A councillor 
suggested that a modesty screen could be provided for women during these 
sessions when moving from changing facilities to the pool and the importance of 
having female attendants for these sessions was emphasised.  

 

12



Recommendation 1: That the Council undertakes outreach work in the most 
deprived areas within the City to further encourage the use of local leisure 
facilities, and confirms that there will be a robust action plan for increasing 
participation in these communities. This, along with increasing BAME 
participation, should be considered a priority within the Fusion Lifestyle 
contract.   

 

Report author Stefan Robinson 

Job title Scrutiny Officer 

Service area or department Law and Governance 

Telephone  01865 252191 

e-mail  Srobinson@oxford.gov.uk 

 

 

13



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

10 July 2019 
Draft Cabinet response to recommendations of the Scrutiny Committee 

 
The document sets out the draft response of the Cabinet Member to recommendations made by the Scrutiny Committee on 4 June 
2019 concerning the Fusion Lifestyle Annual Service Plan. The Cabinet is asked to amend and agree a formal response as 
appropriate.  
 

Recommendation Agree?  Comment 

Recommendation 1: That the Council undertakes 
outreach work in the most deprived areas within the City 
to further encourage the use of local leisure facilities, and 
confirms that there will be a robust action plan for 
increasing participation in these communities. This, along 
with increasing BAME participation, should be considered 
a priority within the Fusion Lifestyle contract.   
 

Yes Fusion Lifestyle have a contractual responsibility to 
undertake this outreach work and as a council we will 
continue to support them and challenge them to achieve 
more in this area. 
 

 

15



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

. 

 

To: Cabinet 

Date: 10 July 2019 

Report of: Head of Financial Services 

Head of Business Improvement 

Title of Report:  Integrated Performance Report for Quarter 4 2018/19 

 

Summary and recommendations 

Purpose of report: To update Members on Finance, Risk and 
Performance as at the end of the financial year. 

Key decision: Yes 

Executive Board Member: Councillor Ed Turner 

Corporate Priority: Efficient and Effective Council. 

Policy Framework: Corporate Plan 

Recommendations: That the Cabinet resolves to: 

1.  

 

 

2. 

 

3. 

 

4. 

 

5 

 

6 

 

 

7. 

 

Note the financial outturn and performance of the Council for the year 
2018/19 and also the position on risks outstanding as at 31st March 
2019; 
 
Agree the carry forward requests in respect of the General Fund as 
shown in paragraph 6 and on Appendix D; 
 
Agree the additional transfer to the General Fund Repairs and 
Maintenance Reserve of £0.610 million detailed in paragraph 2 a;  
 
Agree the carry forward requests in respect of the HRA as shown in 
paragraph 14 and on Appendix D;  

5 
Agree the additional transfer to the HRA Contributions to HRA Projects 
Reserve of £3.716 million detailed in paragraph 2(c); 
 
Recommend to Council the inclusion of an additional £1.53m budget 
within the HRA in 2019-20 for completion of the Tower Block 
refurbishment scheme;  
 
Agree to delegate authority to the Chief Executive to agree the  terms of 
the Towers contract final account with Fortem based on the principles 
detailed in Appendix G; and   

17

Agenda Item 8



 

 

8. 

 
 
 
Recommend to Council the inclusion of £200k in 2019-20 in respect of 
costs to establish a citizens’ assembly together with associated staffing 
costs for reporting and research.  
 

  

 

Appendices 

  

Appendix A 

Appendix B 

Appendix C 

Appendix D 

Appendix E 

Appendix F 

Appendix G 

 

General Fund Outturn 

Capital Programme Outturn 

HRA Outturn 

Carry Forward Requests  

Corporate Risks 

Corporate Performance Outturn 

Tower Block project – final account.  Exempt  

 

Introduction and background  

1. This report updates the Cabinet on the performance of the Council for 2018/19 
together with the corporate and service risks faced as at 31 March 2019.  A brief 
summary is as follows: 

2. Financial Position 

a. General Fund – The surplus on the General Fund is £0.611 million (2.76% of 
the Net Budget Requirement of £22.097 million and 2.13% of the gross 
service expenditure budget of £28.734 million), after allowing for carry 
forwards to reserves of £0.084 million.  The Council is currently updating its 
condition surveys in respect of corporate buildings and there are already 
significant repairs that require undertaking, including £0.600 million of repairs 
to the Town Hall ceilings.  A recommendation is made to transfer this £0.610 
million surplus to an earmarked reserve for repairs and maintenance of 
corporate buildings to cover these expected commitments.   

b. Efficiencies, Fees and Charges and Service Reduction Targets – at year 
end the actual sum is on target at £0.521million, which equates to overall 
savings made over the last four years of £6.916 million. 

c. Housing Revenue Account – The year end surplus on the HRA is a 
favourable £3.716 million, after allowing for carry forwards of £0.202 million 
against the original budgeted deficit of £1.440 million.  It is recommended to 

18



transfer the  £3.716 million into the HRA projects reserve to fund future 
capital commitments   

d. Capital Programme – the outturn spend is £42.533 million, a favourable 
variance of £10.398 million against the latest budget forecast in February 
2019.  Of this £10.489 million is slippage relating to ICT projects, purchase of 
homes at Barton Park and loans to the Housing Company, which will be 
carried forward into future years and £0.092 million relates to small net 
overspends on a number of schemes, the funding for which has been 
covered by use of revenue funding and capital reserves.   

3. Performance – 77% (10) of the Corporate Performance targets were delivered as 
planned and 23% (3) were short of target; individual performance targets are 
detailed in Appendix F.   

4. Corporate Risk Management – There is one red corporate risk, nine risks that are 
Amber risks, and two Green risks, these are detailed in paragraphs 20-21 and in 
Appendix E. 

General Fund Revenue 

5. The General Fund is showing a favourable variance of £0.610 million as set out in 
Appendix A, after carry forward requests. The revenue balance remains unchanged 
at £3.622 million. 

General Fund Earmarked Reserves and Working Balance 

6. A number of requests have been made to carry forward unspent sums in respect of 
previously approved budgets that are started but not completed totalling £0.084 
million.  Details of these requests are summarised in the table below, and further 
details shown in Appendix D: 

 

 

7. In addition to the above requests for carry forwards the Council has a need to 
progress the work in establishing a Citizens’ Assembly in September 2019 following 
a backing by Full Council in January 2019 of a Motion to declare a Climate 
Emergency. Costs to undertake the necessary work are estimated at around £200k 
for which budgetary provision funded from the overall underspends will need to be 
made. As well as commission research on a number of areas work will also include : 

 Assembly contributors research, identify, support, briefing of speakers  

Description Total

£

Assistant Chief Executive 23,122

Environmental Sustainability 9,000

Community Services 44,782

Business Improvement 7,257

General Fund 84,161

19



 Scoping clearly the areas that OCC controls to deliver emissions 
reductions  

 Issue papers on areas that OCC controls e.g. Housing, own stock new 
build and existing  

 Commissioning research  

 Liaison with key partners in Oxford – Universities  

 Liaison with internal departments within Oxford City Council  

 Assembly reporting process  

 Assembly hosting and independent facilitation 

 Payments to Assembly participants in lieu of expenses incurred in 
attending the meetings – in line with best practice 

 

The Cabinet is asked to review and agree the carry forward requests together with 
the additional spend on climate emergency as identified above. 

8. Subject to Cabinet agreeing the recommended carry forwards, General Fund 
Earmarked Reserves as at the 31st March 2019 would stand at £33.892 million, 
23% of which relates to funding of the Capital Programme, 15% relates to Business 
Rates Retention reserve and 9% relates to Grants reserve. 

9. The most notable net movements on Earmarked Reserves in year are: 

 Capital Financing reserve – £0.902 million net release from this reserve to 
fund the capital expenditure in year; 

 Grants reserve – £0.681 million net increase for grants received in previous 
years for which expenditure has incurred in year; 

 IT Infrastructure reserve –£0.654 million net release from this reserve to fund 
in year ICT Infrastructure expenditure. 

 Business Transformation Project – £0.400 million additional funding has 
been added to this reserve to enable transformation projects to develop in 
the future. 

 Vehicle purchase reserve – net increase of £800k 

 

General Fund Variations 

10. At the year end the General Fund service areas spend showed an adverse variance 
of £0.583 million, £0.667 million after carry forward requests.  The most significant 
of these variances  are explained below: 

 

 Assistant Chief Executive – year end favourable variance of £0.064 million, 

due to recharging salary costs to the Growth Board offset by some additional 

expenditure on consultation portals.  Carry forward requests for £0.008 million 

for the unspent branding budget and £0.016 million for Covered Market lanterns 

have been submitted; 

 

 Housing Services – year end adverse variance of £0.106 million, due to 

pressures on garage rental income and the home choice scheme; 

20



 

 Regeneration and Economy – year end favourable variance of £0.532 million, 

due to additional commercial property income relating to two large payments 

being received in Q4 for the surrender of leases and dilapidations;     

 

 Planning, Sustainable Development & Regulatory – year end adverse 

variance of £0.595 million, £0.357 million is due to the net expenditure on South 

Oxford Science Village, which is Oxford City Council’s share of the project costs 

to date; £0.160 million due to Building Control additional spend on agency staff 

and £0.042 million to create a financial penalties reserve .  There is also a 

request for a carry forward of £0.009 million which relates to a slipped scheme 

for funding an Ecology post within the team; 

 

 Direct Services Client –year end variance of £0.621 million which largely 

relates to reduced income from car parking income at Oxpens and Worcester 

Street car parks and also increases in business rates expenditure. Oxford Direct 

Services delivered its dividend back to the Council of £1.247million which was in 

line with the budget.   

 

 Business Improvement – year end adverse variance of £0.053 million, due to 
small overspends across the services and a number of carry forward requests 
have been made totalling £0.007 million, these relate to customer services 
training; 

Corporate Accounts, Contingencies and Funding 

11. Other variances on Corporate Accounts are due to: 

 Local Cost of Benefits - £0.317 million adverse variance due to insufficient 
budget allocated at the beginning of the year.  This represents 0.6% of total 
spend; 

 

 Corporate and Democratic Core - £0.106 million favourable, which represents 
an underspend on early retirement and pension costs. This represents 3.5% of 
spend; 

 Interest - £0.190 million favourable - Reduced net interest paid arising from 
reduced borrowing mainly in relation to Housing Company loans; 

 Business Rate (NNDR) achieved an overall increased income of £2.744 million, 
this is partly due to the increase in Business rates collectable from the Westgate 
Shopping Centre, which was forecast but also due to one off unbudgeted 
income of around £1.8 million arising from the Business Rates Distribution 
Group relating to the Council’s share of growth in Business Rates income 
arising across Oxfordshire. The income from the Distribution Group depends on 
growth in business rates income in other authorities across Oxfordshire and is 
not guaranteed. Inclusion in the Council’s base budget would therefore not be 
prudent. Business rates income is volatile and baseline levels of base income 
are due to be reset by Government with effect from April 2020. Due to the 

21



uncertain nature of Business Rates in future years this additional income has 
been transferred to the earmarked reserves to provide resilience in this area.  

 

Housing Revenue Account 

12. The HRA is showing a favourable variance on the HRA of £3.716 million above the 
original budgeted deficit of £1.440 million (Appendix C).  This is after allowing for 
carry forward requests, totalling £0.202 million.  

13. The HRA working balance remains unchanged at £4.0 million. 

14. The year end variance is shown as £3.716 million and the major variations include: 

 Dwelling Rent – favourable variance of £0.120 million to reflect the increased 
income following the decline in Right to Buy disposals and the movement of 
171 properties to formulae rent since the budget was set; 

 Services Charges – favourable variance of £0.184 million, following those 
properties that have moved to formulae rent for which the service charge has 
increased; 

 Other Revenue spend (stock related) – favourable variance of £0.363 million 
represents an underspend across a number of areas but all of which are due 
to the reductions in spend on the capital programme and their incidental 
revenue costs not materialising; 

 Responsive and Cyclical repairs – favourable variance of £0.417 million due 
to less work being carried out on the maintenance element of the service 
contracts, however £0.154 million has been submitted as a carry forward for 
some of these costs. 

 Total appropriations – favourable variance of £2.423 million due to the 
reduced funding required for the Capital Programme. 
 

15. The tower block refurbishment is drawing to a close. The project has been subject 
to a number of delays, the majority relating to the need for additional fire safety 
works relating to cladding following the tragic fire at Grenfell tower in Kensington 
and Chelsea. Most of the works have been completed but some remain in progress 
or are shortly to start with an anticipated completion for all works of December 2019. 
In order to complete the project a further budget provision of £1.53 million is 
estimated to be required to fund further works, the details of which are contained 
within Appendix G but also an allowance for potential further improvements to the 
new fire alarm systems. The anticipated final account for the contract with Fortem 
Energy Services is £21.15 million. This will be funded from the Major Projects 
Reserve into which all underspends in 2018-19 will be recommended to Council, to 
be transferred. 

  

Capital Programme 

16. The outturn on the Capital Programme is £42.533 million with a favourable variance 
of £10.398 million against the latest outturn estimate forecast in February as shown 
in Appendix B.  The variance of £10.398 million largely relates to slippage in ICT 
projects specifically the implementation of the replacement Housing Management 
System and the roll out of end users devices, slippage in the housing development 

22



at Mortimer Drive and Bracegirdle Road, reduced spend in loans given the Housing 
Company and slippage in the Horspath Sports Path Scheme.  

17. The total slippage from the original budget is £63.168 million which represents a  
spend of 40% of the original budget compared to 69% last year and 78% the 
previous year. Revisions to the overall Capital Allocation and Monitoring process 
which aim to increase the robustness in terms of the development and costing of 
capital projects before their inclusion in the capital programme and the subsequent 
monitoring of the programme, have recently been implemented. This, together with 
additional resources approved by members in the order of £400k with effect from 1st 
April 2019, is aimed at increasing the level  of spend to at least 80% for 2019-20. 

18. Details of the £63.168 million slippage are shown below: 

  GENERAL FUND 

 Housing company loans – Substantial loans to the housing company 
were included in the Capital Programme, but after the decision of the 
government to lift the HRA borrowing cap, the Council took time to 
review its approach to housing delivery, meaning that the £38.748 
million of loans were not made in the 2018/19 financial year; 

 ICT projects (various) – £0.600 million slippage in total largely 
relating to Customer Relationship Management System (CRM) £0.2 
million and  End User Devices £0.300 million which have yet to 
commence  

 Oxpens - £4.1 million adverse variance – purchase of land slipped 
from previous year 2017-18  

 Major capital works at Oxford Covered Market – £0.215 million 
slippage on work carried out in year to split some units and further 
work to improve the interior to be carried out in 2019/20; £0.231 million 
slippage on the Covered Market Roof, the project spans over four 
years and started in January 2019; 

 1 – 5 George Street – £3.183 million slippage into 2019/20 whilst the 
scheme is under review; 

 Cave Street - £2.046 million underspend - scheme not currently 
progressing; 

 Phase 1 Affordable Housing at Barton Park - £6.062 million 
slippage, Hills development has started to deliver with 22 homes 
transferred in 18/19 and further properties to transfer in April 2019; 

 Purchase of homeless properties - £0.510 million slippage into 
19/20 to fund future purchases; 

 Barton Community Centre - £1.064 million adverse variance to 
original budget carried forward from previous year 2017-18. Project 
completed in April 2019; 

 Horspath Sports Park – £0.600 million adverse variance due to 
delays starting the work at the junction and original budget carried 
forward from previous year 2017-18; 

23



 Recycling waste transfer station – slippage of £2.115 million as the 
design work is now on hold pending the impact of the Depot 
rationalisation project; 

 Bullingdon Community Centre – slippage of £0.356 million into 
19/20; 

 East Oxford Community Centre – slippage of £3.978 million into 
future years 

 Seacourt Park and Ride - £3.236 million slipped into future years due 
to delays on the project; 

 Go Low Ultra/Taxis - £0.908 million slippage across the two 
schemes, due to delays in progress of the schemes; 

 Purchase of Homes for homeless families - £2.500 million adverse 
variance due to slippage of purchase from 2017-18 

 Westgate Public Realm - £1.134 million adverse variance due to 
slippage of payment of Section 106 monies from 2017-18 

 Disabled Facilities Grants - £0.574 million of slippage on spend into 
future years  

HRA 

 Roofing – £0.100 million slippage, final phase of 18/19 to be 
completed in early 2019/20; 

 Doors and windows - £0.180 million slippage, budget being held and 
rolled forward for possible fire door works in 19/20; 

 Lift replacement programme - £0.147 million underspend on the 
scheme; 

 Compulsory purchase of property - £0.612 million slippage, three 
extension projects are awaiting building survey works to be completed; 

 Barton Regeneration - £0.705 million slippage into future years to 
continue to meet stakeholder expectation with the development; 

 Blackbird Leys Regeneration – £1.600 million slippage, to enable to 
continue to meet stakeholder expectations of works currently placed in 
differing stages; 

 Development at Mortimer Drive & Bracegirdle- £1.012 million  
slippage, scheme is at design stage, with planning permission granted 

 East Oxford Housing Development – £5.3 million slippage linked to 
development of Community Centre. 

Performance Management 

19. There are thirteen corporate performance measures that were monitored during the 
year (Appendix F). Ten (77%) were delivered as planned (Green) and three (23%) 
fell short of their target.  

20. The three indicators are detailed below: 

24



a. Amount of employment floor space permitted for development –target of 
15,000 and a year end result of 12,747.  A target of 90,000 was set over the 
four year period and we may see elements come forward in the final year and 
we will continue to work with the major development promoters to bring these 
forward in a way that delivers for the local community and economy. 

b. Net increase in number of businesses operating in the city – target of 200 
and a year end result of 40.  This indicator is not within the control of the City 
Council and will be replaced in the next iteration of service plans with a 
measure that records the level of engagement with and support provided to 
local businesses; 

c. The level of self-service transactions as a percentage of total contact with the 
council – target of 40% and a year end result of 37%;  overall online 
transactions were down 3% on 17/18 and calls up by 2.46% and visits up by 
7.36%.  a full assessment of potential areas for new online services has been 
made with a prioritised plan for action over the next three years.  In addition, 
the Council is considering the implementation of GovDelivery, an email 
promotion service with a good track record in other councils, to improve the 
marketing of online services. 

Corporate Risk 

21. Corporate risks are reported in Appendix E. 

22. There are two Green, nine Amber risks and one Red risk, the red risk is detailed 
further below: 

a. Housing – the Council has key priorities around housing which include 
ensuring housing delivery and supply for the City and enabling sufficient 
house building and investment. Insufficient housing in the City leads to an 
increase in homelessness which has an impact on residents. There are also 
health and quality of life issues. The Council is implementing delivery 
methods for temporary accommodation and accommodation for 
homelessness prevention which include a rent guarantee scheme, a growth 
deal to facilitate additional affordable housing and a tranche of property 
purchases to be delivered via real lettings. In addition following the removal 
of the HRA borrowing cap by the Government the Council has recently 
agreed proposals to fund the purchase of new build affordable housing from 
by its HRA from developments within its wholly owned Housing Company 
OCHL   

Financial implications 

23. All financial implications are covered in the body of this report and the Appendices. 

Legal issues 

24. There are no legal implications directly relevant to this report. 

Level of risk 

25. All risk implications are covered in the body of this report and the Appendices. 

Equalities impact  

26. There are no equalities impacts arising directly from this report. 

25



 

Report author Nigel Kennedy  

Helen Bishop 

Job title Head of Financial Services 

Head of Business Improvement 

Service area or department Financial Services/Business Improvement 

Telephone  01865 252708   

e-mail  nkennedy@oxford.gov.uk/hbishop@oxford.gov.uk 

 

Background Papers: None 

 

26



GF Outturn Report  18/19                   

@ 31st March 2019
Approved Budget 

(per Budget book)
Actual YTD Budget YTD Variance YTD

Carry Forward 

Requests

Revised Outturn 

(incl C/fwd)
Final Variance

£ £ £ £ £ £ £

Assistant Chief Executive 720,755 268,182 355,800 (87,618) 23,122 291,304 (64,496)

Housing Services 5,249,099 5,646,612 5,540,701 105,911 0 5,646,612 105,911

Assistant Chief Executive 5,969,854 5,914,794 5,896,501 18,294 23,122 5,937,916 41,416

Regeneration & Economy (9,474,425) (10,140,992) (9,608,829) (532,163) 0 (10,140,992) (532,163)

Regeneration & Economy (9,474,425) (10,140,992) (9,608,829) (532,163) 0 (10,140,992) (532,163)

Planning, Sustainable Dev & Regulatory 1,937,441 2,437,220 1,850,988 586,232 9,000 2,446,220 595,232

Community Services 5,825,954 6,424,086 6,565,743 (141,657) 44,782 6,468,868 (96,875)

Oxford Direct Services 9,630,351 11,524,043 10,902,837 621,206 0 11,524,043 621,206

Sustainable City 17,393,746 20,385,349 19,319,568 1,065,781 53,782 20,439,131 1,119,563

Transformation 177,712 245,176 245,238 (62) 0 245,176 (62)

Business Improvement 8,677,632 9,105,722 9,059,967 45,755 7,257 9,112,979 53,012

Financial Services 3,255,813 3,443,353 3,460,807 (17,454) 0 3,443,353 (17,454)

Law & Governance 2,734,075 2,592,203 2,589,247 2,956 0 2,592,203 2,956

Organisational Development & Corporate Services 14,667,520 15,141,279 15,110,022 31,257 7,257 15,148,536 38,514

Directorate Total Excl SLA's & Capital Charges 28,734,407 31,545,606 30,962,499 583,107 84,161 31,629,767 667,268

SLA's & Capital Charges (3,655,371) 4,159,614 4,117,933 41,681 0 4,159,614 41,681

Corporate Accounts Total (3,861,774) (7,862,018) (9,723,929) 1,861,911 0 (7,862,018) 1,861,911

Contingencies Total 864,348 0 14,620 (14,620) 0 0 (14,620)

Corporate Accounts & Contingencies Total (2,997,426) (7,862,018) (9,709,309) 1,847,291 0 (7,862,018) 1,847,291

Net Expenditure Budget 22,081,610 27,843,202 25,371,123 2,472,079 84,161 27,927,363 2,556,240

Transfer to / (from) Ear Marked Reserves 16,301 (2,791,909) (2,359,076) (432,833) 0 (2,791,909) (432,833)

Net Budget Requirement 22,097,911 25,051,293 23,012,047 2,039,246 84,161 25,135,454 2,123,407

Funding

External Funding (RSG) 630,000 629,878 630,000 (122) 629,878 (122)

External Funding (NNDR Retention) 8,131,634 11,675,403 8,931,634 2,743,769 11,675,403 2,743,769

Council tax 13,566,750 13,556,751 13,566,750 (9,999) 13,556,751 (9,999)

Less Parish Precepts (230,473) (116,337) (116,337) 0 (116,337) 0

Total Funding Available 22,097,908 25,745,692 23,012,044 2,733,648 0 25,745,695 2,733,648

(Surplus) / Deficit for year 3 (694,400) 3 (694,403) 84,161 (610,242) (610,242)

27

JMitchell
Typewritten Text
Appendix A



This page is intentionally left blank



Capital Budget and Spend as at 31st March 2019

Cost 

Centre
Capital Scheme

 2018/19 Budget 

Book 
 Latest Budget 

 Spend to 31st 

March 2019 

 Variance to 

Budget 

 Variance due 

to Slippage  

 Variance due 

to Over/ Under 

spend 

£  £  £  £  £ 

C3039 ICT Infrastructure 155,000                171,800               31,218               (140,582)                (140,582)           -                    

C3044 ICT Software and Licences 150,000                196,172               204,117             7,945                     7,945                

C3055 Waste Management Project -                       101,860               56,343               (45,517)                  (8,029)               (37,488)             

C3056 Agresso Upgrade -                       9,627                   11,880               2,253                     -                    2,253                

C3057 Housing System Replacement 665,000                1,209,555            576,510             (633,045)                (633,045)           -                    

C3058 CRM Application 200,000                -                       -                    -                         -                    -                    

C3060 End-Point Devices 300,000                590,546               -                    (590,546)                (590,546)           -                    

C3062 Datacentre Upgrade -                       -                       -                    -                         -                    -                    

C3063 LAN/WiFi Refresh PS & Install -                       108,000               105,353             (2,647)                    -                    (2,647)               

C3065 Mobile Working Phase 2 83,000                  -                       -                    -                         -                    -                    

C3066 Telephony Device Refresh 10,000                  10,000                 2,680                 (7,320)                    (7,320)               -                    

G6013 Superconnected Cities 40,000                  38,963                 16,467               (22,496)                  (22,496)             

S03 Business Improvement 1,603,000             2,436,523            1,004,568          (1,431,955)             (1,379,522)        (52,433)             

M5023 Oxpens Regeneration -                       4,160,000            4,160,000          -                         -                    -                    

S10 Regeneration and Economy -                       4,160,000            4,160,000          -                         -                    -                    

CIL and S106 Funded Schemes

F7007 Woodfarm / Headington Community Centre -                       20,000                 -                    (20,000)                  (20,000)             

F7011 Headington Environmental Improvements 59,004                  29,000                 -                    (29,000)                  (29,000)             

F7020 Work of Art Shotover View 14,635                  -                       -                    -                         -                    

F7024 St Clements Environmental Improvements 40,000                  18,803                 -                    (18,803)                  (18,803)             

F0025 Westgate area public realm improvements -                       1,134,000            1,134,000          -                         -                    

F0026 Pedestrianisation of Queen Street 500,000                -                       -                    -                         -                    

-                       

Grants -                       

E3511 Renovation Grants 25,773                  25,773                 26,146               373                        -                    373                   

E3521 Disabled Facilities Grants 1,810,959             1,200,000            1,236,852          36,852                   36,852               

E3560 Go Ultra Low Oxford - Taxis 478,000                31,592                 31,592               -                         -                    

E3561 Additional DFG Funding 2017/18 -                       8,857                   39,402               30,545                   -                    30,545               

Environmental Sustainability

E3555 Flood Alleviation at Northway & Marston -                       7,228                   7,228                 -                         -                    

E3557 Oxford and Ablingdon Flood Alleviation Scheme 380,000                380,000               380,000             -                         -                    

E3558 Go Ultra Low 471,607                9,445                   9,445                 (0)                           (0)                      

E3559 Earl Street Pumping Station -                       420                      420                    -                         -                    

E3562 Ox Pops (Electric Vehicle Charging) -                       -                       13,557               13,557                   13,557               

S11 Planning, Sustainable Development & Regulatory 3,779,978             2,865,118            2,878,641          13,523                   (17,394)             30,918               

Covered Market

B0028 Covered Market - Improvements & Upgrade to Roof -                       -                       -                    -                         -                    -                    

B0101 Major Capital works at Oxford Covered Market 400,000                400,000               185,200             (214,800)                (214,800)           -                    

B0106 Capitalised Planned Maintenance 325,000                325,000               94,377               (230,623)                (230,623)           -                    

29

JMitchell_1
Typewritten Text
Appendix B



Cost 

Centre
Capital Scheme

 2018/19 Budget 

Book 
 Latest Budget 

 Spend to 31st 

March 2019 

 Variance to 

Budget 

 Variance due 

to Slippage  

 Variance due 

to Over/ Under 

spend 

£  £  £  £  £ 

Investment Properties

B0046 Investment - Ship Street -                       22,397                 4,930                 (17,467)                  -                    (17,467)             

B0092 Cave Street (Standingford House) 2,050,000             4,277                   4,277                 0                            -                    -                    

B0098 1-5 George Street 3,500,000             800,000               316,534             (483,466)                (483,466)           -                    

B0099 Ship Street & New Road -                       267,637               206,069             (61,568)                  (61,568)             

B0103 6 Queen Street works 375,000                375,000               446,395             71,395                   -                    71,395               

B0108 Floyds Row Refurbishment 125,000                -                       -                    -                         -                    

B0109 Hinksey Park Footbridge Replacement -                       73,000                 72,865               (135)                       -                    (135)                  

Miscellaneous Council Properties

B0100 Gloucester Green Car Park (H&S) 195,000                95,000                 31,650               (63,350)                  (63,350)             -                    

B0102 Replace or refurbish lifts 154,000                154,000               -                    (154,000)                (154,000)           -                    

B0104 Old Gas Works Bridges -                       20,000                 -                    (20,000)                  (20,000)             -                    

B0105 Westhill Barns (Shotover) -                       1,000                   1,540                 540                        -                    540                   

B0107 Discretionary Funding for Hsg Improves re Disabled 

Adaptations

15,000                  15,000                 -                    (15,000)                  (15,000)             -                    

General Fund Housing Projects

M5019 Purchase of Homeless Properties 3,886,000             3,625,910            3,376,416          (249,494)                (249,494)           

M5020 Empty Homes CPO Revolving Fund -                       -                       -                    -                         -                    

M5021 Equity Loan Scheme for Teachers 100,000                39,900                 39,900               (0)                           (0)                      

M5024 National Homelessness Property Fund 2,500,000             5,000,000            5,000,000          -                         -                    

M5025 Phase 1 Affordable Housing at Barton Park 8,440,000             4,906,000            2,378,072          (2,527,928)             (2,527,928)        

M5026 Housing Company Loans 29,000,000           3,777,000            2,869,846          (907,154)                (907,154)           

M5027 Purchase of Leasehold Lucy Faithful House -                       456,130               382,152             (73,978)                  -                    (73,978)             

M5030 Loan to Housing Company - Lucy Faithful House 13,000,000           -                       -                    -                         -                    

S13 Housing Services 64,065,000           20,357,251          15,410,223        (4,947,028)             (4,865,815)        (81,213)             

B0075 Stage 2 Museum of Oxford Development 390,254                311,640               214,530             (97,110)                  (97,110)             

B0083 East Oxford Community Centre 4,000,000             3,219                   21,122               17,903                   17,903               

B0084 Jericho Community Centre 200,000                -                       -                    -                         -                    

B0095 Barton Community Centre -                       888,317               1,064,669          176,352                 -                    176,352             

B0096 Bullingdon Community Centre 450,000                100,000               94,271               (5,729)                    (5,729)               

A3129 Donnington Recreation Ground Improvements -                       37,850                 1,631                 (36,219)                  (36,219)             

A4808 Blackbird Leys Leisure Centre Improvements -                       -                       -                    -                         -                    

A4816 Sports Pavillions -                       16,795                 16,795               0                            -                    -                    

A4820 Upgrade Existing Tennis Courts -                       -                       -                    -                         -                    -                    

A4833 Horspath Sports Park 720,082                1,977,962            1,312,246          (665,716)                (665,716)           

A4841 Skate Parks 70,000                  70,000                 17,140               (52,860)                  (52,860)             -                    

A4842 Florence Park Tennis Courts -                       40,431                 3,470                 (36,961)                  (36,961)             -                    

A4845 CCTV Suite Upgrade 80,000                  -                       -                    -                         -                    -                    

A4847 Rose Hill Community Centre - Parking Management 10,000                  -                       -                    -                         -                    

A4848 Barton Fit Trail -                       -                       -                    -                         -                    

A4849 Five Mile Drive Pavilion -                       70,000                 -                    (70,000)                  (70,000)             -                    

A4851 Florence Parks Bowls Pavilion Demolition -                       100,000               113,278             13,278                   13,278               

S22 Community Services Total 5,920,336             3,616,214            2,859,152          (757,062)                (946,693)           189,631             

30



Cost 

Centre
Capital Scheme

 2018/19 Budget 

Book 
 Latest Budget 

 Spend to 31st 

March 2019 

 Variance to 

Budget 

 Variance due 

to Slippage  

 Variance due 

to Over/ Under 

spend 

£  £  £  £  £ 

R0005 MT Vehicles/Plant Replacement Programme. 1,076,000             1,497,497            1,379,312          (118,185)                (118,185)           -                    

T2289 Vehicle Brush Wash -                       -                       -                    -                         -                    -                    

T2277 Food waste collection from flats -                       11,800                 11,800               -                         -                    -                    

B0081 Car Parking Oxpens 243,000                -                       -                    -                         -                    

B0086 Extension to Seacourt Park & Ride 3,483,901             300,000               247,853             (52,147)                  (52,147)             

T2273 Car Parks Resurfacing 300,000                305,709               305,712             3                            3                       

T2290 Marsh Road Recreation Ground Car Park Extension -                       315,465               320,203             4,738                     -                    4,738                

T2293 Marsh Road Depot Extension -                       -                       -                    -                         -                    

T2294 Pest Control Equipment 35,000                  35,000                 -                    (35,000)                  (35,000)             

T2296 Infrastructure Improvements Florence Park 81,000                  91,000                 91,000               -                         -                    

T2297 Infrastructure Improvements Meadow Lane Car Park 92,000                  102,000               102,000             -                         -                    

T2298 Parks & Open Spaces - Tree Team additional resources 26,000                  -                       -                    -                         -                    

T2299 Controlled Parking Zones 200,000                -                       -                    -                         -                    

T2287 Recycling Transfer Station 2,193,000             376,500               78,113               (298,387)                (298,387)           -                    

M5028 Property Rationalisation (Depot Project) 250,000                250,000               34,720               (215,280)                (215,280)           

S23 Direct Services Total 7,979,901             3,284,971            2,570,713          (714,258)                (718,996)           4,738                

B0074 R & D Feasibility Fund 150,000                249,910               61,011               (188,899)                (188,899)           

S32 Finance Total 150,000                249,910               61,011               (188,899)                (188,899)           -                    

General Fund Total 83,498,215           36,969,987          28,944,309        (8,025,678)             (8,117,320)        91,641               

Housing Revenue Account Capital Programme

External Contracts

N6384 Tower Blocks 1,611,970             2,032,974            2,113,795          80,821                   -                    80,821               

N6386 Structural 145,000                485,000               503,255             18,255                   -                    18,255               

N6389 Damp-proof works (K&B) 104,000                104,000               136,213             32,213                   -                    32,213               

N6392 Roofing 174,000                174,000               63,257               (110,743)                (100,000)           (10,743)             

N6434 Doors and Windows 250,000                250,000               67,185               (182,815)                (180,000)           (2,815)               

N7020 Extensions & Major Adaptions 300,000                550,000               391,783             (158,217)                (155,000)           (3,217)               

N7026 Communal Areas 174,000                374,000               189,471             (184,529)                (180,000)           (4,529)               

N7038 Insulation Works 400,000                200,000               201,270             1,270                     -                    1,270                

N7041 Electric Heating Conversion to Gas -                       -                       -                    -                         -                    -                    

N7044 Lift Replacement Programme 150,000                150,000               2,685                 (147,315)                -                    (147,315)           

N7048 Fire doors 250,000                -                       -                    -                         -                    -                    

N7049 Compulsory purchase of property 1,000,000             525,000               387,886             (137,114)                (137,114)           -                    

N7050 East Oxford Development 5,300,000             -                       -                    -                         -                    -                    

New Build

N7029 HCA New Build -                       -                       -                    -                         -                    

N7032 Great Estates: Estate Enhancements and Regeneration 1,300,000             1,542,594            1,455,503          (87,091)                  (87,091)             

N7040 Blackbird Leys Regeneration 1,600,000             -                       -                    -                         -                    

N7042 Barton Regeneration 1,286,000             789,795               580,704             (209,091)                (162,535)           (46,556)             

N7045 Development at Bracegirdle 567,750                -                       -                    -                         -                    

N7046 Development at Mortimer Drive 517,750                1,643,508            84,254               (1,559,254)             (1,559,254)        

N7047 Social Rented Housing Acquisitions 1,035,000             978,500               1,079,871          101,371                 101,371             

31



Cost 

Centre
Capital Scheme

 2018/19 Budget 

Book 
 Latest Budget 

 Spend to 31st 

March 2019 

 Variance to 

Budget 

 Variance due 

to Slippage  

 Variance due 

to Over/ Under 

spend 

£  £  £  £  £ 

Internal Contracts

N6385 Adaptations for disabled 617,000                828,700               853,620             24,920                   -                    24,920               

N6390 Kitchens & Bathrooms 2,733,000             2,884,748            2,932,984          48,236                   -                    48,236               

N6391 Heating 2,062,000             1,906,793            2,036,901          130,108                 -                    130,108             

N6388 Major Voids 192,000                64,611                 49,292               (15,319)                  -                    (15,319)             

N6395 Electrics 434,000                477,400               459,162             (18,238)                  -                    (18,238)             

Housing Revenue Account 22,203,470           15,961,623          13,589,092        (2,372,531)             (2,372,532)        1                       

Grand Total 105,701,685         52,931,610          42,533,401        (10,398,209)           (10,489,852)      91,642               

32



HRA  Report  18/19                                  

@ 31st March 2019
Approved Budget 

(per Budget book)
Actual YTD Budget YTD Variance YTD

Carry Forwards 

Requests
Revised Outturn Final Variance

£000's £000's £000's £'000's £'000's £000's £'000's

Dwelling Rent (41,351) (41,672) (41,551) (120) (41,672) (120)

Service Charges (1,582) (2,015) (1,832) (184) (2,015) (184)

Garage Income (215) (231) (215) (17) (231) (17)

Miscellaneous Income (783) (895) (853) (43) (895) (43)

Right to Buy (RAF) (59) (27) (59) 31 (27) 31

Net Income (43,989) (44,841) (44,509) (332) (44,841) (332)

Management & Services (Stock Related) 9,730 9,010 9,068 (57) 13 9,023 (44)

Other Revenue Spend (Stock Related) 2,023 405 804 (398) 35 440 (363)

Misc Expenditure (Not Stock Related) 227 (206) (150) (56) (206) (56)

Bad Debt Provision 748 669 748 (79) 669 (79)

Responsive & Cyclical Repairs 12,081 12,197 12,768 (571) 154 12,351 (417)

Interest Paid 7,952 7,704 7,704 () 7,704 ()

Depreciation 10,060 7,217 7,219 (2) 7,217 (2)

Total Expenditure 42,821 36,997 38,160 (1,163) 202 37,199 (961)

Net Operating Expenditure/(Income) (1,168) (7,844) (6,349) (1,495) 202 (7,642) (1,293)

Investment Income (28) (181) (32) (149) (181) (149)

Other HRA Reserve Adjustment 5,500 7,460 (1,960) 5,500 (1,960)

MIRS (9,035) (9,035) (9,035) (9,035)

MRA Adjustment

Impairment 9,035 9,035 9,035 9,035

Gain/Loss on sale of Fixed Asset (315) (315) (315) (315)

Transfer (to)/from MR/OR 2,636 360 360 () 360 ()

Total Appropriations 2,608 5,365 7,788 (2,423) 5,365 (2,423)

Total HRA (Surplus)/Deficit 1,440 (2,479) 1,440 (3,919) 202 (2,277) (3,716)

33

JMitchell_2
Typewritten Text
Appendix C



T
his page is intentionally left blank



SUMMARY OF CARRY FORWARD REQUESTS 2018/19Appendix D

Description Total

£

Assistant Chief Executive 23,122

Environmental Sustainability 9,000

Community Services 44,782

Business Improvement 7,257

General Fund 84,161

Description Total

£

HRA 202,354

General Fund 202,354

35

JMitchell_3
Typewritten Text
Appendix D



SUMMARY OF CARRY FORWARD REQUESTS 2018/19

 Assistant Chief Executive

Description Submitted By Total Reason for Request

£

Corporate Brand Guidelines Sue Hall/Mish 

Tullar

8,000 Branding project spec May 19; procurement June 19; 

delivered Sept 19 - prep work completed other work 

presures have meant that the tender documentation 

was not submitted before year end

Covered Market Project Paula Redway 15,122 The lantern maker did not have capacity to create the 

number of lanterns we wish to commission by the end of 

the financial year the money was allocated.  Delivery of 

the lanterns in 4 instalments in 2019 will have the added 

bonus of generating more publicity opportunities for the 

Covered Market. 

23,122

36



SUMMARY OF CARRY FORWARD REQUESTS 2018/19

Environmental Sustainability

Description Submitted By Amount 

Requested

Reason for Request

£

Ecology Officer Mai Jarvis 9,000 Excess income of £21k generated, request for £9k to 

cover 1 day unbudgeted Ecology post with remaining 

income to cover pressure within ES.

9,000

37



SUMMARY OF CARRY FORWARD REQUESTS 2018/19

Community Services

Description Submitted By Amount 

Requested

Reason for Request

£

PCSO Funding Richard Adams 28,782 In February 2018, Members agreed within the Council 

Budget to fund £70k for a one year project to pay for 

officers from Thames Valley Police to tackle the 

negative street culture and open drug markets affecting 

Oxford City Centre and East Oxford.  A delay in 

recruitment meant officers began work in September 

2018.  A proportion of funding was paid over, leaving a 

balance of £28,781 to be paid within 2019-20 financial 

year. 

Twinning Jasmin Carne 16,000 budget underspent as decision making process to 

officially approve the new twin cities led to the signing of 

agreements being later than was originally forseen.  

Therefore the money that was ringfence to update the 

twin city signage and launch the 3 new twin cities was 

not spend during 2018/19 financial year but will need to 

be spent in 2019/20

44,782

38



SUMMARY OF CARRY FORWARD REQUESTS 2018/19

Business Improvement

Description Submitted By Amount 

Requested

Reason for Request

£

Coaching for service excellence Mark Chandler 750 The programme was originally planned to be delivered 

in the final quarter or 2018/19 but was unavoidably 

delayed due to year end work pressures/volumes as 

well as the unavoidable absence of a member of the CS 

strategic management team

Creating a culture of great performance 

and collaborative ways of working

Mark Chandler 5,607 programme was delayed from being delivered in the 

final q of 18/19 due to work pressures and staff 

absences

Customer Services Team Development 

Days

Mark Chandler 900 The programme was originally planned to be delivered 

in the final quarter or 2018/19 but was unavoidably 

delayed due to year end work pressures/ volumes as 

well as the unavoidable absence of a member of the CS 

strategic management team. The initial budget was 

scoped for one workshop but increased after 

discussions considered a three workshop programme to 

be more impactful. The additional budget for the 

programme was achieved through making savings to an 

ICS element within the BI L&D plan which was reviewed 

as not likely to deliver value.

7,257

39



SUMMARY OF CARRY FORWARD REQUESTS 2018/19

HRA

Description Submitted By Amount 

Requested

Reason for Request

£

Energy advice officer D Haynes 12,600 Continutaiton of energy advice officer, post funded for 2 

years but split over years 

Rose Hill Tenant and Residents 

Association Grant Funding

S Warde 700 Remaining grant payalbe to Rose Hill tenants & 

Residents association, once the agreed criteria has 

been met

Barton Works (Grant Funding) A Wylde 10,500 Grant funding received to be carried forward for future 

year revenue expenditure

Blackbird Leys (Grant Funding) S Grubb 24,554 Grant funding received to be carried forward for future 

year revenue expenditure

Delivery of safety monitoring in relation 

to communal areas and survey work. 

J Gould 24,000 To ensure all identified properties and areas are suitably 

monitored and checked in both Asbestos and Fire 

Safety by delivery of identified survey programme

Remedies in relation to system changes J Gould 130,000 Remedies in relation to system changes and monitoring 

resulted in reduced set of measure and controls.  This 

budget will be used for increased asbestos measures 

and surveys being delivered in  2019/20

202,354

40



41



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Ref Title Risk description I P I P

CRR-031-18-19 Economic Growth Local, national or international factors adversely 

affect the economic growth of the City

Ian Gray 4 3 4 3

CRR-037-18-19 Local Government 

Reorganisation

Risk that the reorganisation or devolution is 

imposed to the detriment of the Council and the 

City

Caroline Green 5 3 4 1

CRR-039-18-19 Delivery of Services by 

External 

Suppliers/Partnerships 

/ Supply Chain

The negative performance of suppliers has a 

direct impact on the Councils ability to achieve 

its goals

Ian Brooke 3 3 3 2

Formal Risk Summary

(Oxford) Appendix E

As at: Mar-2019

Risk Owner Gross Current

CRR-033-18-19 Housing The Council has key priorities around Housing 

including ensuring housing delivery and supply 

for the City and enabling sufficient house 

building and investment

Stephen Clarke 5 4 5 4

CRR-034-18-19 Recruitment and 

retention of the 

workforce

The challenge of recruitment and retention in 

some service areas, and ensuring succession 

planning exists for critical hard to fill roles.

Helen Bishop 3 4 3 3

CRR-032-18-19 Balancing and 

Delivery of the 

Financial Plan

Unable to balance the Medium Term Financial 

Plan and hence deliver the Council's Corporate 

Plan priorities

Nigel Kennedy 4

3 2 4Nigel Kennedy 4

3 4 3

CRR-038-18-19 Business Continuity 

Planning and Disaster 

Recovery including 

ICT Recovery Plan

There is an adverse impact on continuous 

business operation due to unplanned events.

Helen Bishop 3 3 3 3

CRR-036-18-19 Resilience of Trading 

Models

The Council Companies are not successful and 

fail to deliver outputs and financial returns

CRR-042-18-19 Terrorism Terrorist incident in the city (most likely in the 

city centre) that adversely affects normal life in 

the city, including a negative impact on the 

Council's business, or targets an individual 

event (e.g. May Morning, St Giles' Fair, events 

in South Park)

Tim Sadler 5 2 5 2

CRR-040-18-19 Climate Change - 

Flooding

Whilst the City Council is not the Lead Local 

Flood Authority (County Council) and flood 

response is primarily led by the EA, the city has 

a key reputational risk based on prevention, 

preparation, response, communication and 

clean up.

Helen Bishop 3

3 4 3Jo Colwell 4

4 3 3

CRR-044-18-19 Health and Safety - 

Buildings

Failure to comply with the various H&S 

legislative requirements which ensure the safety 

of buildings

Stephen Clarke 4 4 4 3

CRR-043-18-19 Cyber Attack Cyber security incident which impedes the 

operation of the business

43



This page is intentionally left blank



Measure Owner Comments

Description Target YTD Result

200

 Number

1100

Number

15000 12747

18/03406/FUL – Change of use from shop (Use Class A1) to office 

(Use Class B1) to first floor. Replacement of existing single storey 

rear extension and erection of a first floor rear extension. Insertion 

of 3no. Roof lights to south west elevation and insertion of 4no. 

roof lights to north east elevation

Number Number 135 Hollow Way

- Net change: Gain of 33 sqm

ED025: The percentage of 

estimated HMOs in the City that 

are licenced

Ian Wright 80% 80%
Numbers are remaining static and fewer unlicensed are being 

found.

400

Number

PDR001: Percentage of major 

and non-major planning 

applications determined within 

target

Adrian Arnold 70% 98% No comment provided.

NI 156: Limit our use of temporary 

accommodation at 2015 levels
Stephen Clarke 120 Number 84 Number

This is an excellent result, against a target of less than 120 

households in temporary accommodation.  Reducing or 

maintaining the number of households in temporary 

accommodation is a challenging target in a very difficult external 

environment, where the demand for services remains high, and the 

ability to find suitable accommodation, at affordable rents, locally is 

increasingly difficult. This result is testament to the continued 

exceptional homeless prevention work and temporary 

accommodation management undertaken by Housing Needs 

teams.

6155

This has been a successful year for the YA program and we have 

exceeded our target. This has mainly been due to a positive 

summer program (including funded programs) that was better 

promoted, within a prolonged good weather period.

Number

In addition the youth ambition team managed to achieve The 

National Youth Agency’s quality assurance for our program, which 

is a great achievement for a district Council.

LP220: Number of people using 

leisure centres
Ian Brooke 536, 953 Number 775,703 Number

Our leisure provider reported strong annual growth for active 

participation visits and increased overall visits Year On Year. An 

independent audit of Fusions data concluded that figures reported 

to the Council are identified as good practice and no findings were 

raised on this area.

Includes 144 (C3)-(inclusive of 17/03050/FUL)  0 (C2)

LP119: The number of people 

taking part in our youth ambition 

programme

Ian Brooke 4500 Number

PR001: Amount of employment 

floor space permitted for 

development (m2)

Matthew Peachey

HP008: Number of new homes 

granted permission in the city
Adrian Arnold 452 Number

Figs based on Nov 2018 data release.

PA002: Number of jobs created or 

safeguarded in the city as a result 

of the City Council’s investment 

and leadership

Matthew Peachey 1271 Number 13 inward investment projects through OXLEP worth 276 jobs.

Latest Data

PA001: Net increase in number of 

businesses operating in the city
Matthew Peachey 40 Number 

45

JMitchell_4
Typewritten Text
Appendix F



LG002: IER household response 

rate
Lindsay Cane 96% 96.08% This is an annual measure and was last updated in January 2019.

ED002: The reduction of the 

Council’s carbon footprint
429

(CO2/y) Tonnes

End of year performance was 37.1%, falling short of the 40% target

Overall, online transaction volumes were down 3% on 2017/18, 

with calls up by 2.46% and visits up by 7.36%

In-month performance for March 2019 was 39%. Online 

transaction volumes were 15.4% higher than March 2018, with 

calls 3.6% lower and visits 12.5% higher

BIT019i: The level of self-service 

transactions as a percentage of 

total contact with the Council

Helen Bishop 40% 37%

Sport England’s Active Lives Survey results show that Oxford City 

is now the least inactive district Council area in the Country. The 

Council’s Active Communities team lead on the work in this area 

supported by a multitude of partners including the huge amount of 

work undertaken by the voluntary sector. The team have just 

achieved “Outstanding” in their external Quest audit the UK quality 

assurance scheme). This is the highest level of award and we are 

the first city/district to achieve this.

Jo Colwell 446 Tonnes

Fuel MicroCHP installations completed at Windale House and 

Northbrook House est 4tCO2/year in total. 100kWp Solar car port 

installation at Leys pools now due to commence 29 Apr - and 

completion mid May. Closed billing validation queries - year to date 

= 242 successfully closed queries equivalent to avoided spend of 

£32,016.32

CoS030: Percentage of adults 

who are physically active
Ian Brooke 65% 71.50%

46



 

. 

 
To: Cabinet 
Date: 10 July 2019 
Report of: Head of Community Services 
Title of Report:  Fusion Lifestyle’s Annual Service Plan for Oxford leisure 

facilities (2019/20) 
 

Summary and recommendations 

Purpose of report: To recommend that the Cabinet endorse Fusion 
Lifestyles 2019/20 Annual Service Plan for the 
continuous development, management and operation 
of leisure services in Oxford 
 

Key decision: Yes 
 

Cabinet Member:  Deputy Leader, Leisure and Housing 
 

Corporate Priority: Strong Active Communities, Efficient Effective Council, 
A Cleaner Greener City. 
 

Policy Framework: Leisure and Wellbeing Strategy, 2015 to 2020. 
 

Recommendations: That  Cabinet resolves to: 

1. Note the national and local context of the leisure market; 
2. Note the overarching performance dashboard for 2018/19, as attached as 

Appendix 1; and 
3. Endorse the Fusion Lifestyle Annual Service Plan as recommended by the   

Leisure Partnership Board and attached as Appendix 2. 

 

Appendices 

 
Appendix 1 

 
Overarching performance dashboard, 2018/19  

Appendix 2 Fusion Lifestyle’s Annual Service Plan, 2019/20 
Appendix 3 Risk Implications 
Appendix 4 Initial Equality Impact Assessment 

 

 
 
Introduction and background 
 
1. In March 2009 the Council entered into a contract with Fusion Lifestyle (Fusion) for the 

continuous development, management and operation of leisure services in Oxford. Fusion 
are a social enterprise with charitable status whose sole focus and extensive expertise is 
operating leisure facilities. 
 

2. Prior to starting the contract with Fusion in 2009, the leisure centres were costing the 
Council over £2million per year.  
 

47

Agenda Item 9



3. The cost to the Council is fixed according to a payment schedule for the contract period. 
This figure has reduced to just under £100,000 per year, alongside absorbing increases in 
living wage, utility costs and adding in additional free swimming sessions for young people. 
 

4. In February 2014 the City Executive Board agreed to extend the contract for a five year 
period commencing 30 March 2019 to April 2024; following a contract review that led to an 
improved financial and service offer. 

 
5. The savings made over the contract period have contributed towards a range of 

improvements to the leisure centres, with around circa £15 million of capital investment 
funded by the Council. 
 

6. A study was undertaken in 2014 which showed Oxford’s leisure centres deliver c£18m of 
social value each year. 
 

State of the leisure industry 
 
7. The last few years have seen significant changes in the market. This growth is being 

primarily driven from the private sector, which has more clubs, more members and a greater 
market value than ever before. The sector is transforming and challenging traditional 
service models and delivery. 
 

8. The low cost (budget) market has continued to be the main driving force behind the private 
sector growth over recent years, with more clubs planned for the coming year.  
 

9. More people are exercising outdoors, using technology to support their exercise and mass 
participation events are still increasing. 
 

10. Whilst an increasing offer in the City is beneficial for our communities, recent research also 
suggests increased financial pressures on users, with people having less disposable 
income may see a reduction in longer term membership in favour of pay-as-you-go and 
shorter term options. 
 

11. The ability to be flexible and respond to market changes is becoming increasingly important. 
 

12. Sport England continues to encourage a collaborative approach with the development of 
hubs and facilities that deliver physical activity and provide other services rather than 
traditional ‘sport’ models.  

 
 
13. Positively, Leeds has just become the first place in the UK to reduce obesity levels which 

they are putting down to a fully joined up approach that starts from birth. This can be seen 
as a full system approach where all the elements that impact someone’s health and 
wellbeing are working effectively together. 

 
Oxford context 
 
14. Much of the Council’s progress in recent years has been achieved through effective 

partnership working, taking a place leadership approach to increasing physical activity 
levels and delivering an offer broader than only focusing on leisure centres. 

48



15. The Council’s leisure provider Fusion Lifestyle is also feeling the squeeze that has resulted 
from a more competitive market place and they are continuing to work hard to try to tighten 
up their costs. That said Fusion’s most recent accounts indicate good direction of 
improvement and they anticipate that this positive trend will continue in 2019. 

16. After a fall in participation in 2017/18, the number of active participation visits increased in 
2018/19 by 25%. Fusion are not sure why the usage dropped in 2017/18, however the dip 
may be attributed to a wide combination of economic, social and operational factors. 

17. The Council has continued to deliver a strategic approach to increasing participation in sport 
and physical activity and has made a number of investments: 
 

 Community facilities (i.e. new multipurpose activity areas in Community Centres). 

 A gym at Oxford Spires Sport & Fitness Centre (Oxford Spires Academy). 

 Broader delivery through sport and physical activity programmes, community outreach 
and youth ambition. 

 Investment in the Council’s green spaces (i.e. play areas, fitness trails, tennis courts and 
sports pavilions) 

 Oxford Sports Park (£4.9m). 
 
18. The Council’s Leisure & Wellbeing Strategy (2015 to 2020) recognised these changing 

trends with people wanting more variety and easily accessible opportunities to be active 
and the Council invested in opportunities to enable people to be active in the City’s parks.  

19. These trends have seen more people doing a broader range of activities such as mass 
participation events such as Park Runs, Race for Life and Tough Mudders. Alongside this 
there are now four budget gyms in Oxford. The quality and experience provided by these 
gyms has improved significantly in recent years and they are a lower price than council 
leisure facilities. 
 

20. The Council’s strategy has been successful and it has helped Oxford move from having one 
of the lowest levels of activity in country in 2007, to now the least inactive district in the 
country, while Oxfordshire has become the least inactive county in the UK - according to 
Sport England’s latest Active Lives Survey. 

21. The result builds on success earlier in the year in achieving the national award of Highest 
Achieving Active Communities Team and achieving OUTSTANDING in Quest for Active 
Communities. (Quest is the UK quality standard for sport and leisure). 
 

22. Leisure centres are increasingly focusing on getting the inactive active, rather than trying to 
compete with budget gyms. These trend and market conditions are making it increasingly 
challenging to achieve the Council’s ambitious participation targets. 
 

23. All five of the Council’s leisure facilities continue to be accredited to the UK quality award 
sachem for sport and leisure, Quest. In 2018/19 Barton and Ferry leisure Centres positively 
moved from a Good to Very Good rating. 
 

24. Leisure Centres have a place in delivering the broader value and context of reaching the 
needs of those less active or inactive. They are an intrinsic vehicle and provider to part of a 
wider whole-systems approach for improving the quality of life physically, mentally, socially 
and economically for residents in our communities. 
 

49



25. Fees and Charges are contractually proposed annually by Fusion1 and approved by Council 
in line with budget process and timelines. In 2019/20 a review will be completed to explore 
how the Council can modernise leisure concessions. A future report will be brought to the 
Cabinet detailing any recommendation. 
 

Steps to continuously improve 
 
The steps are to:  
 
26. Implement, monitor and report progress of the 2019/20 Fusion Lifestyle Service Plan for the 

continuous development, management and operation of leisure services in Oxford. 
 

27. Maintain a positive client and contractor relationship to deliver growth whilst continuing with 
the depth and governance of service delivery. 
 

28. Continue an approach of co-ordinated objectives and visions from the Council, Fusion, 
other health and wellbeing stakeholders and engagement with service users. 
 

29. Continue to work with Fusion to understand the constraints of the existing contract 
specification and financial delivery model for continuous development, management and 
operation of leisure services in Oxford.  
 

30. There is a clear vision and aspiration for world class leisure provision for everyone living, 
working or visiting the City. The Council aspires to ensure that City leisure facilities are 
available to all and offer the highest possible standards. 

 
31. Fusion’s 2019/20 Plan builds on the Council’s approach to delivering world class leisure 

provision to Oxford’s residents, recognising the changing market. As such, aspirational 
participation targets have been set for the year. 
 

32. The 2019/20 Plan was developed and agreed by the Leisure Partnership Board. The Board 
consists of representatives from the following groups: 
 

 Leisure centre customers   

 Older people  

 Young people  

 Executive member (Labour) with the responsibility for leisure  

 Liberal Democrat member with the responsibility for leisure  

 Senior Council and Fusion Officers 

 Public Health 

 Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group. 
 

33. The function of the Board is to oversee the delivery of the Council’s corporate objectives 
through the leisure contract. 
 

34. Preparation of the 2019/20 Plan has incorporated: 
 

 Review of performance from contract commencement. 

                                            

1 Appendix Two: Fusion Lifestyle’s Annual Service Plan, 2019/2020. Fusion Annual Service Plan, 2019/20: 

Financial 1, Action Reference 2 To ensure that pricing structures and levels across the leisure facilities are 
appropriate and inclusive. 

50



 Review of achievements in respect of national and industry relevant benchmarks. 

 Consideration of the changing market 

 Commitments and intentions set out in Fusion’s tender submission. 

 Liaison with stakeholders. 

 Understanding the part the Council has in working to adapt its delivery model in light of 
the changing world. 

 Linkage to the Council’s Corporate Plan. 
 
Performance Management 
 
35. There will be an on-going review and monitoring process for the Plan. This will incorporate 

management scrutiny, monthly client performance reports, monthly meetings between key 
representatives of the Council and Fusion, quarterly Leisure Partnership Board meetings 
and a formal review in advance of the 2020/21 planning process. 

 
Environmental 
 
36. The Plan has targets and actions that will have a positive environmental impact. These 

contribute to the Council’s commitment for tackling climate change, promoting sustainable 
environmental resources, and to the reduction of carbon and water. The partnership 
between the Council and Fusion will continue to stretch this and where additional 
investment is required it may be possible to build sound business case. 
 

Financial implications 
 
37. Savings from the contract with Fusion are already reflected in the Council’s budget. 
 
 
Legal implications 
 

38.  By virtue of Section 19 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 the 
Council has discretion to provide, inside or outside its area, such recreational facilities as it 
thinks fit and those powers specifically include powers to provide indoor facilities for sports 
activities as well as premises for the use of clubs or societies having athletic, social or 
recreational objects 

 
39. The Council has a contractual relationship under which the council’s leisure facilities are 

managed by Fusion. The Leisure Management Agreement sets out the range of contractual 
requirements with which Fusion must comply. Fusion’s delivery of the Service Plan is a 
contractual commitment. 

 
Level of risk 
 
40. The changing leisure market is a risk to service provision. The contract has a good track 

record, strong contract management and member scrutiny, alongside external quality 
accreditation and auditing. Descriptions and mitigation for this level of risk are demonstrated 
in the Risk Implications, (Appendix Three). 
 

Equalities impact 
 

41. Targets and actions within the Plan ensure equitable access to improved facilities and 
encourage increased usage for underrepresented and concessionary groups, in accordance 
with the equalities impact assessments and action plan, (Appendix Four). 51



 

Report author Lucy Cherry 

Job title Leisure and Performance Manager 

Service area or department Community Services 

Telephone  01865 252707 

e-mail  lcherry@oxford.gov.uk 

 

Background Papers: None 
 

52

mailto:lcherry@oxford.gov.uk


Appendix 1 

. 

Appendix One:  Overarching performance dashboard, 2018/2019. 

 

Participation 

Review of overall active participation visits  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Overall member and non-member active participation visits 

 

 

 

  

April to March 17/18 April to March18/19 

April to 

March 

Change in 

visits 

Year on year 

% Change 

1,077,072 1,342,007 264,935 + 25% 

 

 

 Apr to Mar year on year % change  

 

Member visits +35% 

Non-Member visits +9% 

 

Individual Participants 

 

There are 3,529 individual active direct debit or annually paying members 
using our leisure facilities, in addition to casual pay as you play customers 
(circa 342,400 transactions). Local authorities and leisure providers use 
individual participation visits as a measure of usage for leisure centres. This is 
a standard performance indicator used for national benchmarking. 

 

53



 

 

Review of target group active participation  

 

 

April to 
March 
17/18 

 

April to 
March 

18/19 

Year on 
year 

change 

Young people 

(Under 17years of age) 
168,923 163,429 -5,494 

Older people 

(60+ years of age) 
105,936 115,448 +9,512 

 

People with an impairment 

 

12,321 13,021 +700 

People from our BAMER 
communities 

62,511 79,634 +17,123 

Usage from deprived areas 

 

68,209 

 

73,246 +5,037 

 

Women and girls 

 

328,832 330,925 +2,093 

 

Total 

 

746,732 

 

775,703 

 

28,971 

 

 

 

The Councils corporate leisure performance measure, the 
number of people from our target groups using our leisure 
facilities, is demonstrating a good direction of travel; a 4% year 

on year increase in visits. 

 

 

54



 

 

 

Facility Management 

Continuous Improvement 

Fusion Lifestyle has implemented a service development improvement programme for Oxford leisure facilities. This incorporates improvement 
actions identified through client audits, mystery visits, and customer feedback, amongst other stakeholder contribution that supports 
continuous improvement. 

Progress against their development programme is owned and communicated by Fusion’s Director for Operations and formally reviewed at 
monthly Client Performance review meetings. Since the last reporting period 60 % of 456 improvement actions identified were completed by 
Fusion, with the remaining 40% underway. 

A collective of officers undertook work to assess stock, mechanical and electrical condition surveys and access audits for all five leisure 
facilities. Reports   recommendations will help inform the sustainability of our leisure facilities, opportunities for re-development/ new delivery 
and budget requirements for the next 25 years. The surveys will also establish whether Fusion has undertaken their obligations under the 
terms of the contractual agreement, to at least – if not more than – a standard the Council would complete itself.  This work is progressing. 

 

Customer Satisfaction 

Overall Customer satisfaction by theme, April 2018 to December 2018 

 

Average Overall 
Satisfaction 

April to March 2019 

83% 

Industry Average 

72%1 

Satisfaction by category in March 2019 

Staff 
Range of 
Activities 

Building 
Condition 

Cleanliness 
Value for 
money 

Equipment 
Ease of 
Booking 

Ease of 
Gaining 

Info 
Website 

91% 89% 83% 72% 90% 78% 84% 83% 82% 

                                            
1
 APSE Sport & Leisure Trend Analysis, 2016/17 

55



 

 

 

 
 
 
Customer Engagement 
 
Fusion has further strengthened user engagement and feedback with new well-advertised meet-the-manager sessions taking place allowing 
customers to relay concerns directly. Fusion has also made improvements to its website and social media handling, as well as its responses to 
customer emails and phone calls. 

 

Quality 

National Accreditation - Quest 

Quest is the leading UK quality Award Scheme for sport and leisure. It continues to be the Sport England recommended Continuous 
Improvement Tool for leisure facilities and sports development teams, designed to measure how effective organisations are at providing 
customer service. It has been running for over 20 years now and continues to evolve with the changes within the industry. Quest is supported 
by Sport England, Sport Wales, Sport Scotland and Sport Northern Ireland as well as organisations like CIMSPA, ukactive, Chief Leisure 
Officers’ Association and SPORTA. 

 

 Barton Leisure Centre was previously rated Good. In January 2019 the facility was awarded Quest Plus – Very Good. 

 Ferry Leisure Centre has Quest Plus - Good 

 Hinksey heated Outdoor Pool has Quest Entry - Registered 

 Leys Pools and Leisure Centre was previously rated Good. In January 2019 the facility was awarded Quest Plus – Very Good. 

 Oxford Ice Rink has Quest Plus – Good. 

Inclusive Fitness Initiative - Gyms (IFI) 

The Inclusive Fitness Initiative has been established for many years, supporting leisure centres to become more welcoming and accessible 
environments to those with an impairment. Achieving the ‘IFI Mark’ gym accreditation is key in addressing inequality in physical activity as it 

56

https://questnbs.org/about-us/about-quest
http://www.activityalliance.org.uk/how-we-help/programmes/65-inclusive-fitness-initiative


 

 

enables leisure facilities to reach inactive populations and raise awareness of the benefits of exercise to get more disabled people physically 
active. 

 Leys Pools and Leisure Centre is fully compliant 

 Barton Leisure Centre is fully compliant 

 Ferry Leisure Centre is currently being assessed for compliance. 

  

57



 

 

Independent evaluation 

 
In 2018/19 an independent audit took place to assess and review the design of controls and their effectiveness with regards to the Fusion 
Partnership Arrangement.  The focus of this review was principally on evaluating deeper the customer service arrangements in place and 
engaging more with the customer voice and how this is listened to and acted upon both reactively and proactively.  
 
Overall awarded level of assurance was moderate and the audit has usefully highlighted some areas of operation that require improvement. 
The Council is already working with Fusion Lifestyle to make the necessary changes to deliver even better leisure opportunities for our 
communities. 
 
The audit findings and recommendations were presented and reviewed by both the Council Scrutiny and Audit and Governance Committees. 
 
The strong growth in participation performance was also validated by the independent audit report: 
  

 Fusion was able to provide source data which validated 100% of the information selected 

 Fusion was able to discuss and provide logical reasons for the assumptions applied. 

 

Auditors therefore identified this as good practice and no findings were raised on this area. 
 

Finance 
 
Statutory accounts December 2018 

Fusions independently audited accounts for the year ended 31 December 2018, show improvement. 

 

 

 

 

 

58



 

 

 

 

59



T
his page is intentionally left blank



CLIENT:

PERIOD: From

To

  

SUBMITTED BY:

 

Contract Manager

  

  

March 2020

OXFORD CITY COUNCIL

April 2019

Graham Ashby

ANNUAL SERVICE PLAN 

61

JMitchell_5
Typewritten Text
Appendix 2



SERVICE PLANNING EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

INTRODUCTION:

FINANCIAL:

PARTICIPATION:

*  F1  To ensure each centre is financially self sustainable and generating a surplus

*  F2  To ensure that pricing structures and levels across the leisure facilities are appropriate

Key actions include: review of target wards, direct mail campaigning, work with relevant local and cultural stakeholder groups and 

development of specific programmes and activities; Engage with those who are inactive.

*  P2  To deliver an aspirational 3% year-on-year increase in participation by users aged over 50

Nine strategic objectives have been identified in respect of "participation" themes:

*  P1  To deliver an aspirational 3% year-on-year increase in participation by users resident in the most deprived wards in 

the City

Key actions include: review of literature and website marketing,  work closely with relevant local and cultural stakeholder groups to 

include the Councils Communities, Youth Ambition and Sports and Physical Activity teams, and Health partners in the further 

development of the healthy living initiatives; Engage with those who are inactive.

Key actions include: review of literature and website marketing,  work closely with relevant local stakeholder groups to include the 

Councils Communities, Youth Ambition and Sports and Physical Activity teams; Engage with those who are less active or inactive; 

Reception and activity access control.

*  P4  To deliver an aspirational 3% year-on-year increase in participation by users from BAMER groups

 

This Annual Service Plan sets out Fusion's aims and objectives in respect of the delivery of leisure services on behalf of Oxford City 

Council in the year from April 2019 to March 2020.

The purpose of the Annual Service Plan is to describe the underpinning strategic objectives and to set out specific action plans in respect 

of those strategic objectives.

Individual business plans for each centre with target of surplus

The Annual Service Plan incorporates an executive summary, a review of previous years performance, a description of the planning 

context, details of the strategic objectives for 2019 to 2020, specific action plans in respect of those strategic objectives and a risk 

analysis.

The contents of the Annual Service Plan, once agreed with the Leisure Partnership Board, will be submitted to the City Council's 

Executive Board and then communicated to staff, customers and other stakeholders.

We recognise the importance of continual and consistent review and monitoring of the delivery and the impact of the Annual Service 

Plan.

Two strategic objectives have been identified in respect of "financial" themes:

The on-going review and monitoring process will incorporate on-going management scrutiny, monthly update reports, monthly meetings 

between key representatives of Fusion and the Council, quarterly Leisure Partnership Board meetings and a formal review in advance of 

the 2020/21 service planning process.

Key actions include: Commitment to achieving a GOOD rating in the QUEST module GPLUS 37 or similar; Further develop understanding 

of specific customer needs with an impairment, identify and implement a phased improvement plan. Development of specific access 

awareness, work with relevant local stakeholder groups and the Councils Sports and Physical Activity Team such as the Swans and 

development of specific programmes and activities; Engage with those who are less active or inactive;  Inclusive Fitness Initiative 

accreditation at Barton, Ferry and Leys Pools and Leisure Centres.

 

*  P7  To deliver an aspirational 3% year-on-year increase in participation in 60+ swimming 

*  P3  To deliver an aspirational 3% year-on-year increase in participation by users aged under 16

Key actions include: development of children's party, aquatics and holiday programme products, work with relevant local and cultural 

stakeholder groups and the Councils Communities, Sports and Physical Activity and Youth Ambition Teams; improved work with schools 

and support of the Active Youth Ambition Program; Engage with those who are inactive.

*  P5  To deliver an aspirational 3% year-on-year increase in participation by users with an impairment

Key actions include creation of a specific marketing plan, implementation of a revised aquatics product, development of a programme of 

relevant add-ons, review and improved promotion of the free swimming hours; Engage with those who are less active or inactive.

 

Key actions include implementation of 2019 /20 pricing proposals, including general RPI increases across core prices  and planning for 

2020 /21 pricing.

Key actions include: mail campaigning, work with relevant local and cultural stakeholder groups; the Councils Communities, Sports and 

Physical Activity and Youth Ambition Teams; development of community ambassadors and development of specific programmes and 

activities; Engage with those who are inactive.

*  P8  To deliver an aspirational 3% increase in participation by female users

Key actions will be to work within the 'Active Women Project' supported by key partners and funded by Sport England; Engage with 

those who are less active or inactive.

*  P9 To deliver an aspirational 3% increase in overall participation target

Key actions include: implementation of revised aquatics product and development of a programme of relevant add-ons and the creation 

of a specific marketing plan; Engage with those who are less active or inactive.

*  P6  To deliver an aspirational 3% year-on-year increase in participation on junior swimming

62



CUSTOMER RELATIONS:

HEALTH AND SAFETY:

FACILITY MANAGEMENT:

Key actions include establishment of baseline figures, implementation of ISO14001 policies and procedures and development of specific 

plans and liaising with the refuse team at OCC.

* FM4  To ensure that high standards of cleaning are achieved at all times

Key actions include establishment and delivery of regular, deep and specialist cleaning programmes, regular review of effectiveness of 

cleaning and clear communication of cleaning standards.

* FM5  To ensure that high standards of repair and maintenance are achieved at all times

Key actions include:  Information Management System audit and implementation of relevant continuous improvement plans.

Key actions include full implementation of Fusion's customer relations management procedures, including the taking of appropriate 

action following results of cancellation surveys. Ensuring that facilities are run and maintained to excellent standards with correct 

pricing, programing and with the right staff in the right positions; Adding value to loyal members and enhancing membership offers; 

maintaining and improving existing  customer and stakeholder relationships and forums.

 

 

* CR4 To ensure user representation on the Leisure Partnership Board and quarterly User group meetings take 

place and are well attended

* CR 3  Response time for customer feedback - responded to within 48hrs and closed off in no more than 7 days

Key action is delivery of action plans based on a specific reviews and results of customer relations programmes and regular 

feedback/management of key personnel at site level; Further develop User Groups and representation at the Leisure Partnership Board; 

Improved telephony management.

* CR 5  To deliver a reduction of 6% in annual attrition levels for memberships

Four strategic objectives have been identified in respect of customer themes:

* CR 2  Striving for Good/Excellence. Customer Service KPI improvement year on year in each Centre

* CR 1  To maintain customer satisfaction levels at leisure facilities above 95% Good, Satisfactory and Excellent

Aiming for increasing satisfaction scores through Please tell Us What You Think - aiming for Good/Excellence

Key actions: All centres to provide User group or "Meet the Manager" meeting dates; each Centre to aim to provide one representative 

from each User group to attend quarterly Leisure Partnership Board meetings; Offer incentives to service users who regularly attend the 

quarterly Leisure Partnership Board; ensure all meetings are minuted and displayed to all customers within 7 days of the meeting and to 

the Fusion standard; Minutes of meetings to be submitted to the Client prior to displayed on public noticeboards;

Key actions include full compliance with all Fusion customer care procedures, consistent application of processes in respect of User 

Groups, customer forums, management surgeries and planned actions following completion of National Benchmarking Surveys and the 

more regular Marketforce customer surveys.

Key actions include review of target figures, implementation of ISO14001 policies and procedures, review and implementation of works 

in respect forward lifecycle and development works; development of wider staff engagement in identifying and tackling excess or 

unnecessary energy, water consumption; seek to ensure that, wherever possible, use is made of the funding available under the Salix 

funding scheme to procure appropriate energy-saving initiatives within Oxford facilities.

* FM2  To engage fully with the Council's priority " To tackle climate change and promote sustainable environmental 

resource management" and to contribute the Council's delivery of a 5% minimum reduction in carbon emissions year-on-

year

* HS1  To ensure 100% compliance with Fusion H&S policies and procedures

* FM1  To achieve average Fusion 360 inspection scores of at least 95% across all facilities

* FM3  To achieve a 50/50 split (50% recycling 50% landfill) of all refuge collection from our centres

* FM6  To maintain Quest accreditation at a minimum 'Excellent' (under the old score system, which is now Good) at Ferry 

Leisure Centre, Very Good at  Leys Pools & Leisure Centre and Barton Leisure Centres, Good Hinksey heated Outdoor Pool, 

Oxford Ice Rink and Barton Leisure Centre.

Key actions include review of performance of Facility Management in house team and subcontractors, delivery of programme of lifecycle 

works and management of the equipment inventory.

 

Key actions include 100% compliance with procedures, reception and activity access control,  regular review of failure trends, 

implementation of remedial plans and further development of the F360 inspections; getting the basics right (i.e. systems & procedures; 

Repairs & Maintenance).

One strategic objective has been identified in respect of "health and safety" themes:

Key actions include continued review of compliance, regular audits and on-going improvement plans.

Six strategic objectives have been identified in respect of "facility management" themes :

63



STAFFING:

MARKETING:

SPORTS AND COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT:

Key actions include: consultation and liaison with schools, colleges, cultural and educational groups; facilitating work experience and 

delivering taster sessions .

* SCD7 Badminton development 

Key actions: ensure the Fusion Badminton Development Plan is delivered in Oxford leisure facilities; implement the 'Racket Packet' Junior 

Badminton session;   

* S1  To ensure that the Right People are in the Right Place at the Right Time

Key actions include formal analysis of current workforce, development of specific action plans, delivery of relevant training and 

thoughtful & thorough recruitment procedures followed; provide Work Experience opportunities and offer Apprenticeships for local 

residents across facilities.

Key actions include establishment of clear protocols, identification of measurable KPIs re awareness, training to key managers and on-

going liaison with representatives from the Council communications department; Increase targeted campaign work.

* M7 To increase Reward Card usage, registration, Bonus Concessionary Offer & Free Swimming Schemes

* SCD2  To develop and maintain positive and proactive relationships with local sports clubs

* SCD1  To maintain positive and proactive partnerships with key local stakeholders and welcome new stakeholder 

opportunities

 

* M2  To deliver a 1% increase in the total membership

* M3  To establish and maintain the highest standards of facility presentation

Key actions include delivery of a calendar of sales activity; creation and implementation of specific action plan, targeted work in respect 

of deprived wards and regeneration areas, BAMER groups, 50+ age group and disabled people, work with relevant partners/stakeholders 

and review of core literature; Engage with those who are inactive.

Key actions include delivery of specific action plan to include notice board presentation, and customer journey.

Key actions include full compliance with HR policies and procedures, review of all job descriptions, specific promotion of Fusion as an 

employer of choice, and improved delivery of coaching and training programmes.

Three strategic objectives have been identified in respect of "staffing" themes :

* S2  To demonstrate a year-on-year improvement in staff satisfaction across each equality strand and overall

M4 To establish and maintain the highest standards of web and social media promotion

Key actions include the review of the club register, delivery of calendar of liaison and on-going club support and exploration of potential 

new clubs.

Launch new concept marketing designs and literature and reduce waste.

 

Six strategic objectives have been identified in respect of "marketing" themes:

* M1  To deliver a proactive and positive approach to PR, such that facility and service successes are communicated and 

celebrated

Key actions to include: Websites and social media are kept up to date and are innovative; Engage with those who are less active or 

inactive.

* S3  To ensure that the Fusion workforce in Oxford is as representative as possible of the local community

Key actions include implementation of standard management and staffing structures, continuing to proactively deliver recruitment 

campaigns with stakeholders, full compliance with HR policies and procedures delivery of training and personal development plans and 

implementation of succession plan.

M5 To develop connections and outreach with local school, youth clubs and Under18's

* SCD5  To positively promote the benefits of healthy living and active lifestyles

To improve relationships with schools and youth groups and so promote health and fitness.

M6 To launch new collateral designs and reduce print wastage

* SCD3  To ensure that all facility programmes are exciting, innovative and attractive to users and potential users

Key actions include the updating of the specific list of relevant health, cultural, community and local club stakeholders, development of 

planned consultation/liaison, work with the Council's Community Centre, Sports and Physical Activity, Youth Ambition and Communities 

teams and delivery of joint initiatives.

Key actions:  promote the Rewards Card scheme to over 8s; promote the Bonus Concessionary Offer and Free Swimming Schemes;

 

Six strategic objectives have been identified in respect of "sports and community development" themes:

* SCD4  To proactively explore opportunities for external funding

Key actions include development of database of funding opportunities, delivery of relevant action plan and delivery of workshops to 

General Managers.

Key actions to include review of swimming pool, sports hall, studio, holiday programmes and ice rink programmes and delivery of 

improvements; Ensure that  our review methodology reflects and weights the health, diversity and special characteristics of 

communities, cultural and social value alongside income and participation numbers. 

* SCD6 Develop & maintain relationships with schools, cultural and educational groups

Key actions include use of Sports and Community Development notice board and development of joint initiatives with key partners 

including to include the Councils Communities, Youth Ambition, Culture and Events and Sports and Physical Activity teams, public health 

and clinical practitioners and the Barton Healthy New Town project; production of case studies to demonstrate impact, outcomes and 

social value of delivery.

64



FACILITY DEVELOPMENTS:

PARTNERSHIP DEVELOPMENT:

* PD3  To optimise the development of the partnership between Fusion and Oxford City Council

Key actions include establishment and implementation of wider liaison between representatives of Fusion and the Council.

Key actions include delivery of agreed plans.

Key actions include development of relevant business cases and progression of any agreed plans.

Key actions include to work with the Council to successfully deliver (on-time) the Oxford Sports Park and potential crèche facilities at 

Ferry Leisure Centre.

* PD1  To ensure 100% compliance with all agreed meeting, reporting and performance monitoring requirements

 

* FD1  To develop a programme of other facility development proposals in the leisure facilities

* PD2  To explore opportunities for the Council and Fusion to extend their relationship in respect of other facilities in 

Oxford

Key actions include establishment and implementation of meeting schedules, full compliance with all client liaison procedures, full 

compliance with all reporting and positive contribution to the Leisure Partnership Board.

To fully open Oxford Sports Park and work with the local community to maximise usage;

One strategic objective has been identified in respect of "facility development" themes:

 

Three strategic objectives have been identified in respect of "partnership development" themes:

65



SERVICE PLANNING CONTEXT

INTRODUCTION:

LEISURE PARTNERSHIP BOARD OBJECTIVES:

 

OXFORD CITY COUNCIL CORPORATE OBJECTIVES:

* Review options for childcare provision at Ferry Leisure Centre

* Pop Up Taster sessions in communities to further reduce barriers to participation

* Increase targeted campaign work

* Improve liaison and communication to local communities, cultural groups and residents

* Adding value to loyal members and enhancing membership offers

* Further develop User Groups and representation at the Leisure Partnership Board

* Engage with those who are inactive

 

The over-riding objective of the Partnership Board is to ensure that the leisure facilities deliver a service that is "World Class for Everyone".

The specific themes identified for service performance in 2018/19 are as follows:

The Annual Service Plan is also influenced by the City Council's broader corporate objectives.  The relevant objectives are incorporated into the 

Corporate Plan 2016-2020 and those objectives with specific relevance to the leisure facilities are as summarised below:

* to improve the offering of the 11-15 year old programming including term time and school holiday's (PB7)

*  A Clean and Green Oxford: …"Save energy and reduce carbon emissions"…"Tackle congestion and pollution"…"Improve cleanliness of our 

streets"…"Reduce the total amount of waste"…"Protect the city from extreme weather events"… (OCC4)

*  Continued engagement with reducing CO2 Emissions   -  delivery of 5%year-on-year reduction in carbon emissions (PB1)

*  Maintain a proactive and positive approach to PR, such that facility and service successes are communicated and celebrated (PB3)

* Fusion to get the basics right (i.e. systems & procedures; Control of admission and access arrangements; Repairs & Maintenance; Data gaps 

& analysis focus; Data for visits and demographics of those from priority areas).

* Oxford Sports Park

 

*  An Efficient and Effective Council: ..."Continue to deliver high-quality services"…"Continue to invest in technology"…"Manage our 

property and assets"…"Manage our contracts and procurement processes"…"Recruit, develop and value"… (OCC5)

* 3 Partnership working: to achieve progress in effective partnership working towards increasing physical activity levels.

* 2 Our focus sports: to remain focussed on creating innovative and inclusive sporting pathways that drives up participation in our Focus 

sports through a joined up leisure offer. The Focus sports include; swimming, cycling, rugby union, dance, cricket, athletics, tennis, table tennis, 

football and youth ambition.

*  Meeting Housing Needs:  …"Tackle the city's housing crisis"…"Build more affordable homes"…"Improve conditions for private 

tenants"…"Improve homes for our existing tenants"…"Tackle homelessness and rough sleeping"… (OCC2)

Further, in the Leisure and Wellbeing Strategy 2015-2020, the City Council is reviewing its leisure programmes which seeks to 

achieve the following 3 objectives:

*  Strong, Active Communities: ..."Tackle inequality"…"Provide high quality community and leisure facilities"…"Improve opportunities for 

young people"…"Celebrate diversity"…"Promote safe neighbourhoods"…"Safeguard and support vulnerable people"… (OCC3)

*  Continued engagement with and participation by the Council's target groups, as follows: increases in participation by users resident in the 

most deprived wards in Oxford, BAMER groups, disabilities, junior free swim scheme, under 16s participation; women participation. We aim to 

exceed and increase participation by at least 3% across all groups 

*  to explore opportunities for the Council and Fusion to extend their relationship in respect of other facilities in Oxford (PB5) 

* to improve the health and well-being of local communities by engaging people in physical activity and healthy eating choices (e.g. healthy 

vending machines) (PB6)

*  Improving access to the facilities (e.g. Developing understanding of specific customer needs with an impairment and delivering a phased 

improvement plan; Green travel; car parking) (PB4)

*  Vibrant, sustainable economy:  …"Make the case for greater local control"…"Promote growth"…"Improve infrastructure"…"Deliver effective 

Support"…"Improve workforce skills"…Promote and shape development"... (OCC1)

* 1 A world class leisure offer: to be achieved via investment, leisure centres, outdoor sports, the broader leisure offer and improving the 

ways to promote the offer.

 

The purpose of this section of the Annual Service Plan is to establish the context in which the planning activity will take place.  This context 

incorporates a range of national, local and organisational factors, as follows:

In the notes that follow, we have set out the key principles within each of these factors.  These principles are then summarised in the form of a 

SWOT analysis for the current service.

*  the analysis of the markets affecting the leisure facilities, including industry developments, national trends, regional and local market factors.

*  the findings of the Sport England National Benchmarking Surveys undertaken in respect of 5 of the facilities;

*  Fusion's corporate objectives as reflected in the company's Business Plan

*  the commitments and intentions set out in Fusion's Best And Final Offer tender submission; Supplementary agreements and the Contract 

Extension agreement, 2014;

*  the objectives as set out by the Leisure Partnership Board;

*  the analysis of contract performance to date;

66



FUSION CORPORATE OBJECTIVES:

2018/19  PERFORMANCE:

AGREED COMMITMENTS WITHIN THE BUSINESS PLANNING PROCESS:

SPORT ENGLAND NATIONAL BENCHMARKING SURVEYS:

MARKET ANALYSIS:

*  Sport England market segmentation research shows that disabled users are spread across all segments, such that targeted marketing is 

difficult;

Disabled Users:

As per the Leisure Partnership Board objectives provided above.

National Context:

*  with the exception of Hinksey heated Outdoor Pool participation levels are generally higher than that of the wider population (NBS)

Users from BME groups:

*  the key 25-34 age band is set to increase most significantly, along with the 45-54 age group, which could also prove to be a lucrative market 

if targeted correctly;

*  less money in their pockets may put consumers off joining a health and fitness club or steer them towards less expensive options;

Sport England Benchmarking Surveys are undertaken on a bi-annual basis. During the last part of 2018, Sport England National Benchmarking 

Surveys were published for Barton Leisure Centre, Oxford Ice Rink, Ferry Leisure Centre and Leys Pools and Leisure Centre were published. The 

Survey processes involved an analysis of financial and usage statistics for the facilities and sample surveys of customer satisfaction undertaken.  

Leys strengths are; high levels of visits by people from ethnic minority backgrounds, people aged 26-64 years and a high frequency of visits per 

user per month. Weakness reported was a low level of visits by female users. 

The satisfaction and importance scores reported by customers show the following relative strengths and weaknesses. The primary strengths 

are; standard of coaching/instruction, value for money of activities and activity available at convenient times. The primary weaknesses are 

cleanliness of changing areas, cleanliness of activity spaces and quality of equipment.

*  approximately 10.6million disabled people in the country;

Barton’s strengths are; high levels of visits by people aged 65+, disabled people 65+ and first time visitors. Weaknesses are; the low levels of 

visits by people aged 14-25 and unique users per month. 

The satisfaction and importance scores reported by customers show the following relative strengths and weaknesses. The Primary strengths 

are; standard of coaching/instruction and activity available at convenient times. The primary weaknesses are; cleanliness of activity spaces, 

cleanliness of changing areas, value for money of activities and quality of equipment.

 

Key commitments agreed within the business planning process are:

Ferry strengths are; high levels of visits by people aged 65+ years, disabled, people aged 65+, disadvantaged card holders and a high 

frequency of visits per user per month. Weaknesses are the relatively low levels of visits by people aged 14-25 and female users. 

The satisfaction and importance scores reported by customers show the following relative strengths and weaknesses. The primary strengths 

are; standard of coaching/instruction and activity available at convenient time. The primary weaknesses are; cleanliness of changing areas and 

cleanliness of activity spaces.

*  Disadvantage usage is significantly above NBS benchmark average, though there is less use from those unemployed;

 

Fusion's five-year and annual corporate business plans reflect this vision and these core values and incorporate five strategic strands as follows:  

"Sustainable Growth and profitability", "Customer First", "Efficiency, Effectiveness and the Highest Quality Service", "Fusion People" and "New 

Business Development", as well as financial targets.

Fusion's corporate vision is "to be the UK's first choice leisure organisation, delivering a new standard in healthy active leisure", and this vision 

is reflected in the company's three core values of "We put the Customer First", "We make it happen" and "We only want the best".

*  typical sport preferences amongst BAMER groups include weight training, martial arts, badminton, cricket and basketball.  Swimming is 

typically not preferred;

Fusion Lifestyles Annual Performance Report for 2018/19 will be taken to the May 2019 Leisure Partnership Board for review and comment. The 

key performance headlines will be inserted into this section when signed off by the Board.

 

General Consumer trends:

Disadvantage users

*  consumers view keeping fit as more important than many other leisure activities and are less willing to cut back spending on this area than 

many others;

*  the gap between participation by men and women is greater amongst certain BME groups (e.g. "Black Other");

67



32% of the population are aged between 18 and 29 years

10 out of 83 neighbours are amongst the 20% most deprived in England

Users of ethnic minorities (based on NBS reports) top quartile for both Leys Pools & Leisure Centre. 3rd quartile for Ferry Leisure Centre and 

Barton Leisure Centre.

Users from BME groups:

Users over 65 year olds (based on NBS reports) top quartile for both Ferry and Barton. Leys Pools & Leisure Centre showing as 2nd quartile.

Users women & girls 

Most would like to exercise more for health and image, but they see the lack of time at work and at home as top barriers: 60% would like to do 

more physical exercise. 50% to improve/maintain health. 25% to maintain/lose weight. 14% improve/maintain body tone/shape. 12% say they 

are “quite/very likely” to increase their exercise in the near future.

Barriers to doing more exercise: 43% say they don’t have enough time due to work. 4% say they don’t have enough time due to home.

14- 25 year olds (based on NBS reports) is in the bottom quartile for Barton Leisure Centre.   25% quartile for Ferry Leisure Centre and the 2nd 

quartile for Leys Pools & Leisure Centre 

Oxford-specific Context:

General Population:

Oxford has a population of 154,600

21.8% (33,640) of the city's adult population are full time students

Main reason for not considering Fusion Lifestyle's leisure centres/facilities: 29% “no time”. 26% “cost”. 13% “other”.

61% would consider using any of Fusion Lifestyle’s leisure centres/facilities. "Strongly encourage” use of Fusion Lifestyle’s leisure 

centres/facilities. 22% “lower cost/prices”. 14% “improve facilities”.  15% “better range of facilities/equipment.

Current activity level: 25% did no exercise in an average week. 54% exercised moderately at 1-3 days a week. 21% exercised heavily at 4 or 

more days per week. 26% “agree/strongly agree” you can get enough exercise without doing sport or exercise

Non-user surveys are undertaken on a bi-annual basis. A street survey was undertaken in March 2018.  A total sample of 1168 people were 

surveyed near Spice Lounge Restaurant - 399 surveys completed, near up and running - 380 surveys completed and in Templars Square 

Shopping Centre - 389 surveys completed.  The research was designed to investigate attitudes and behaviour around exercise and to find out 

what the residents of the area think about the leisure facilities.  The key findings were as follows:

The majority of the sample thought that regular exercise/activity was important with 91% felt it was “important/very important” to regularly 

exercise. 86% “agree/strongly agree” exercise is good for health even when moderate. 86% “agree/strongly agree” even if activity is for only 

10 minutes at a time

At least 46,000 people commute into Oxford for work 

Users under 16:

Only 1 in 3 would consider using Fusion Lifestyle's leisure centres/facilities. No time, costs, and other are most often cited as detractors. 53% 

do not use a leisure centre/health club for most of their exercise. 39% would not consider using any of Fusion Lifestyle's leisure 

centres/facilities.

Users females (based on NBS reports) is in the bottom quartile for Ferry Leisure Centre and Leys Pools & Leisure Centre. 2nd quartile for Barton 

Leisure Centre. 

28% of residents were born outside of the UK

Deprived Wards:  

Users over 50:

Findings from non-user survey:

24% of the population are aged 50+

The key deprived wards within Oxford and how those wards might be better served by Oxford's leisure facilities.  The key wards for focus are as 

follows:  Barton and Sandhills, Headington Hill and Northway, and Quarry and Risinghurst (all directly served by Barton Leisure Centre), Rose 

Hill and Iffley, Littlemore, Northfield Brook, Blackbird Leys and Cowley (all directly served by Leys Pool & Leisure Centre) and Carfax (served to 

some extent by Ferry Leisure Centre).

68



SWOT ANALYSIS:

Strengths:

Opportunities:

Weaknesses:

Threats:

Supporting Documentation:

Market Force  non-user research March 2018

Oxford City Council Oxford Profile 2018

Oxford City Council Population Facts - https://www.oxford.gov.uk/info/20131/population/459/oxfords_population

NBS surveys 2018

*  variety and geographical spread of facilities within portfolio;

*  the development of the budget gym market in Oxford

* oversubscribed classes  with bonus only membership

* New facility opened in 2015

* programming opportunities in relation to family activities and Group Fitness Product

* car parking arrangements at Oxford Ice Rink & Ferry Leisure Centre

*  high and variable staff costs (as a percentage of income);

*  loss making contract 

*  continued delivery of cultural change within management and staffing teams;

*  challenge of delivering significant increases in income and participation;

 

* high population turnover within the city

*  increased car park charges at Ferry Leisure Centre and Oxford Ice Rink

* Maintained high customer satisfaction and Mystery Visit results

*  higher than industry average performance in respect of customer satisfaction (cf. NBS surveys and regular NPS surveys);

*  facilities offered by the colleges and universities at a lower rate

*  building up a base membership level at Leys Pool & Leisure Centre (and to a lessor extent other facilities) due to the high take-up of Bonus 

card pay as you go visits

 

* programming opportunities in relation to 60+ target group

 

*  continued partnership working between Fusion and the Council;

*  consistent meeting, reporting and monitoring regimes with the Council;

 

*  maintained improvements in cleaning standards;

* strong financial performance, particularly subsidy per user

*  improved facilities through developments and substantial investment and maintenance programme

* staffing establishment ensuring right people right place right time

69



INTRODUCTION

INTRODUCTION TO THE ANNUAL SERVICE PLAN:

PREPARATION OF THE ANNUAL SERVICE PLAN:

CONTENTS OF THE ANNUAL SERVICE PLAN:

 

COMMUNICATION OF THE ANNUAL SERVICE PLAN:

*  February 2019:  communication to Fusion management team and staff;

*  assimilation of any specific and relevant elements of Fusion's corporate business plan;

*  analysis of the local market, potential key targets and relevant competition;

 

The management contract now incorporates the delivery of services of the City Council's main five leisure facilities: Barton Leisure Centre, 

Leys Pool & Leisure Centre  Ferry Leisure Centre, Oxford Ice Rink and the Seasonal Hinksey heated Outdoor Pool. 

This Annual Service Plan sets out Fusion's aims and objectives in respect of the delivery of leisure services on behalf of Oxford City Council in 

the year from April 2019 to March 2020.

The purpose of the Annual Service Plan is to describe the underpinning strategic objectives and to set out specific action plans in respect of 

those strategic objectives.

In establishing this management contract, the City Council's key aim is to facilitate the development of World Class facilities and World Class 

services within the City.  Throughout the duration of the contract both parties intend to deliver significant improvements in service levels, 

value for money and customer satisfaction with the City's leisure facilities.  The emphasis in the early stages of the contract was on the 

delivery of significant investment in customer-facing areas throughout the leisure facility portfolio. Following the developments  the emphasis 

will be to further increase usage of facilities. 

The intention is to carefully monitor the delivery and impact of the Annual Service Plan such that successes and areas for improvement are 

identified and acted upon.

 

*  liaison with appropriate stakeholders in order to understand key issues and potential development opportunities; 

The Annual Service planning process has incorporated the following elements:

*  establishment of primary service objectives for the next twelve months;

*  establishment of clear and measurable ("SMART") targets in respect of all elements of the Plan;

*  assimilation of staff and customer feedback in respect of current service levels and opportunities for improvements;

*  liaison with the City Council and the Leisure Partnership Board in order to understand any specific service requirements pertaining to the 

year ahead;

*  June 2019:  Communication to customers and key stakeholders.

*  June 2019:  Presentation of the Annual Service Plan to the Council City Executive Board for endorsement

*  creation of specific action plans, with defined accountabilities and timescales, to deliver these service objectives;

*  an executive summary of the annual service plan;

sports and community development, facility developments, partnership development;

*  description of the context for the annual service planning process;

*  a review of performance from previous year;

 

*  review of performance from contract commencement to date;

*  review of achievements in respect of Sport England National Benchmarking Service and other relevant benchmarks;

*  details of the strategic objectives and detailed actions plans for a series of service elements as follows:

- financial, participation, customer, health and safety, Facility Management, staffing, marketing,

*  a description of how the contents of the Annual Service Plan will be agreed and subsequently communicated to key stakeholders;

*  a description of how the delivery of the Annual Service Plan will be monitored, reported and, where relevant, updated through the course 

of the year;

*  detailed calendars of activities in respect of specific strategic objectives;

*  confirmation of monitoring and review systems and procedures for the Plan.

The key contents of this Annual Service Plan are as follows:

The planned process for the communication of the key principles of the Annual Service Plan is as follows:

*  an analysis of the key risks associated with the delivery of the Annual Service Plan.

The process for the initial agreement of the Annual Service Plan is as follows:

*  October '18:  Leisure Partnership Board initial discussion regarding primary service objectives;

*  November '18:  Presentation of draft Annual Service Plan to Client Performance meeting for review;

*  June 19:  Endorsement of the Annual Service Plan by the City Executive Board.

*  January '19: Presentation of the final Annual Service Plan to the Leisure Partnership Board;

 

70



REVIEW AND MONITORING OF THE ANNUAL SERVICE PLAN:

KEY FUSION PERSONNEL INVOLVED IN THE DELIVERY OF THE ANNUAL SERVICE PLAN:

We recognise the importance of continual and consistent review and monitoring of the delivery and the impact of the Annual Service Plan.

The on-going review and monitoring process will incorporate the following elements:

*  monthly update reports delivered by Fusion to the Council;

 

*  on-going management scrutiny at site, divisional, Senior Management Team and Executive Management Team levels;

Oxford Divisional Staffing Structure:

*  monthly meetings between key representatives of Fusion and the Council;

*  quarterly meetings of the Leisure Partnership Board;

 * monthly meeting with Senior Council and Fusion Finance stakeholders.

Graham Ashby 

 

 
Contract Manager 

 

Post Open 

 
Divisional 
Marketing 
Executive 

 

Julia Burson 

 
Divisional Sport 
and Community 
Development 

Manager 

 
 

General Managers 
 

 

 

Graham Ashby 

 
General Manager  

Barton Pool 
 

 

Post Open 
 

General Manager 
Leys Pools & 

Leisure Centre 
 

 
Brendan Embra 

General Manager 
Ferry Sports Centre 

 

 

Mike Harrison  
 

General Manager 
 

Oxford Ice Rink & 
Hinksey Outdoor 

Pool 
 

 
Divisional 

Technical Manager 
 

 

 

 
2 x Divisional 
Technicians  

 

71



FINANCIAL

F1

Action Ref. Action Timescale Target / KPI Lead Manager

1
To create individual business plans to include Like for Like income growth on all 

income lines - 

April 2019 - 

March 2020
Business Plan Created CMgr (with GMs)

2
To consider the introduction of a different concessionary scheme in line with 

the introduction of universal credits. 

April 2019 

onwards
Monthly Reviews conducted CMgr (with GMs)

3 Implement the Council endorsed fees and charges for 2019/20 
April 2019 

onwards
Action plan implemented. CMgr (with GMs)

5 If loss making programmes, promote to reduce losses Monthly Business plan projections prepared. CMgr (with team)

6
To increase the use of the 3G Football Pitches/Pavilion at Leys Pool and Leisure 

and to achieve all financial targets

April 2019 - 

March 2020

Business Plan targets and budgets 

communicated to all relevant staff and 

achieved at the end of the year

GM

Value for Money for food and beverage
April 2019 - 

March 2021

Business Plan targets and budgets 

communicated to all relevant staff and 

achieved at the end of the year

GM

7 To finalise detailed business plan projections for 2019/20
December 

2019
Business plan projections finalised. CMgr (with team)

8
To communicate detailed business plan targets and budgets to all relevant 

managers and staff.
January 2019

Business Plan targets and budgets 

communicated to all relevant staff.
CMgr (with team)

9
Review and develop the retail offer across all facilities; including investigating 

potential of a dedicated sales area/ shop at the Ice Rink.

April 2019 - 

March 2020

Business Plan targets and budgets 

communicated to all relevant staff and 

achieved at the end of the year; Feasibility 

and business base presented for a 

dedicated Ice Rink retail offer.

CMgr (with team)

F2

Action Ref. Action Timescale Target / KPI Lead Manager

1
To apply RPI increases to all core prices at each of the leisure facilities and to 

undertake relevant customer communication.
Apr-19

Increases applied and customer 

communication undertaken.
CMgr (with GMs)

To formally review all pricing structures and levels and develop specific pricing 

proposals for the 2020/21 Annual Service Plan.

To specifically incorporate consideration of concessionary options, the breadth 

of membership offers and application of community/club concessionary rates; 

and increases to legacy memberships.

3

To conduct a bench marking exercise using other Fusion Contracts and 

competition within Oxfordshire in preparation for the formal price review of all 

prices

July - August 

2019
Formal review conducted

4
To agree pricing proposals for 2020/21; including proposals for changing  the 

Bonus pay and play offer and Bonus Direct Debit membership.

December 

2019
Pricing proposals agreed.

5
To agree process of consultation and communication in respect of 2019/20 

pricing

December 

2019 - 

January 2020

Process agreed. CMgr

6
To implement agreed process of consultation and communication in respect of 

2019/20 pricing

January - 

March 2019
Process implemented. CMgr (with GMs)

7 To add further value to loyal membership holders.
April 2019 to 

March 2020
Offers implemented. CMgr (with GMs)

Abbreviations:

CMgr Contract Manager

GM General Manager

ME Marketing Executive

DSCDMgr Divisional Sports and Community Development Manager

Weekly trading meetings instigated at each 

site.
CMgr (with GMs)

CMgr

To ensure each centre is financial self sustainable and generating a surplus - to be reviewed monthly 

To ensure that pricing structures and levels across the leisure facilities are appropriate and inclusive - 

2

September - 

December 

2019

Pricing structures and levels formally 

reviewed and proposals developed for 

2019/20

CMgr

4 WeeklyTo undertake weekly trading reviews with General Managers.

72



PARTICIPATION

P1

Action Ref. Action Timescale Target / KPI Lead Manager

1
To review target wards within the City and update target streets and 

estates within those target wards that require inclusion/omission 
On-going

Target wards and streets/estates reviewed 

and mapped
DSCDMgr 

2 To establish all relevant participation targets for 2019/20 On-going Participation targets established CMgr 

3

To continue to implement targeted campaigns, promoting existing 

benefits of the Bonus Choice membership and specific activities; 

through data supplied by Oxford City Council to reach those on low 

incomes and engage with those who are inactive. Promoting classes to 

Bonus pay and play members with the view of upgrading to the Bonus 

Choice offer.

On-going 3% increase CMgr

4

To maintain links with appropriate health, cultural and community 

groups within each of the target wards and engage with those who are 

less active or inactive.

On-going

Attend at least three community events in the 

year; partnership working with OCC 

Community Locality Officers

DSCDMgr (with GMs)

5

To deliver, engage with those who are less active or inactive and 

promote the Free Swimming schemes across the city and to review 

effectiveness of pool programming at each Centre in order to maximise 

participation

On-going
Pool timetables and free swimming schemes 

promoted and delivered. 

DSCDMgr (with CMgr 

& GMs)

P2

Action Ref. Action Timescale Target / KPI Lead Manager

1 To establish all relevant participation targets for 2019/20 On-going Participation targets established
CMgr (with 

DSCDMgr)

To review and update partners who support the development of 

activities and increase in participation by people aged over 50.

Review the older peoples Needs Analysis

To review Primetime programmes at all facilities 3 times per year and 

identify opportunities for any further targeted sessions in each case; 

Engage with those who are less active or inactive.

On-going
Review undertaken and revised programme 

produced

DSCDMgr (with CMgr 

& GMs)

Promote 50+ gym usage and class activities and engage with those who 

are less active or inactive.
On-going

Review undertaken and revised programme 

produced

DSCDMgr (with CMgr 

& GMs)

Promote GP referrals. On-going Target / KPI achieved
DSCDMgr (with CMgr 

& GMs)

P3

Action Ref. Action Timescale Target / KPI Lead Manager

1 To establish all relevant participation targets for 2019/20 On-going Participation targets established
DSCDMgr  (with 

CMgr)

2 Increase Learn 2 Swim Programme On-going
90% capacity in all three Centres and 3000 swim 

participants per week 
DHT  (with GMs)

3
To review stakeholder partners who can support the development of 

activities and increase in participation by people aged under 16.
On-going Stakeholder partners reviewed. DSCDMgr (with GMs)

4 To increase Skate school participation by 3% On-going Stakeholder partners reviewed. Skate School Lead

5
Promote safety of swimming to Oxford Primary schools - Swimming 

Week
On-going Programme created.

DSCDMgr (with CMgr 

& GMs)

6
Proactive promotion of the Council funded  free swimming schemes for 

Young People, subject to OCC funding review.
On-going

 Pool timetables and free swimming schemes 

promoted and delivered. 

DSCDMgr (with CMgr 

& GMs)

7 Engage with those who are less active or inactive On-going Programme created and delivered
DSCDMgr (with CMgr 

& GMs)

8
Maximise the benefits for young people, review the offer and ensure it is 

effectively meeting the needs of young people 
On-going Review offer

DSCDMgr (with CMgr 

& GMs)

P4

Action Ref. Action Timescale Target / KPI Lead Manager

1 To establish all relevant participation targets for 2019/20 Apr-18 Participation targets established
CMgr (with 

DSCDMgr)

2

To review health, cultural and community stakeholder partners who can 

support the development of activities and increase in participation by 

people from BAMER groups.

April - June 

2019
Stakeholder Partners reviewed DSCDMgr (with GMs)

3
To maintain association with BAME partners with whom to work to 

promote accessibility to the leisure facilities for BAME groups.
On-going

Stakeholder partners identified and engaged 

with.
DSCDMgr (with GMs)

4
To review and implement a revised programme of work with BAMER 

partners.

October 2019 - 

March 2020
Programme reviewed and implemented. DSCDMgr (with GMs)

5
To undertake direct a campaign to relevant wards and streets, 

promoting relevant activities at the leisure facilities.

October - 

December 

2019

Campaign undertaken.
CMgr (with DSCDMgr 

& GMs)

6 Engage with those who are less active or inactive
April 19 to 

Mar 20
Programme created and delivered

DSCDMgr (with CMgr 

& GMs)

To deliver an aspirational 3% year-on-year increase in participation by users aged under 16

To deliver an aspirational 3% year-on-year increase in participation by users from BAMER groups

To deliver an aspirational 3% year-on-year increase in participation by users resident in the most deprived wards in the City

To deliver an aspirational 3% year-on-year increase in participation by users aged over 50

2 On-going Up-to-date partners identified and reviewed.

3

DSCDMgr (with CMgr 

& GMs)

73



P5

Action Ref. Action Timescale Target / KPI Lead Manager

1 To establish all relevant participation targets for 2019/20 Apr-19 Participation targets established
CMgr (with 

DSCDMgr)

2
To review inclusiveness and accessibility at Hinksey and remedy any 

shortcomings before the 2019 season starts
Apr-19

Disabled access and facilities up to required 

standard
DFM, GM ands CMgr

3
To review stakeholder partners who can support the development of 

activities and increase in participation by people with an impairment.

April - June 

2019
Stakeholder partners reviewed. DSCDMgr (with GMs)

4

To promote Inclusive Fitness at Leys Pools & Leisure Centre and record 

disability to all users that sit within these category to enable improved 

reporting

April 2019 - 

March 20
Promotion of IFI facilities DSCDMgr

5 Engage with those who are less active or inactive
April 2019 - 

March 20
Programme created and delivered

DSCDMgr (with CMgr 

& GMs)

6
Further develop understanding of specific customer needs with an 

impairment and identify a phased improvement plan.

April 19 to 

Mar 20

Specific needs review completed and phased 

improvement plan created with delivery 

started.

DSCDMgr (with CMgr 

& GMs)

7
Commitment to achieving a GOOD rating in the QUEST module GPLUS 

37 or similar.
On-going

Barton, Ferry and Leys Pools and Leisure 

Centres accredited to IFI.
CMgr

P6

Action Ref. Action Timescale Target / KPI Lead Manager

1 Programme of growth of Learn 2 Swim programme on-going
HR Policy, recruitment process - over 3000 

children per week on the scheme . 
CMgr

2 To review and promote the allocated  hours for free swimming April 2019

Review undertaken and revised programme 

agreed with the Council Representative and 

produced

DSCDMgr (with CMgr 

& GMs)

3
In partnership with OCC deliver funded free swimming sessions and 

lessons targeted at children in high areas of deprivation having low 

rates of physical activity

on-going Swimming lessons undertaken
DSCDMgr (with CMgr 

& GMs)

4
Continue to work with Oxford City Swim club in our joint CDF 

programme, 

April 2019 - 

March 2020
Programme developed and implemented DHT (with GMs)

5 Engage with those who are less active or inactive
April 19 to 

Mar 20
Programme created and delivered

DSCDMgr (with CMgr 

& GMs)

P7

Action Ref. Action Timescale Target / KPI Lead Manager

1 To establish all relevant participation targets for 2019/20 Apr-19 Participation targets established
CMgr (with 

DSCDMgr)

2 To implement the agreed marketing plan for promoting 60+ swimming 
July 2019 - 

March 2020
Marketing plan implemented.

CMgr (with DSCDMgr 

& GMs)

4

To develop and implement a programme of promotion of appropriate 

add-on / sell-on activities O'60 swimming participants. Engage with 

those who are less active or inactive

April 2019 - 

March 2020
Programme developed and implemented

CMgr (with DSCDMgr 

& GMs)

5

Programme to incorporate free swimming loyalty card, access to 

swimming lessons, PR campaign including testimonials, coaching of 

other aquatic disciplines, Swimathon participation, swim-fit, ladies only 

etc.  Initiatives to include liaison and joint working with Swim England .

April 2019 - 

March 2020
Programme developed and implemented

CMgr (with DSCDMgr 

& GMs)

P8

Action Ref. Action Timescale Target / KPI Lead Manager

1 To establish all relevant participation targets for 2019/20 Apr-19 Participation targets established
CMgr (with 

DSCDMgr)

2
To review stakeholder partners who can support the development of 

activities and increase in participation in female activities.

April - June 

2019
Stakeholder Partners reviewed DSCDMgr (with GMs)

3
To develop a specific joint initiative re increasing female usage with at 

least one identified stakeholder.
July 2019 Joint initiatives identified. DSCDMgr

4 To implement the agreed joint initiative re increasing female use.

July - 

December 

2019

Joint initiatives implemented. DSCDMgr

5 Engage with those who are inactive
April 19 to 

Mar 20
Programme created and delivered

DSCDMgr (with CMgr 

& GMs)

6 To use This Girl Can campaign to promote female only activities 
April 19 to 

Mar 19

Social Media Campaign Plan Created and 

Delivered. Case Studies/people stories used to 

help promote 

DSCDMgr (with CMgr 

& GMs)

7
Improving the exciting female only offer, particularly at Leys Pools and 

Leisure Centre and in line with any improved child care offer 

April 19 to 

Mar 20
Programme created and delivered

DSCDMgr (with CMgr 

& GMs)

To deliver an aspirational 3% year-on-year increase in participation in 60+ swimming 

To deliver an aspirational 3% year-on-year increase in participation in Female Activities 

To deliver an aspirational 3% year-on-year increase in participation by users with an impairment

To deliver an aspirational 3% year-on-year increase in participation on junior swimming 

74



P9

Action Ref. Action Timescale Target / KPI Lead Manager

1 To establish all relevant participation targets for 2019/20 Apr-19 Participation targets established
CMgr (with 

DSCDMgr)

2 To achieve an aspirational total of 3% growth
April 2019 to 

March 20
To achieve a total of 3% growth All Fusion Staff

3

Rewards card sign up targets to be established for each Centre and 

monitored weekly. Reward card usage also monitored for effectiveness 

of service delivery in each Centre

April 2019 to 

March 20

Reward card sign-ups and usage targets 

established

CMgr (with 

DSCDMgr)

4

Engage with those who are inactive. Key actions to include: review of 

literature and website marketing,  work closely with relevant local 

stakeholder groups to include the Councils Communities, Youth 

Ambition, Cultural and Events and Sports and Physical Activity teams

April 2019 to 

March 20
3% increase in overall participation

CMgr (with 

DSCDMgr)

5
Innovative programming that links with OCC priority & focus sports 

themes

April 2019 to 

March 20
Plan created and implemented 

CMgr (with 

DSCDMgr)

Abbreviations

CMgr Contract Manager

GM General Manager

ME Marketing Executive

DSCDMgr Divisional Sports and Community Development Manager

DHT Divisional Head Teacher

To deliver an aspirational 3% increase in overall participation

75



CUSTOMER RELATIONS

CR 1

Action Ref. Action Timescale Target / KPI Lead Manager

1
To ensure 100% compliance with Fusion's policies and procedures regarding 

customer care, including customer forums and meet the manager sessions.

April 2019 and 

on-going.
Policies and procedures implemented. GM

To ensure that all facilities maintain an up-to-date "Customer Care" notice 

board, which also identifies and includes contact details for facility General 

Manager.

Notice board to present information including customer care policies, Please 

Tell Us What You Think and Net Promoter Score statistics, detailed "you said, 

we did" feedback, details of customer forums and management surgeries, 

customer rules and etiquette.

3

To reaffirm composition and roles of User Groups at each of the leisure 

facilities and establish a calendar of meetings in each case which is published 

on customer notice boards for the year ahead.

April 2019
User Group composition, roles reaffirmed 

and calendar of meetings established.
GM

4
To hold regular 'Meet the Manager' surgeries or user group meeting at each 

leisure facility.

April 2019 to 

March 2020
Management surgeries held. GM

CR 2

Action Ref. Action Timescale Target / KPI Lead Manager

1
Establish 2019/20 targets for Good / Satisfactory figures for each Centre 

based on  2018/19 actuals
Apr-19

Marketforce PTUWYT and Net Promoter 

Score
GM

2
Aim on achieving customers rating their satisfaction levels Good or Excellent 

(GE) greater than 2018/19
Monthly PTUWYT GM

3 Achieve 95% satisfactory/good/ rating for staff score Monthly PTUWYT - Staff Score GM

4 Aim to improve the Net Promoter Score year on year in each facility Mar-19 Marketforce NPS GM

5
Achieve at least 95% satisfactory rating for ease of gaining booking and 

information and Website score
Monthly

PTUWYT - Ease of gaining booking and 

information and Website score
GM

CR 3

Action Ref. Action Timescale Target / KPI Lead Manager

2 Resolution time to be within 7 days On-going Marketforce GM

3 To ensure all staff receive Delivering Service Excellence training On-going Inductions complete GM

4 Improved monitoring and response management to social media feedback On-going Social Media champions for sites GM

CR 4

Action Ref. Action Timescale Target / KPI Lead Manager

1
All centres to provide User group or "Meet the Manager" meeting dates for the 

2019/20 year
Apr-19

Calendar developed and communicated via 

customer notice board
CMgr (with GMs)

2
Each Centre to aim to provide one representative from each User group to 

attend quarterly Leisure Partnership Board meetings

April 19, July 

19, October 

19, Jan 19

Attendance recorded
CMgr, DMMGR 

(with GMs)

3
Offer incentives to service users who regularly attend the quarterly Leisure 

Partnership Board

April 19, July 

19, October 

19, Jan 19

Incentives offered and delivered
CMgr, DMMGR 

(with GMs)

4

To ensure all meetings are minuted and displayed to all customers within 7 

days of the meeting and to the Fusion standard; Minutes of meetings to be 

submitted to the Client prior to displayed on public noticeboards.

April 19, July 

19, October 

19, Jan 19

Customer notice board complies to Fusion 

standard and updated within the allotted 

time frames

CMgr, DMMGR 

(with GMs)

CR 5

Action Ref. Action Timescale Target / KPI Lead Manager

1
To maintain mechanisms for measuring baseline membership numbers and 

attrition levels.
On-going Mechanisms are maintained CMgr (with GMs)

2 To implement Fusion's Customer Relations Policies and procedures. On-going Policies and procedures implemented.
CMgr, DMMGR 

(with GMs)

3 To develop a calendar of retention activity for members.
June 2019 - 

March 2019
Calendar developed.

CMgr, DMMGR 

(with GMs)

4 Improve engagement and linkage with OCC campaigns 
April 2019 - 

March 2020
Calendar implemented.

CMgr (with ME & 

GMs)

Abbreviations:

CMgr Contract Manager

GM General Manager

ME Marketing Executive

DSCDMgr Divisional Sports and Community Development Manager

To deliver a reduction of at least 6% attrition levels for membership

Notice boards provided and maintained with 

relevant information displayed.
GM

1 On-going

Customer Service KPI improvement year on year in each Centre

Marketforce GMFirst response time to comments to be 48 hours or less

To ensure user representation on the Leisure Partnership Board and quarterly User group meetings take place and are well attended

To increase overall customer satisfaction levels at leisure facilities above 95% Good, Satisfactory, Excellent

2 On-going

Response time for customer feedback - responded within 48 hours and closed within 7 days

76



HEALTH AND SAFETY

HS1

Action Ref. Action Timescale Target / KPI Lead Manager

To undertake an internal audit at each site of compliance with all elements of 

Fusion's health and safety policies and procedures and to establish a relevant 

remedial action plan.

Audit to specifically incorporate review of compliance with procedures 

regarding risk assessment review, control of subcontractors, control of access 

to storage areas.

2 To implement the action plan re H&S compliance. On-going Action plan implemented.
DFMgr,  (with 

GMs)

3 To maintain a health and safety notice board at all leisure facilities On-going Notice boards up to date. CMgr (with GMs)

4

To undertake reviews of accident and incident trends and to draw up any 

relevant remedial action plan within the Service Development Improvement 

Plan (SDIP).

monthly
Reviews undertaken and action plan 

established.
CMgr (with GMs)

5
To implement any remedial action plan in respect of accident and incident 

trends.
As required Action plan implemented. CMgr (with GMs)

6 To facilitate a formal audit at each site. 
each site 

twice yearly
Audit undertaken CMgr (with GMs)

7
Update each SDIP and implement relevant action plan in response to formal 

H&S audit.
6 monthly Action plan implemented. CMgr (with GMs)

8
To facilitate formal external (ISO18001 & ISO90001) audit of health and safety 

management policies and procedures.

April 2019 - 

March 2020

BSI audit undertaken and accreditation 

awarded
CMgr (with GMs)

Abbreviations:

CMgr Contract Manager

GM General Manager

ME Marketing Executive

DSCDMgr Divisional Sports and Community Development Manager

DFMgr Divisional Facilities Manager

1 Monthly
Audit undertaken and action plan 

established.

To ensure 100% compliance with Fusion H&S policies and procedures

CMgr,  DBM (with 

GMs)

77



FACILITY MANAGEMENT

FM1

Action Ref. Action Timescale Target / KPI Lead Manager

1

To ensure 95% compliance with Fusion 360 inspection regime, with two checks carried out 

daily Week days) and reported electronically that automatically uploads cleaning and 

maintenance jobs automatically to our rectification process

On-going.
95% of scheduled Fusion 360 inspections 

undertaken.
GMs

2
To review the nature of Fusion 360 failures quarterly/annually and develop relevant remedial 

action plans.

April; July; Oct 

& Jan 2019 -

2020

Review undertaken and action plan 

created.
CMgr (with GMs)

3 To implement relevant remedial action plans re Fusion 360 failures.

April; July; Oct 

& Jan 2019 - 

20

Action plan implemented. CMgr (with GMs)

4 Report Monthly Fusion 360 Scores Monthly
Monthly Reporting - Action plan if below 

95%
CMgr (with GMs)

5
Ensure that Technicians are scheduled to visit Centres rather than lone reactive working and 

ensure that each Centre is visited at least every 2  working days

April 2019 - 

March 2020
GM feedback to DFM weekly DFM (with GMs)

6
Ensure that the basics are right (i.e. systems and procedures; Responsive & timely Repairs & 

Maintenance; Reception and activity access control, etc.)

April 2019 - 

March 2020
Monthly reporting

DFM (with CMgr 

& GMs)

FM2

Action Ref. Action Timescale Target / KPI Lead Manager

1
To implement and maintain all ISO14001 environmental management systems and 

procedures in Oxford.
On-going Systems and procedures implemented. CMgr (with GMs)

To review and maintain a formal energy action plan in respect of each of the leisure facilities. CMgr (with GMs)

To specifically engage with and assist the Council in delivering its  "Carbon Management Plan 

3: Continual Improvement in Carbon and cost Reduction 2017-2022" carbon management 

programme including utilities monitoring, (and acting on excess energy/water consumption 

findings alerted by the OCC energy team), submitting monthly utilities reads and providing 

biomass delivery records for Leys pools biomass to the energy team at the council, 

developing green travel plans for customers and staff, reducing energy and water impacts in 

supplier and contractor management, developing a carbon champion network in Leisure 

centres and educating/raising awareness of customers and staff about energy and water 

consumption reduction approaches being implemented or that they can influence.  

CMgr (with GMs)

3

To implement formal energy and water reduction action plans leading to annual reductions in 

energy and water consumption at OCC leisure centres. Share the plans with OCC energy team 

members for regular review/joint input and in developing awareness and understanding of 

what is driving consumption at the leisure centres and how to more effectively control and 

reduce it (e.g. working towards applying ISO 50001 energy management systems principles 

in leisure centres and responding to issues of excess consumption identified in significant 

energy use areas). 

April 2019 - 

March 2020
Plan implemented. CMgr (with GMs)

4 To maintain ISO14001 accreditation in Oxford. Accreditation maintained CMgr (with GMs)

5
Promote Cycle to Work Scheme & work with other cycling stakeholders to increase awareness 

of green travel arrangements (i.e. 'Pop Up' Cycle schemes)
to have 10+ on scheme CMgr (with GMs)

To ensure all environmental management notice boards are maintained displaying relevant 

information including A3 colour laminated Display Energy Certificates as mandatory under the 

relevant regulations.

CMgr (with GMs)

Information to include energy management certificates, trends in utility consumption and 

details regarding carbon reduction / recycling initiatives.
CMgr (with GMs)

7
To ensure green travel plans are revised and in place at each site and communicated 

effectively to customers & staff

April - June 

2019

Green travel plans revised in place and 

communicated.

DBM, DFMgr 

(with GMs)

8

 To proactively work with OCC energy team members to identify, develop the business case 

for and deliver Salix funded energy efficiency projects in the leisure centres such as LED 

lighting and controls upgrades, boiler upgrades and controls, Insulation, implementation of 

additional renewable energy installations (including solar car ports, battery storage) etc. and 

to return Salix energy efficiency project loan payments in a timely manner each year.

on-going

Further embedding of energy and carbon 

reduction into core operations and 

responsibilities; strong top-down 

commitment to energy management; 

Active energy management – monitoring 

and targeting; liaison meetings with 

Council environmental colleagues.

CMgr, EM, DFM 

(with GMs)

FM3

Action Ref. Timescale Target / KPI Lead Manager

1
To continue to implement all ISO14001 environmental management systems and procedures 

in Oxford initiating any suggested  improvements following reassessments
On-going Systems and procedures implemented CMgr (with GMs)

To ensure all environmental management notice boards in place and displaying relevant 

information.
CMgr (with GMs)

Information to include energy management certificates, trends in utility consumption and 

details regarding carbon reduction / recycling initiatives.
CMgr (with GMs)

3 To create a specific action plan to reduce general refuse and increase recycled waste
April - June 

2019
Action plan created. CMgr (with GMs)

4 To complete Baseline assessment for each site On-going baseline assessment completed GM's

5
To assess current number of General Waste Bin collection & Recycle bins/Collections per 

week to attain a 50/50 split
Apr-19 Quantitative method to measure CMgr (with GMs)

6 To review action plan to reduce general refuse and increase recycled waste
July 2019 - 

March 2020
Action plan implemented. CMgr (with GMs)

FM4

Action Ref. Action Timescale Target / KPI Lead Manager

1
To establish programme of high level and deep cleans across all of the facilities. Two deep 

cleans per annum 
April 2019 Programme established. CMgr (with GMs)

2 To implement high level and deep clean schedules.
April 2019- 

March 2020
Programme implemented. CMgr (with GMs)

3
To review effectiveness of cleaning schedules and revise as necessary (in light of customer 

feedback and F360 inspection scores).

April 2019- 

March 2020
Cleaning schedules reviewed and revised. CMgr (with GMs)

4 To implement revised cleaning schedules. As required Cleaning schedules implemented. CMgr (with GMs)

6
To monitor customer scores through Please Tell Us What You Think - Aim  90 % 

good/satisfactory/excellent Scores
Monthly scores PTUWYT - Cleanliness GMs

To achieve average Fusion 360 inspection scores of at least 95% across all facilities

To engage fully with the Council's priority "To tackle climate change and promote sustainable environmental resource management" and to contribute to the 

Council's delivery of a minimum 5% reduction in carbon emissions year-on-year 

To ensure that high standards of cleaning are achieved at all times

To achieve a 50/50 split (50% recycling 50% landfill) of all refuge collection  from our centres

2

April 2019 - 

March 2020

Plan reviewed.
April 2019 - 

March 2020

6 on-going
Notice boards in place and displaying 

relevant information.

2 On-going
Notice boards in place and displaying 

relevant information.

78



FM5

Action Ref. Action Timescale Target / KPI Lead Manager

1
To review performance of Facility Management (FM) subcontractors in Q4 2019/20 and draw 

up relevant remedial action plan.
April 2019

Performance reviewed and action plan 

drawn up.
CMgr

2 To implement remedial action plan for FM performance.
April - June 

2019
Action plan implemented. CMgr

3

To maintain consistent system to reporting and communicating equipment failures to 

customers (cf. "Out of Order" signage). Out of order equipment and fixtures and fittings to be 

uploaded automatically through Fusion 360 to our Reactive maintenance portal. Ensure all 

Out of Order equipment is communicated with a date of reporting, anticipated date of 

rectification and information of fault.

on-going
System established and implemented and 

maintained.
CMgr (with GMs)

4 To approve programme of lifecycle maintenance works for 2019/20.
April - May  

2019

Lifecycle maintenance programme 

established.
CMgr

5 To implement equipment replacement programme for 2019/20. (CAPEX) 
April 2019 - 

July 2019
Programme implemented. CMgr (with GMs)

6 To review full equipment inventory for all leisure facilities.
April 2019 and 

on-going
Equipment inventory reviewed CMgr (with GMs)

FM6

Action Ref. Action Timescale Target / KPI Lead Manager

1 To maintain and Implement relevant continued service improvement plan.
April 2019 and 

on-going
Plan drawn up and maintained. CMgr (with GMs)

3 To undertake formal directional reviews for all centres As required
Health check undertaken and Quest 

maintained.
CMgr (with GMs)

Abbreviations

CMgr Contract Manager

GM General Manager

ME Marketing Executive

DFM Divisional Facilities Manager

EM Environmental Manager

DSCDMgr Divisional Sports and Community Development Manager

To maintain Quest accreditation at a minimum Good at Ferry Leisure Centre, very good at Leys Pool &  Leisure  and Barton Leisure Centres,  Good at Hinksey 

heated Outdoor Pool and Oxford  Ice Rink.

To ensure that high standards of repair and maintenance are achieved at all times

79



STAFFING

S1

Action Ref. Action Timescale Target / KPI Lead Manager

1
Review of Fusion's staffing structures is undertaken to ensure sites continue to 

have 'Right People, Right Place at the Right Time.      

April 2019  - 

March 2020
Staffing structures in place CMgr (with GMs)

2
To ensure the completion of formal annual appraisals for all staff within Oxford 

that work 20 hours per week or more .

April 2019  - 

March 2020
Appraisals completed. CMgr (with GMs)

3

To draw up a specific training and development plan for Oxford staff (in 

conjunction with Fusion's central HR team). Plans to include staff succession 

planning and implement

April 2019  - 

March 2020
Training and development plan drawn up. CMgr (with GMs)

4 To ensure full staff compliance for compulsory mandatory training
April 2019  - 

March 2020
Compliance training 100% CMgr (with GMs)

S2

Action Ref. Action Timescale Target / KPI Lead Manager

1
To ensure 100% compliance with all Fusion policies and procedures, specifically 

in respect of recruitment, initial induction and internal communication.

April 2019  - 

March 2020
100% compliance achieved. CMgr (with GMs)

2

Develop and implement action plan to maximise participation in Fusion 

Colleague Engagement Survey 2021 and increase trust index score by 

minimum 2 points

April 2019  - 

March 2020
Minimum of 70% participation achieved. CMgr (with GMs)

S3

Action Ref. Action Timescale Target / KPI Lead Manager

To create and implement a programme of promotion to establish Fusion as an 

employer of choice in Oxford.
CMgr (with GMs)

Plan to include attendance at job fairs and school careers events; proactive 

recruitment visibility in Oxford communities and at events.
CMgr (with GMs)

2
Work with recruitment software Springboard for external and internal 

recruitment

April 2019  - 

March 2020
Information collected and analysed. CMgr (with GMs)

3 To deliver induction training for staff in respect of equality and diversity.
April 2019  - 

March 2020
Training delivered. CMgr (with GMs)

4 Fusion 500 Apprentice scheme  - 2 X Leisure Professionals per site (target)
April 2019  - 

March 2020
Placements/Apprentices hosted CMgr (with GMs)

CMgr Contract Manager

GM General Manager

ME Marketing Executive

DSCDMgr Divisional Sports and Community Development Manager

RGN HR Regional Human Resource Manager

To ensure that the Right People are in the Right Place at the Right Time

To demonstrate a year-on-year improvement in staff satisfaction across each equality strand and overall

To ensure that the Fusion workforce in Oxford is as representative as possible of the local community

1
April 2019  - 

March 2020
Programme created.

80



MARKETING 

M1

Action Ref. Action Timescale Target / KPI Lead Manager

1
To continue to deliver PR communications in respect of the leisure contract and 

partnership overall

April 2019- 

March 2020
PR approach implemented. RMM (with CMgr)

2
To review and update the KPIs relating to the general awareness of the Oxford 

leisure facilities; increasing web hits by 1% on 2018/19.

April 2019- 

March 2020
Measurable KPIs reviewed. RMM (with CMgr)

3

To continue with indicative programme of general PR communications across the 

Oxford contract, with a specific aim of increasing awareness of the facilities. With 

focus and key target areas:  1) participation 2) things to do 3)schools  4) health & 

fitness 5) key groups (i.e. older & younger people, BAMER, those with an 

impairment, etc.)

April 2019 Programme established.

RMM (with CMgr 

,DSCM, GMs & 

CRM's)

4 To deliver the programme of general PR communications.
April 2019- 

March 2020
Programme implemented.

RMM (with CMgr 

,DSCM, GMs & 

CRM's)

5
To agree approach to Healthy Choices promotions and Healthy Vend machines 

across the Contract, linking in with the sugar smart campaign.

April 2019- 

March 2020
Programme implemented.

RMM (with CMgr 

,DSCM, GMs & 

CRM's)

6

To implement a programme of marketing to increase the visibility of leisure services 

to groups such as older people who may be less likely to engage with social media 

and on-line marketing channels 

April 2019 Programme implemented.

RMM (with CMgr, 

DSCM, GMs & 

CRM's)

7

To implement an agreed programme of joint working (including targeted 

campaigns), with OCC Communications and Branding team and other Community 

Services teams.

June 2019 - 

March 2020
Programme implemented. RMM (with CMgr)

M2

Action Ref. Action Timescale Target / KPI Lead Manager

2
To create a specific action plan to increase deprived usage, including increasing the 

Bonus concessionary and Choice memberships

3

Carry out targeted work in respect of deprived wards and areas of regeneration, 

50+ age group, females, BAMER and those with an impairment; work with relevant 

partners/stakeholders and review of core literature; engage with those who are less 

active.

M3

Action Ref. Action Timescale Target / KPI Lead Manager

1

Audit the Customer Journey presentation against the Fusion Integrated Management 

System guidance and develop any appropriate action plan for improvement; 

prioritising the Ice Rink facility

April 2020 Audit undertaken and plan developed.
RMM (with CMgr 

& GMs)

2
Continue to review the customer journey action plan and make updates where 

required.

April 2019 - 

March 2020
Action plan implemented.

RMM (with CMgr 

& GMs)

M4

Action Ref. Action Timescale Target / KPI Lead Manager

1

Ensure the website for the Oxford leisure facilities remains current and up-to date. 

This will include clear timetables and heightened promotion of the OCC funded free 

swimming schemes and Bonus Concessionary offer (subject to a review of the free 

swimming programme by OCC).

April  2019- 

March 2020
Website up to date and live RMM (with HoM)

2

To continue to utilise social media to reach members and general public including 

Facebook, Twitter and Instagram  - each centre has a social media champion who is 

trained by the groups wider marketing team

April  2019- 

March 2020
Action plan implemented.

RMM (with CMgr, 

DSCM, GMs & 

CRM's)

M5

Action Ref. Action Timescale Target / KPI Lead Manager

1
To continue to use social media to reach members and general public. Including 

Facebook, Twitter and Instagram

April 2019 - 

March 2020
Action plan implemented.

RMM (with CMgr 

,DSCM, GMs & 

CRM's)

2 To promote the Rewards Card scheme to over 8s
April 2019- 

March 2020
Action plan implemented.

RMM (with CMgr 

,DSCM, GMs & 

CRM's)

M6

Action Ref. Action Timescale Target / KPI Lead Manager

1
Continue with roll out of new collateral designs for core literature and sales 

materials 
April  2019 New materials launched and on site RMM (with HoM)

2
Reduce amount of print wastage by replacing print materials with on-line, electronic, 

social Media, apps etc. wherever possible. 

April 2019  - 

March 2020
Waste reduced. RMM (with HoM)

3 All sites to full implement the usage of the bespoke Marketing suite April  2019 New materials launched and on site RMM (with HoM)

M7

Action Ref. Action Timescale Target / KPI Lead Manager

1 To promote the Rewards Card scheme to over 8s
April 2019 - 

March 2020

Action plan implemented; New materials 

launched and on site

RMM (with CMgr 

,DSCM, GMs & 

CRM's)

2
To promote the Bonus Concessionary Offer and Free Swimming Schemes (Subject 

to OCC funding)

April 2019 - 

March 2020
on-going 

RMM (with CMgr 

,DSCM, GMs & 

CRM's)

Abbreviations:

CMgr Contract Manager

GM General Manager

RMM Regional Marketing Manager

DSCDM Divisional Sports and Community Development Manager

HoM Head of Marketing

April 2020 Plan created and implemented.
RMM/SCD (with 

GM's , CRM's)

1 April 2019 Plan created.
Develop membership marketing plan for the contract maintaining visibility of the 

Oxford branding.

To increase Reward Card usage, registration, Bonus Concessionary Offer & Free Swimming Schemes

To develop connections and outreach with local schools, youth clubs and Under18's

To launch new collateral designs and reduce print wastage

To deliver a proactive and positive approach to PR, such that facility and service successes are communicated and celebrated

To deliver a 1% increase in total membership

RMM (with GMs, 

CRM's)

To establish and maintain the highest standards of facility presentation

To establish and maintain the highest standards of web and social media promotion

81



SPORTS AND COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT

SCD 1

Action Ref. Action Timescale Target / KPI Lead Manager

2
To establish a calendar of consultation/liaison with all specified 

stakeholders.

April - May 

2019
Calendar established. DSCDMgr

3
To agree a calendar of meeting dates with key representatives of OCC 

Sports & Physical Activity team to initiate joint working.
April 2019 Dates arranged DSCDMgr

4
To agree joint sport and community development objectives and action 

plan with OCC Sports Physical Activity Team for 2019 /20.

April - May 

2019
Objectives/action plan agreed. DSCDMgr

5 To implement joint Sport and Community Development action plans
June 2019 - 

March 2020
Plan delivered DSCDMgr

6

To use  'This Girl Can' Campaign to drive female participation across the 

centres 

June 2019 - 

March 2021 Increase usage in KPI area.
DSCDMgr

7

Improve liaison and communication with local communities and residents, 

prioritising areas of regeneration and engaging with those who are least 

inactive.

Quarterly 

updates

Programmes and calendars established 

and completed.
DSCDMgr (with GMs)

8

 Work with the OCC Sports Physical Activity Team   and Youth Ambition 

Teams to improve relationships with schools and youth clubs to promote 

health and fitness - work with 5 identified schools.

April  2019 - 

March 2020
Plan completed and implemented SCD (with RMM, CMgr ,DSCM, GMs & CRM's)

SCD 2

Action Ref. Action Timescale Target / KPI Lead Manager

2
To establish a calendar of regular consultation/liaison with all registered 

clubs.
April 19 Calendar established. DSCDMgr (with GMs)

4
To maintain links with other key sports clubs within Oxford and to 

establish a list for consultation/liaison.
July 2019 Links maintained/created DSCDMgr  

5 To establish a process of consultation/liaison with other key sports clubs.

July - 

September 

2019

Programme established. DSCDMgr  

6 To implement process of consultation/liaison with other key sports clubs.
October 2019 - 

March 2020
Programme implemented. DSCDMgr  

7

To work in partnership with key local clubs inc:-

City of Oxford Swimming Club

Oxford United and local football clubs 

Blackbird Football Clubs                                                               

Oxford Swans Disability Swimming Club                                                         

Oxford City Stars Ice Hockey 

On-going plan established & implemented DSCDMgr  

SCD 3

Action Ref. Action Timescale Target / KPI Lead Manager

April 19
Reviews undertaken and revised 

programmes implemented
DSCDMgr (with GMs & ME)

August 19
Reviews undertaken and revised 

programmes implemented
DSCDMgr (with GMs & ME)

December 19
Reviews undertaken and revised 

programmes implemented
DSCDMgr (with GMs & ME)

4
To formally review opening hours, Inc Bank Holidays at all leisure 

facilities and prepare proposals for change and implement as required.
April 2019

Review undertaken and any proposals 

prepared.
DSCDMgr (with GMs)

Programme implemented.

Case Studies produced

7
To implement a drop in child care service, based on OCC agreement and 

funding.

April 2019 - 

June 19
Service implemented CMgr (with GMs)

 

To maintain positive and proactive partnerships with key local stakeholders and welcome new stakeholder opportunities

1
To review and update the list of key local stakeholder organisations and 

contacts within Oxford.
April 2020 DSCDMgr

Strategy and Plan Produced

To review centre programmes at all facilities 3 time a year and identify 

opportunities for any further sessions in each case; ensuring that our 

review methodology reflects and weights the diversity of communities, 

health and social value, alongside income and participation numbers.

3

To develop and maintain positive and proactive relationships with local sports clubs

1 On-going

1 DSCDMgr

Programme established. DSCDMgr (with GMs)
To establish a programme of on-going support for registered clubs, based 

on the outputs of consultation/liaison.

3

Summer 

events
DSCDMgr (with GMs)

April 20

6
Pop Up taster sessions in communities to further reduce barriers to 

participation.

List specified.

To review and maintain  an up to date register of all sports clubs,  and  

community groups and relevant organisations currently using the leisure 

facilities.

To ensure that all facility programmes are exciting, innovative and attractive to users and potential users

Register up-to-date DSCDMgr (with GMs)

Review, revise and implement the Swimming Pool Programmes

On-going

82



SCD 4

Action Ref. Action Timescale Target / KPI Lead Manager

1
To update and maintain the database of potential external funding 

sources, at national, regional and local levels.
June 2019 Database updated. DSCDMgr

3 To implement relevant action plans.
July 2019 - 

March 2020
Action plans implemented. DSCDMgr

4
To communicate to GMs the funding opportunities and the utilisation of 

any funding obtained.

September 

2019
Communications delivered. DSCDMgr

SCD 5

Action Ref. Action Timescale Target / KPI Lead Manager

1
To ensure that all facilities provide an up-to-date "Sports and Community 

Development" notice board.
On-going Notice board provided. DSCDMgr

3 To ensure we are a partner in the Older peoples Day Oct-19 Plan created DSCDMgr

4
To support GO Active Get Healthy project, work together on programmes 

to get people active 
On-going Plan created DSCDMgr

6
 Monitor, evaluate and review the GP Exercise Referral Programme, 

recommending changes to partners at County referral meetings 

Evaluations and reviews undertaken 

with meetings attended
DSCDMgr

7 To attend health sub group meetings where beneficial Attend Meetings DSCDMgr

Plan created DSCDMgr

Visits made and sign-ups increased DSCDMgr

9 To continue to support Cardiac phase 3 rehab at Leys Pools On-going Work in partnership DSCDMgr & GM's

10
Proactively engage, implement , promote to demonstrate commitment to 

the Sugar Smart Oxford initiative. 
On-going Work in partnership DSCDMgr & GM's

11
Develop new initiatives with key partners (i.e. Public Health, Clinical 

Practitioners).

April 2019 -

March 2020
Work in partnership DSCDMgr & GM's

12 Further demonstrate impact, outcome and social value of delivery
April 2019-

March 2020

A minimum of one case study produced and 

communicated each month
DSCDMgr & GM's

13
Work in in partnership with the Council and other key stakeholders to 

develop and promote a Drowning prevention strategy for the city

April 2019-

March 2020
Work in partnership DSCDMgr & GM's

SCD 6

Action Ref. Action Timescale Target / KPI Lead Manager

1
To establish a calendar of regular consultation/liaison with all registered 

schools and education groups.
April 19 Calendar established. DSCDMgr (with GMs)

2 To develop and target at least 4 activities within schools. Apr-19 Activity Programme established. DSCDMgr (with GMs)

3
To maintain a continuous improvement plan in relation to schools and 

colleges development.
On-going Programme implemented. DSCDMgr (with GMs)

4 Attend the 'Schools Liaison Group' meetings On-going Meeting attended DSCDMgr  

5
Be an active stakeholder in the planning and delivery of the Oxford School 

Games and the Oxford disabled Games. 

April 19 - 

March 20

Games planned and delivered with 

Fusion contribution
DSCDMgr  

6 To lead and offer a Schools Swimming Service
April 19 - 

March 20

Liaison established and maintain 

service with schools.
DSCDMgr  

8
To offer local schools the opportunities to get them down to the ice rink 

and experience the rink  

October 19 - 

February 20
At least 500 pupils attending DSCDMgr  

9
To develop a school event calendar to celebrate sporting events for the 

centres 

April 2019 - 

June 19
Programme implemented DSCDMgr  

SCD 7

Action Ref. Action Timescale Target / KPI Lead Manager

1
To ensure the Fusion Badminton Development Plan is delivered in Oxford 

leisure facilities
April 19 Calendar established. DSCDMgr (with GMs)

2
To implement the 'Racket Packet' Junior Badminton session. 

Apr-19
Programme implemented DSCDMgr (with GMs)

Abbreviations:

CMgr Contract Manager

GM General Manager

ME Marketing Executive

DSCDMgr Divisional Sports and Community Development Manager

Badminton development 

Develop & maintain relationships with schools, educational groups and community groups

To positively promote the benefits of healthy living and active lifestyles

2
April - June 

2019

April - June 

2019

April - June 

2019

Sept 2019

May - July 

2019

8

Programme created

To actively develop links with GP surgeries to increase Exercise on 

Referral numbers  

Partners identified.

Opportunities identified and action 

plans developed.
DSCDMgr

DSCDMgr

To review stakeholder partners for potential new partnerships who can 

support the promotion of healthy living.

2 To identify specific opportunities and to develop relevant action plans.

5

To proactively explore opportunities for external funding

Create and deliver a programme of activities utilising funding 

opportunities available 

DSCDMgr (with GMs)

83



FACILITY DEVELOPMENTS

FD1

Action Ref. Action Timescale Target / KPI Lead Manager

1

To develop business cases for potential facility developments to be 

incorporated into 2020/21 business planning / Annual Service Planning 

processes.

April 2019 

and on-going

Business cases developed and presented 

to the Council representative
CMgr

2

To continue to explore opportunities for child care provision facilities at Ferry 

Leisure Centre; Include options as business case/s in the presentation to the 

Council representative.

April 2019 

and on-going
Feasibility study produced and presented CMgr

3 To work as Oxford City Councils preferred supplier of Leisure Provision
April 2019 - 

March 2020
Partnership & Contractual opportunities CMgr

4 Investigate potential of a dedicated sales area with in key facilities.
April 2019 - 

March 2021
Business cases developed CMgr

Abbreviations:

CMgr Contract Manager

GM General Manager

ME Marketing Executive

HoF Head of Facilities

DBMO

DSCDMgr Divisional Sports and Community Development Manager

To develop a programme of facility development proposals in the leisure facilities, and where these are agreed deliver such developments

84



PARTNERSHIP DEVELOPMENT

PD1

Action Ref. Action Timescale Target / KPI Lead Manager

2
To ensure 100% compliance with Fusion policies and procedures in respect of 

client liaison, including client forums

April 2019 

and on-going
100% compliance. CMgr

3
To fully agree the format, content and timing of all reporting arrangements for 

2019/20. To ensure 100% compliance with agreed reporting arrangements.
April 2020 All details agreed. CMgr

4
To submit and present the draft 2020/21 Annual Service Plan to the Leisure 

Partnership Board. With the final copy being submitted by March 
January 2020 Draft Annual Service Plan submitted. BMgr

5
To review relevant partnership risk registers at Officer Operations & the 

Leisure partnership Board meetings at least twice a year
Mar-20

Risk registered reviewed; mitigating actions 

and ownership understood; outcomes 

minuted

BMgr

PD2

Action Ref. Action Timescale Target / KPI Lead Manager

1
To liaise with the Council to agree a specific list of potential opportunities and 

implement as jointly agreed.

April 2019 

onwards
List identified and course of action agreed. BMgr

2 To continually propose added value and increased facility provision if necessary 2019/20
Business case developed/amended and 

presented to the Council representative.
BMgr

PD3

Action Ref. Action Timescale Target / KPI Lead Manager

To review formal processes for the development of 

relationships/communications/liaison between representatives of Fusion and 

the Council

To review the monthly performance report template

Abbreviations:

DBMgr Contract Manager

GM General Manager

ME Marketing Executive

DSCDMgr Divisional Sports and Community Development Manager

To ensure 100% compliance with all agreed meeting, reporting and performance monitoring requirements

To explore opportunities for the Council and Fusion to extend their relationship in respect of other facilities in Oxford

April 2019 - 

On-going
All details agreed. CMgr

To fully agree the dates, agendas and required attendees for all client-

contractor meetings in 2019/20. To ensure 100% compliance with agreed 

client-contractor meeting arrangements, unless all parties agree to any 

changes.

1
April - June 

2019
Processes reviewed. CMgr

To optimise the development of the partnership between Fusion and Oxford City Council

1

85



RISK ANALYSIS 

INTRODUCTION:

RISK ANALYSIS:

 POTENTIAL RISK POTENTIAL IMPACT SEVERITY LIKELIHOOD WEIGHTING MITIGATING ACTIONS

RESIDUAL 

SEVERITY

RESIDUAL 

LIKELIHOOD

RESIDUAL 

WEIGHTING

Board member with specific responsibility for H&S

Specialist H&S Manager in post

Comprehensive H&S management policies and 

procedures in place

Regular monitoring and on-going reporting of relevant 

H&S KPIs

Comprehensive H&S training undertaken

System of internal audit

External accreditation with associated audits and 

inspections

Robust operational and quality management systems 

established

Comprehensive customer feedback systems 

established to gather and analyse customer opinions

Comprehensive on-going monitoring of performance in 

respect of key service criteria

Establishment of detailed annual service plans setting 

out strategic objectives and required actions

Robust operational and quality management systems 

established

Comprehensive customer feedback systems 

established to gather and analyse customer opinions

Comprehensive on-going monitoring of performance in 

respect of key service criteria

Regular review of relevant competition on a local, 

regional and national basis

Expert support from key advisors, including legal, HR, 

H&S etc.

Robust operational and quality management systems 

established

On-going external and internal audit and inspection 

regimes

Specialist ICT Manager in post, with expert off-site 

third party organisations providing support

Corporate ICT recovery plan established as part of 

business continuity plan

All data backed up daily

Corporate ICT systems housed in a secure 

environment

Corporate business continuity plan in place and 

regularly reviewed

Division-specific business continuity plan to be 

developed

All data backed up daily

Corporate ICT systems housed in a secure 

environment

Fire and related risk assessments in place on a site-by-

site basis and regularly reviewed

Emergency Action Plans in place on a site-by-site 

basis and regularly reviewed

4 2 8

3 2 6

3 3 9

4 1 4

44 2 8

4 1 4

 

As part of strategic business planning at a corporate and divisional level, potential risks to Fusion's business are identified and assessed.  Their impact and 

likelihood is analysed and informs operational, resource and financial planning.  At Fusion's corporate level, these plans are kept under review and monitored on a 

monthly basis by Board committees and by the Executive Management Team.  The plans are also reviewed formerly at each quarterly Board meeting.  Specific 

high-risk areas (e.g. health and safety and financial management) are also subject to specialist management, internal compliance monitoring and external audit on 

a regular basis.

At a divisional level, the Contract Manager is responsible for creating and maintaining a division-specific risk analysis and for working in conjunction with 

colleagues to continually monitor the implementation and effectiveness of mitigating actions identified within the risk analysis.

3

The risk analysis set out below represents an amalgam of relevant organisational risks as identified within Fusion's corporate risk analysis and specific risks as 

identified directly in respect of Fusion's delivery of services within Oxford.

Operational health and 

safety
12

Staff or customer injury, 

product or service liability, 

reduced ability to operate

8

Increased competition

Client and customer 

dissatisfaction, loss of 

income, financial penalties, 

reputational damage, loss 

of future opportunity

8

3

4

4

4

Failure of ICT systems

Non-compliance with 

relevant legislation and 

regulations

8

4

4

Poor service provision 4

Damage to buildings or 

equipment through fire, 

flood or similar

Loss of data, loss of 

income, interruption of 

business, contractual 

default, client and 

customer dissatisfaction

2

9

2

Fines, contractual 

penalties, default, censure
1

Loss of data, loss of 

income, interruption of 

business, contractual 

default, client and 

customer dissatisfaction

Reduced use of facilities, 

loss of income, reduced 

development potential

2

86



 POTENTIAL RISK POTENTIAL IMPACT SEVERITY LIKELIHOOD WEIGHTING MITIGATING ACTIONS

RESIDUAL 

SEVERITY

RESIDUAL 

LIKELIHOOD

RESIDUAL 

WEIGHTING

Financial control procedures established and audited 

regularly
Scheme of delegation established with separation of 

duties, authorisation limits and regular board 

reporting

Insurable risks covered where possible

5-year strategic plan in place with 5-year objectives 

and targets reviewed and set on an annual basis

Annual business plan in place setting out key aims, 

objectives and policies with defined financial plans and 

budgets

Annual service plans established on a divisional basis, 

setting our objectives, targets and planned actions

Comprehensive monitoring of financial and operational 

performance

Clear client liaison policies and procedures in place to 

ensure that forward strategy continues to be shaped 

by the objectives and requirements of client partners

Established and properly resourced Executive 

Management Team, Senior Management Team and 

Divisional teams.

Clear policies and procedures in respect of internal 

communication, knowledge management and quality 

management systems

Proactive recruitment policies in order to identify and 

appoint relevant staff.
Comprehensive training, appraisal and personal 

development policies and procedures to ensure 

appropriate progression of staff.

Comprehensive succession planning across the 

business
Establishment of appropriate notice periods to ensure 

that sufficient time is available for recruitment and 

replacement

Appropriately resourced central HR team, supported 

by relevant specialist advisors

Comprehensive recruitment and staff management 

procedures
Comprehensive training programmes for all line 

managers, with published training and development 

plan
Staff Partnership and Consultative committee 

established together with regular dialogue with staff 

representatives

Formal recognition of key unions and regular dialogue 

with relevant representatives
Clear and comprehensive client liaison procedures 

including establishment of agreed meeting and 

reporting schedules

Establishment of Partnership Board to provide 

guidance and support in relationship

Establishment of an agreed Annual Service Plan, with 

shared objectives, agreed actions and timescales

Regular performance monitoring, including service 

standards and compliance with the annual service 

plan.

Multi-faceted relationship between Fusion and Oxford 

City Council

Appropriately resourced central FM team, supported 

by relevant specialist advisors

Relevant and dedicated divisional resource

Employment of specialist FM contractor to provide 

support in delivery of PPM and reactive maintenance

Establishment of an agreed programme of backlog and 

lifecycle (substantive) works

Regular monitoring and inspection of facility condition 

and maintenance processes

Key:

Severity of impact:

is the measure of magnitude of harm or loss that Fusion and/or Fusion's partner may suffer, ranging from 1 to 5, where:

5 is "high" impact:  i.e. will cause shutdown of the business leading to significant loss of money and surplus which is capable of bankrupting the business;

3 is "medium" impact:  i.e. will cause interruption of a critical part of the business that results in significant but containable loss;

1 is "low" impact:  i.e. will cause interruption that leads to no material loss.

Likelihood of occurrence:

is the possibility that the threat event will occur, ranging from 1 to 5, where:

5 is "high "likelihood:  i.e. it is likely that the threat will occur in the next year;

3 is "medium "likelihood:  i.e. it is possible that the threat will occur in the next year;

1 is "low "likelihood:  i.e. it is highly unlikely that the threat will occur in the next year;

3 6

3 2 6

3 2 9

3 2 6

3 2 6

3 2 6

28

Employment disputes

Staff dissatisfaction, loss 

of income, disruption of 

business, client and 

customer dissatisfaction, 

reputational damage

3 2

Fraud or financial error

Lack of direction, strategy 

and forward planning

9

Financial loss, reputational 

damage, regulatory action, 

client dissatisfaction

3

6

6

6

Client dissatisfaction, 

contractual dispute, 

negative impact on staff 

and customer service

3

Financial loss, reputational 

damage, client and 

customer dissatisfaction

3 2

2

2

6

4

Deterioration of facilities

Client and customer 

dissatisfaction, loss of 

income, financial penalties, 

reputational damage, loss 

of future opportunity, 

unplanned facility closure

3

Loss of key staff

Negative impact on 

operational and financial 

performance, loss of 

divisional and corporate 

knowledge, damage to 

relationships with client 

partners

2

Poor relationship with 

Oxford City Council
3

87



This page is intentionally left blank



Title Risk description Opp/ threat Cause Consequence I P I P I P Control description Due date Status Progress % Action Owner

Satisfaction

Dissatisfaction with 

delivery of leisure 

provision

Threat

Lack of intrinsic linkage 

within the Plan to enable 

delivery of the Council’s 

Corporate Plan and 

priorities; Poor 

development of objectives 

and targets in respect of 

achieving the council’s 

aspirations and vision

Stakeholder 

dissatisfaction, loss of 

income, reputation 

damage, loss of future 

opportunity.

26.04.19 Head of Service 2 2 2 2 1 1

Establishment of a detailed 

Annual Service Plan that 

sets out the strategic 

objectives and required 

actions; with a 

comprehensive on-going 

monitoring of performance 

in respect of key service 

criteria.

On-going 

governance
Open 75%

Leisure & Performance 

Manager

Corporate Priorities

The 2019/2020 Annual 

Service Plan strategic 

aims do not reflect 

corporate priorities

Threat

Lack of assimilation with 

the Councils Corporate 

Plan and priorities

Value for money not 

achieved; failure to 

provide the aspiration of 

a World-Class leisure 

service.

26.04.19 Head of Service 3 3 2 2 2 1

Strategic direction from the 

Leisure Partnership Board 

and Active Communities 

Performance Board;

Effective engagement with 

representatives of the 

Leisure Partnership Board 

and other internal and 

external officers; 

Robust development 

process for the delivery of 

the 2019/ 2020 Fusion 

Lifestyle Annual Service 

Plan.

On-going 

governance
Open 75%

Leisure & Performance 

Manager

Savings

Failure to achieve the 

commitment to 

accessible savings

Threat

Lack of financial 

consideration and planning 

within the delivery strands 

of the 2019/ 2020 Annual 

Service Plan.

Value for money not 

achieved.
26.04.19 Head of Service 3 3 2 2 3 1

Robust performance and 

financial monitoring 

procedures to detect 

variations and put in 

mitigating actions.

On-going 

governance
Open 75%

Leisure & Performance 

Manager

Business Continuity
Business Continuity 

Planning
Threat

Failure to maintain an up to 

date Business Continuity 

Plan.

Leisure facilities unable 

to operate for a period of 

time.

26.04.19 Fusion Lifestyle 3 2 2 2 2 2

Regular review of current 

Business Continuity Plans 

and annual testing of plan.

On-going 

governance
Open 75%

Leisure & Performance 

Manager

Reputation Reputational Risk Threat

Failure to manage 

repercussions following a 

serious event at a facility

Loss of Council 

reputation 
26.04.19 Fusion Lifestyle 2 3 1 2 1 2

Emergency Plan for control 

of media exposure.

Health & Safety monitoring 

and reporting regime in 

place and externally 

audited.

On-going 

governance
Open 75%

Leisure & Performance 

Manager

Current Residual Controls

Appendix Four: Risk Implications

Date Raised Owner Gross

89

JMitchell_6
Typewritten Text
Appendix 3

JMitchell_7
Typewritten Text
xx

JMitchell_8
Typewritten Text
x



Contractor becomes 

insolvent.
Business Continuity Threat

Contractor goes into 

administration; 

Full or partial termination 

of the LMC; leisure 

facility closures; reduced 

service; financial impact; 

negative publicity.

26.04.19 Head of Service 2 1 2 2 2 1

Prompt raising of the 

management fee and any 

late payment follows debt 

recovery procedures; 

Review of the Annual 

Statement of accounts 

when received from the 

leisure provider and 

reviewed by OCC Finance 

Officers. Open and 

transparent local and senior 

stakeholder relationship 

management; Strong 

contract management 

governance.

On-going 

governance
Open 75%

Leisure & Performance 

Manager

Fusions capacity to 

deliver service due to 

significant growth

Business Continuity Threat

Contractor over stretches 

available resources and 

funding.

Lack of investment to the 

Oxford contract; profit 

from the Oxford contract 

reallocated across the 

wider leisure portfolio.

26.04.19 Head of Service 2 1 3 3 2 1

Strong Contract 

management governance 

regime; Open and 

transparent local and senior 

stakeholder relationship 

management.

On-going 

governance
Open 75%

Leisure & Performance 

Manager

Changes in the market 

sector impacting on 

Fusion as a Charity

Business Continuity Threat

Brexit; Increasing 

competition; Health & 

Safety Compliance

Lack of investment to the 

Oxford contract; profit 

from the Oxford contract 

reallocated across the 

wider leisure portfolio.

26.04.19 Fusion Lifestyle 2 1 3 3 2 1

Fusion keeping up to date 

on regulatory changes and 

best practice; design, 

maintain and review 

policies and procedures; 

design and operation of a 

comprehensive audit 

programme; report audit 

findings and other issues to 

it's Trustees.

On-going 

governance
Open 75% Fusion Lifestyle

90



Appendix 4 
 

 

Appendix Four:   
 
Fusion Lifestyle 2019/2020 Annual Service Plan for the management of the Council’s leisure facilities. 
 
Initial Equalities Impact Assessment 
 
       

                
   

Service Area: 
 
Community Services 

Section:   
 
Active Communities 

Key person responsible for the assessment:  
 
Leisure and Performance Manager 

Date of Assessment:  
 
26 April 2019 

Name of the Policy/ Plan to be assessed: 
 

 Leisure and Wellbeing Strategy 2015 to 
2020. 

 Fusion Lifestyle’s 2019/ 2020 Annual 
Service Plan for the continuous 
development, management and operation 
of leisure services in Oxford – as 
recommended by the Leisure Partnership 
Board. 

Is this a new or existing policy Existing 

91



Appendix 4 
 

 

1. Briefly describe the 
aims, objectives and 
purpose of the policy/ 
plan 

The overriding objectives of the leisure management contract are:  
 

 To develop world-class leisure facilities and to improve the value for money they offer; 
 

 To reduce the overall subsidy for leisure services, prior to 2009 the subsidy per user was one of the 
most expensive in the country; 

 

 Alongside the benefits of a successful contract such as increased participation, an upward cycle of 
continued improvement, and an improved public realm, there is also a surplus share arrangement that 
encourages the Council to support Fusion Lifestyle to exceed their contractual financial targets and 
provide further leisure investment. 

 
The quality and service standards are high and facilities will be accessible with diverse and with inclusive 
programmes.  
 

 Charging at market rate for those that can afford and running a highly cost effective service so that a 
surplus is created to fund a progressive concessions programme. 
 

 Central part of the Corporate Plan for 2019-2023 
 

The vision for delivery of leisure facility provision is to: 
 

 Continuously improve the service for all users 

 Reduce the subsidy per user 

 Have greater energy efficiency from the leisure facilities 

 Provide modern world-class leisure facilities to enhance the quality of life for everyone. 

92



Appendix 4 
 

 

2. Are there any 
associated objectives 
of the policy/ plan, 
please explain 

The Leisure Facility Review (May 2009) detailed the Councils strategic approach to developing a city wide 
leisure offer that includes all facilities irrespective of ownership across the city. The review detailed a 
sustainable way forward for our leisure facilities. 
 
The Leisure & Wellbeing Strategy 2015 to 2020 is the services overarching strategy; the delivery of the 
strategy is supported by the Green Space Strategy, the Playing Pitches Strategy and the Youth Ambition 
Strategy. The strategy has three priorities: 

 
Objective 1 – A world class leisure offer   
The leisure offer is anywhere sport and physical activity can take place. Alongside traditional facilities 
such as leisure centres it includes parks, community centres, waterways, children’s centres, business 
premises and community buildings such as churches and village halls.  

 
Objective 2 – Our focus sports 
This strategy continues to designate focus sports. The Sport Team will remain focused on creating 
innovative and inclusive sporting pathways that drive up participation through a joined up leisure offer. 

 
Objective 3 – Partnership working  
Much of the progress in recent years has been achieved through effective partnership working and 
taking a place leadership approach to increasing physical activity levels. The Council’s Sport and 
Leisure team have an excellent reputation; this has helped bring in external funding and resulted in far 
greater outcomes being achieved and this approach needs to be built on. 

 
 
 
 

3. Who is intended to 
benefit from the 
policy/ plan and in 
what way 

 Users of  all leisure facilities in Oxford; 

 Local tax payers; 

 Target Groups: Those under the age of 17 and over the age of 60 years; Black, Asian, Minority, 
Ethnic and Refugees groups; those with impairment; Women and girls; Those resident in the most 
deprived areas of the City; those on a low income (and their dependants). 

 City communities. 
 
 

93



Appendix 4 
 

 

4. What outcomes are wanted from this policy/ plan? 
 
The plan is intrinsically linked to enabling the delivery of the Council’s Corporate Plan, and has been developed to clearly set the 
objectives and targets in respect of achieving the council’s aspirations and vision for delivering modern world-class leisure services. 
 
The vision for delivery of leisure facility provision is to: 
 

 Continuously improve the service for all users 

 Reduce the subsidy per user 

 Provide greater energy efficiency from the leisure facilities 

 Offer modern world-class leisure facilities to enhance the quality of life for everyone. 

 Targeted improvements in use by under-represented groups, women, older people, BME. 
 

 
 

 

5. What factors/forces 
could contribute/ 
detract from the 
outcomes? 

 

 The general economic climate. 

 Competition from the wider leisure industry 

 Health & Safety legislation. 
 

     

 

6. Who are the main 
stakeholders in 
relation to the policy/ 
plan 

- Oxford City 
Council; 
- Councillors; 
- Fusion 
Lifestyle; 
- Facility users; 
- Residents; 
- Partners 
- Communities 

7. Who implements the policy 
and who is responsible for the 
policy/ plan? 

Community Services – Active Communities; Head of 
Service; Executive Director Community Services 
 
Fusion Lifestyle – Contract Manager 

8. Are there concerns 
that the policy/ plan 
could have a 
differential impact on 
racial groups? 

 
Y 

 
No 

94



Appendix 4 
 

 

What existing 
evidence (either 
presumed or 
otherwise) do you 
have for this? 

A wide offer of inclusive membership options and concessionary prices are available supporting affordability 
and participation opportunity. 
 
Fusion Lifestyle shares the Council’s commitment to equality and diversity ensuring that services are reflective 
and responsive to local need. Their core charitable objectives focus on the provision of recreational and 
sporting services in the interests of social welfare; special facilities for target groups; and promoting community 
participation.  
 
Key elements of Fusions sports and community development plan are: 
 

 Research; Consultation; Programming; Pricing; Promotion; Partnerships. 
 
There is no pricing differentiation due to racial or cultural group. 
 
 

  

95



Appendix 4 
 

 

9. Are there 
concerns that 
the policy could 
have a 
differential 
impact due to 
gender? 

Y No 

What existing 
evidence (either 
presumed or 
otherwise) do 
you have for 
this? 

A wide offer of inclusive membership options and concessionary prices are available supporting affordability and 
participation opportunity. 
 
Fusion Lifestyle shares the Council’s commitment to equality and diversity ensuring that services are reflective and 
responsive to local need. Their core charitable objectives focus on the provision of recreational and sporting 
services in the interests of social welfare; special facilities for target groups; and promoting community participation.  
 
Key elements of Fusions sports and community development plan are: 
 

 Research; Consultation; Programming; Pricing; Promotion; Partnerships. 
 
There is no pricing differentiation due to gender.  
 
Active Women has been a project driven by Sport England to get more women from disadvantaged communities, 
and more women caring for children, playing sport. The sessions are specifically designed for local women and aim 
to make it as easy as possible to participate and provision includes tennis, jogging, football, netball, badminton, 
trampolining, basketball and swimming. 
 
 

  

96



Appendix 4 
 

 

10. Are there 
concerns that 
the policy/ plan 
could have a 
differential 
impact due 
impairment? 

Y No 

What existing 
evidence (either 
presumed or 
otherwise) do 
you have for 
this? 

 
A wide offer of inclusive membership options and concessionary prices are available supporting affordability and 
participation opportunity. 
 
Fusion Lifestyle shares the Council’s commitment to equality and diversity ensuring that services are reflective and 
responsive to local need. Their core charitable objectives focus on the provision of recreational and sporting services 
in the interests of social welfare; special facilities for target groups; and promoting community participation.  
 
Key elements of Fusions sports and community development plan are: 
 

 Research; Consultation; Programming; Pricing; Promotion; Partnerships. 
 
Those entitled to disability benefits, and their dependants are entitled to excellent discounts through the Bonus 
concessionary membership scheme. 
 
Fusion Lifestyle has an active partnership with the disability swimming group ‘Oxford Swans’ who hold sessions at 
Ferry Leisure Centre and Leys Pools and Ferry Leisure Centre. There is also a good relationship with Kids Enjoy 
Exercise Now (KEEN), who are a UK registered Charity providing sporting, recreational and social activities to 
people with mental and physical disabilities, and special needs. 
 
Facilities comply with DDA legislation and development schemes progressed in partnership with Fusion Lifestyle 
give full consideration to needs of this target group. 
 

  

97



Appendix 4 
 

 

11. Are there 
concerns that 
the policy/plan 
could have a 
differential 
impact on 
people due to 
sexual 
orientation? 

Y No 

What existing 
evidence (either 
presumed or 
otherwise) do 
you have for 
this? 

 
A wide offer of inclusive membership options and concessionary prices are available supporting affordability and 
participation opportunity. 
 
Fusion Lifestyle shares the Council’s commitment to equality and diversity ensuring that services are reflective and 
responsive to local need. Their core charitable objectives focus on the provision of recreational and sporting services 
in the interests of social welfare; special facilities for target groups; and promoting community participation.  
 
Key elements of Fusions sports and community development plan are: 
 

 Research; Consultation; Programming; Pricing; Promotion; Partnerships. 
 
There is no pricing differentiation due to sexual orientation. 
 

  

98



Appendix 4 
 

 

12. Are there concerns that the 
policy/ plan could have a 
differential impact on people 
due to their age? 

Y No 

What existing evidence (either 
presumed or otherwise) do you 
have for this? 

 
A wide offer of inclusive membership options and concessionary prices are available supporting 
affordability and participation opportunity. 
 
Fusion Lifestyle shares the Council’s commitment to equality and diversity ensuring that services are 
reflective and responsive to local need. Their core charitable objectives focus on the provision of 
recreational and sporting services in the interests of social welfare; special facilities for target groups; 
and promoting community participation.  
 
Key elements of Fusions sports and community development plan are: 
 

 Research; Consultation; Programming; Pricing; Promotion; Partnerships. 
 
Concessionary fees and charges are available to these targeted groups. Additionally the Council 
continues to provide targeted free swimming and free swimming lessons for those aged under 17 
years of age and resident in the City. 
 
Fusion offer Primetime sessions for those aged 50 years and over. 
 

 
  

99



Appendix 4 
 

 

 
  

13. Are there concerns that the 
policy/plan could have a 
differential impact on people 
due to their religious belief? 

Y No 

What existing evidence (either 
presumed or otherwise) do you 
have for this? 

 
A wide offer of inclusive membership options and concessionary prices are available supporting 
affordability and participation opportunity. 
 
Fusion Lifestyle shares the Council’s commitment to equality and diversity ensuring that services are 
reflective and responsive to local need. Their core charitable objectives focus on the provision of 
recreational and sporting services in the interests of social welfare; special facilities for target groups; 
and promoting community participation.  
 
Key elements of Fusions sports and community development plan are: 
 

 Research; Consultation; Programming; Pricing; Promotion; Partnerships. 
 
There is no pricing differentiation due to religious belief. 
 
Fusion activity programming includes ladies only sessions and swimming lessons (i.e. Barton 
Leisure Centre, Ferry Leisure Centre and Leys Pools and Leisure Centre). 
 

100



Appendix 4 
 

 

23. Could the differential 
impact identified in 8-13 
amount to there being 
the potential for adverse 
impact in this policy/ 
plan? 

Y No 

24. Can this adverse impact be justified on the grounds of promoting 
equality of opportunity for one group? Or any other reason 

Y No 

25. Should the policy/ 
plan proceed to a partial 
impact assessment? 

Y No 

If Yes, is there enough evidence to proceed to a full EIA: No 

Date on which Partial or Full impact assessment to be completed by n/a 

 
Signed (completing officer): _Lucy Cherry__       Signed (Lead Officer) __Ian Brooke__ 
 
Team members and service areas that were involved in this process: 

 
Head of Community Services 
Active Communities Manager 

 Diversity & Inclusion Manager 
Leisure and Performance Manager 
   

 

17. Are there implications for the Service 
Plans?  

YES No 
18. Date the Service Plan will be 
updated 

1 April 
2019 

19. Date copy 
sent to  
Diversity & 
Inclusion 
Manager  
 

 

20. Date reported to Equalities Board:  n/a 
21. Date to Scrutiny (4 June 
2019) and CEB (12 June 2019) 

22. Date published 

101



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

. 

 

To: Cabinet 

Date: 10 July 2019 

Report of: Regeneration and Major Projects Service Manager  

Title of Report:  Update on progress with development at Barton Park.  

 

Summary and recommendations 

Purpose of report: The Cabinet is asked to note the progress made with the 
development of Barton Park by the Joint Venture and to 
note the update in relation to the purchase of the 
affordable housing.   

Key decision: No 

Cabinet Member: Councillor Ed Turner - Member for Finance and Asset 
Management 

Councillor Rowley – Member for Affordable Housing 

Corporate Priority: Meeting Housing Needs  

Policy Framework: Housing and Homelessness Strategy. 

 

Recommendations: That the Cabinet resolves to: 

 

 

1. 

 

Note the progress made by Barton Oxford LLP in bringing forward 
development at Barton Park; 

2. Note the current financial position in relation to potential payments from the 
Joint Venture;  

3. Note the progress of the purchase of affordable housing on the site and the 
arrangements between the Council and its Housing Company (OCHIL) for 
ownership; and 

4. Require quarterly reports to be made to the Council’s Shareholder body 
(which will have an expanded remit to receive reports from companies and 
joint ventures which do not have shareholders, such as Barton Oxford LLP) 
on the overall progress of the Barton Park development, to include 
information on overall delivery of housing, with particular reference to social 
rented homes, and the financial performance of the project in general. 

  

103

Agenda Item 10



 

 

Introduction and background  

1. The land was a strategic housing site that had been in Council ownership 
since the 1940/50s, which had not been brought forward for development due 
to significant challenges including: contamination, access arrangements, and 
high S106 requirements (such as the need to fund a new school on site).This 
pre-dated the Housing Revenue Account reforms and so options for bringing 
the site forward and delivering a significant number of affordable homes were 
limited. The Council was determined to find a way to bring forward much 
needed development and explored a number of options. In 2011 the Council 
entered into a joint venture (JV) with Grosvenor Developments Ltd, known as 
Barton Oxford LLP (BOLLP) to enable the delivery of a new development now 
known as Barton Park. This was an innovative approach at the time.  

2. The Council had identified that Barton Park offered a once-in-a-generation 
opportunity not only to provide a large number of new homes and associated 
facilities but to also develop a thriving and vibrant new community as part of 
the city. The aim was to create a place that has its own distinctive identity but 
that is integrated with the communities around it. A critical feature of the plan 
was that the existing communities close to the development should benefit 
through providing access to new community facilities and other services; 
through making better links to the rest of Oxford and the surrounding 
countryside; by returning pockets of grazing land to good use; and by linking 
local people to the economic opportunities generated by the new development. 

3. There has been extensive engagement and consultation with the local 
communities from the outset. The City Council worked with a Barton and 
Northway residents working group as well as other interested groups and 
widely consulted in developing the Area Action Plan which was adopted in 
December 2012. Both the City Council and the JV meet regularly with a local 
group of interested parties (Barton Integration and Community Engagement 
Partnership - BICEP) to discuss plans and progress. This group has been 
closely involved in a range of matters from street naming to helping shape 
exercise trails and wayfaring signage around the site. BOLLP promotes this 
group to house builders building at Barton Park who attend the meetings.        

4. When construction is complete the 885-home development will include 354 
homes (40% of total delivery) for social rent, let through the Council’s housing 
company to applicants from the housing register. As well as a “tenure blind” 
mix of social and market housing Barton Park will include a new primary 
school with community hub, two children’s play areas, retail including a food 
store, and sports and leisure facilities. It will also include a 10-acre park, 
improvements to existing allotments, two civic squares and community 
gardens to encourage social integration of the new and existing communities. 

5. Encouraging healthy lifestyles is built into the fabric of the new development, 
which is also funding extensive health improvement activity in Barton’s existing 
community. This includes health and wellbeing activities in the community and 
the redevelopment of Barton Neighbourhood Centre to provide better GP, 
sports and community facilities.  

6. Barton Park has been recognised as an exemplar development. It was also 
chosen as one of only ten sites in NHS England’s Healthy New Towns 
programme leveraging funding for programmes to reduce health inequality. In 

104



 

 

April, Barton Park was awarded best housing development in Oxfordshire at 
the 2019 Oxfordshire Property Festival. It has also been shortlisted in the 
Partnership Working category at the national Planning Awards 2019. 

7. In developing the scheme, it was acknowledged that the infrastructure costs of 
bringing the site forward were sufficiently high, as to make the site unviable at 
a planning policy compliant 50 % affordable housing. On 10th November 2010 
the Council’s City Executive Board (CEB) agreed to reduce the requirement for 
affordable housing to 40%, although all of this would be for social rent.  

8. At the same meeting, CEB approved the approach to bring the site forward by 
way of a JV. This approach was chosen after detailed research into multiple 
delivery options by expert advisors, and it was confirmed as the preferred 
option against a number of criteria which included a greater degree of Council 
control, deliverability in the prevailing market, and managing the Council’s 
exposure to development risk. On the 25th May 2011, CEB approved the 
selection of Grosvenor Developments Ltd (GDL) as the preferred partner, 
agreed the basis of the JV including that the Council’s land would be 
transferred into the JV and the Board and project group arrangements.  

9. The approach taken to the development was that the JV (BOLLP) gained 
outline planning permission for the whole site, followed by reserved matters 
(RM) consent for the aspects which it was to deliver (infrastructure, pavilion, 
linear park and allotments). It also provided the infrastructure including the 
main estate roads, drainage and new junction to the A40 Barton Village Road. 
The infrastructure was developed upfront as the first stage of the development. 
This approach allows parcels of serviced land to be sold to house builders who 
can then apply for RM consent and build housing for sale to the market and  
the 40% affordable (social rented) housing. Outline consent was granted in 
October 2013 including a phasing plan.  

Progress to Date 

10. The majority of the infrastructure works have been completed, with access 
from the A40 available to residents and potential purchasers within the first 
phase of the development.  Also already available for use is the western play 
area and surrounding pond. This will   be followed by the remainder of the 
linear park for use from the summer of 2019.The access from Barton Village 
Road to the pavilion and sports facilities will also be permanently available 
from the summer of 2019. Final inspections from adopting authorities (the 
County Council and Thames Water) are awaited to enable the infrastructure 
contract to be considered complete. 

11. The site is being built out in 4 main phases.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

105



 

 

First Phase  

12. The sale of the first phase (237 units) to Hill completed in November 2016. Hill 
are currently building out this phase which includes 40 % social rented 
accommodation of the following types: 

 Unit Types No. Units Bed spaces 

1 bed flat 13 26 

2 bed flat 56 223 

3 bed house 24 125 

4 bed house 2 14 

Total 95 388 

 

13. The phase has been parcelled into smaller tranches that allow the construction 
team to withdraw into the site so that new residents do not have to cross areas 
still under development to get to their new homes. The planned handover of 
social units from these parcels is as follows: 

 

Completed 

Handovers to 

March 2019     

C2 9 30 

C3 2 10 

B3 11 26 

Total 22 66 

April 2019 

Handovers     

D3 6 28 

B1 7 28 

Total 13 56 

Pending Handovers     

D2, E - H 60 266 

Phase 1 Total 95 388 

 

14. The first handover of 11 completed social rented homes to Oxford City 
Housing (Investment) Ltd (OCHIL) took place in January 2019, followed by a 
further 11 in February. All 22 homes are owned and managed by OCHIL and 
have been let and occupied. On 13th May OCHIL took possession of 13 more 
completed homes which have all been allocated and accepted. The next 
tranche of 12 homes will be handed over to OCHIL in June/July with the 
remaining handovers scheduled over the course of the next year.   

15. The Council has instructed an employer’s agent who ensures that the 
properties are built to the appropriate standard and checks the price to be paid 
in accordance with the agreement.  

 

106



 

 

Second phase 

16. In 2018 Redrow completed on the purchase of the second phase for an 
anticipated 223 units. Pre-application discussions have taken place with the 
City Council as local planning authority. Redrow have also presented their 
plans to BICEP and they were well received. Redrow have submitted the 
Reserved Matters Application (RMA) and will consult on the proposals through 
the planning process The application is likely to go to East Area Planning 
Committee in July or August 2019 .Discussions have also started with the 
Council around the 83 social rented homes that will be purchased on 
completion and Redrow expect to be on site in Autumn 2019. 

 

Further Phases 

17. Negotiations with interested parties are underway on the remaining phases. It 
is difficult to predict with certainty the timescales for the future phases as these 
are dependent on negotiations with house builders The outline planning 
consent requires planning applications to be submitted for all phases by 2023. 

Community facilities 

18. A range of new community facilities are included as an integral part of the 
overall development 

19. The County Council have applied for planning permission for a primary school  
at the heart of the development. BOLLP has had input at the design stage as 
this is a key building. It is anticipated that this will be determined by the end of 
June 2019. Final details of the lease between BOLLP and the County Council 
are currently being finalised. The school is programmed to be built and open 
by September 2020. Community facilities are being provided within the school 
and will be subject to a joint use agreement.  

20. The new pavilion and sports facilities have been handed over to the City 
Council. This has been a particularly challenging part of the site and delays 
have occurred. Snagging works are currently being undertaken and final 
negotiations around the lease are drawing to a close. The Council will take a 
long term lease and grant a lease to the Phoenix Sports Association. This will 
provide a first class facility for the community going forward 

21. The linear park, fitness trail and play facilities are now complete.    

22. A piece of public art will also be provided and this is subject to further 
consultation before proposals are finalised and moved into delivery phase. 

Financial Implications 

23. Under the terms of the agreement, the Council put its land into the JV at an 
agreed price, payment for which was to be deferred and interest accrued. GDL 
agreed to provide the finance required to gain planning permission, discharge 
all s106 requirements, design and build the infrastructure for the site and pay 
all fees required to be able to sell serviced parcels. These payments are 
dependent on final costs and values achieved through the scheme. 

24. The agreement sets out a waterfall of payments to both Grosvenor 
Development Limited (GDL) and the Council as income is received from the 
development. This includes payments to GDL for its costs, payment to the 

107



 

 

council for its land and how any profit from the scheme is to be split.  The 
agreed waterfall reflects the comparative risk profiles of the two development 
partners.  The primary objective for the council in developing the site was not 
to make a profit, but to bring forward a high quality residential development 
with significant provision of affordable housing.  

25. It is not unusual for the expected profit for such a large scheme to flex 
considerably throughout the development timeline as costs and values change 
due to the lengthy timescales involved. . When the agreement was made, the 
value of the land transferred to the LLP was £0.850million The modelling 
indicated that the Council might also receive a proportion of the profit. 
However due to the level of uncertainty around any payments arising from this, 
the Council took a prudent approach and only included the land payment in its 
accounts, which up to 31-3-2018 including interest was £1.17million The latest 
projections show that the Council should not expect to receive payment for 
land value or profit and that GDL do not expect to receive all its payments 
under the terms of the agreement. 

26. The reason for the reduction in expected payments is partly due to the 
changes in the residential market, but also a significant increase in costs as a 
result of the development taking longer to build out than originally envisaged. 
For example, the s106 costs are indexed and payment linked in many cases to 
numbers of households in occupation.  Because the scheme is taking longer to 
deliver, the occupation numbers are also further in the future and so  the costs 
are  higher as the indexation applies for a longer period .   

27. Furthermore, the affordable housing deal agreed through the JV is providing 
good value to the council as the value of the affordable housing purchased by 
OCHIL has already increased significantly over the purchase price. 

28. It should also be noted that at the beginning of the partnership, the Council 
received £0.5 million for services provided by the Council in connection with 
establishing the Joint Venture and scheme. 

Legal issues 

29. The Council has the power to dispose of land at best consideration pursuant to 
Section 123 of the Local Government Act 1972, and has the power to acquire 
completed affordable housing units pursuant to Section 17 of the Housing Act 
1985. 

 

30. The Barton Oxford LLP Members’ Agreement dated 31st October 2011 (“the 
Agreement”) sets out the mechanism for decision-making within BOLLP. 
Grosvenor Development Limited and the Council are the only two “members” 
of BOLLP. The Agreement creates both a Partnership Board and an Executive 
Project Group, and also contains, as a schedule, a Delegation Policy. This 
policy sets out a more detailed explanation of the various levels of decision-
making authority within BOLLP. 

31. Certain key matters are reserved for the members themselves; these tend to 
be high level substantive matters such as any variation to the objects or 
business of BOLLP, adding new members, granting any security over BOLLP 
assets to a third party funder and acquiring new development sites, etc. 

108



 

 

32. Each member is entitled to appoint up to three “representatives” to the 
Partnership Board, the chair of which rotates between representatives of the 
two members. The Council’s representatives are currently the Assistant Chief 
Executive and the Head of Housing. No resolution may be made by the 
Partnership Board without the unanimous consent of the representatives of 
both members. The Partnership Board agrees significant operational matters 
such as changes to the Investment Plan, approving the annual budget, 
approving the sales and marketing strategy, declaring any distribution of profits 
or reserves, etc. 

33. The Executive Project Group (“EPG”) is, in effect, responsible for the day to 
day management of the business of BOLLP.  Each member may appoint up to 
three appointees (plus observers) to the EPG, which is chaired by a Grosvenor 
appointee. The Council’s representative is currently the Regeneration and 
Major Projects Service Manager. In general the EPG is responsible for 
ensuring that the business of BOLLP is properly carried out, and makes 
recommendations to the Partnership Board on a range of operational and 
strategic matters. 

34. Now that the Barton Park development is well under way and the affordable 
housing is beginning to be completed and occupied, it is both appropriate and 
necessary that councillors be regularly updated so that councillors can better 
monitor the implementation of the overall scheme. For this reason, this report 
recommends that quarterly reports be made available on overall project 
progress, financial performance and social housing delivery. Such a 
recommendation is very much in line with the observations made in the BDO 
Audit report scheduled to be reviewed by the Council’s Audit and Governance 
Committee in July. The Leader has requested that progress reports on all of 
the Council’s companies and joint ventures be presented to quarterly meetings 
of the Council’s Shareholder body, which will have an expanded remit to 
receive reports from companies and joint ventures which do not have 
shareholders, such as Barton Oxford LLP. 

Level of risk 

35. Barton Oxford LLP is a 50/50 partnership and the risks are shared between 
the partners, albeit the majority of development expenditure and therefore 
development risk sits with ODL.  Beyond the loss of the land payment, there is 
no further financial risk to the Council directly from the LLP. 

Equalities impact  

36. The delivery of 354 social rented homes will have a positive impact on those 
households in significant housing need. 

Conclusion 

37. Barton Park is a major development for the Council in terms of a partnership 
and direct involvement in bringing forward a challenging development site for 
new housing. It has been a significant opportunity for the Council to partner 
with a high quality developer with aligned values to deliver, high quality and 
sustainable construction and design, attractive public realm and adding much 
social value to existing communities. This continues to be an extremely 
valuable learning experience particularly with regard to the direct infrastructure 

109



 

 

delivery for the Council and this will support the future aspirations to increase 
the Council’s housing company’s development programme. 

 

Report author Jane Winfield 

Job title Regeneration and Major Projects Service 
Manager  

Service area or department Regeneration and Major Projects  

Telephone  01865 2525521  

e-mail  jwinfield@oxford.gov.uk  

 

Background Papers:  

 

None 

 

 

 

110

mailto:jwinfield@oxford.gov


Minutes of a meeting of the  
CABINET 
on Wednesday 12 June 2019  
 
 

Committee members: 

Councillor Brown (Chair) Councillor Linda Smith (Deputy Leader) 

Councillor Turner Councillor Chapman 

Councillor Hayes Councillor Hollingsworth 

Councillor Rowley Councillor Tidball 

Councillor Upton  

Officers:  

Gordon Mitchell, Chief Executive 
Anita Bradley, Monitoring Officer 
Tom Bridgman, Executive Director (Development) 
Aileen Carlisle, Interim Executive Director (Communities and Customers) 
Caroline Green, Assistant Chief Executive 
Mai Jarvis, Environmental Quality Team Manager 
Nigel Kennedy, Head of Financial Services 
Tim Sadler, Transition Director 
Jennifer Thompson, Committee and Members Services Officer 
Stefan Robinson, Scrutiny Officer 

Also present: 

Councillor Andrew Gant, Chair of the Scrutiny Committee 

Apologies: 

 
Councillors Clarkson sent apologies. 
 

21. Declarations of Interest  

None. 

22. Addresses and Questions by Members of the Public  

Judith Harley addressed Cabinet in relation to Minute 31 below. She outlined her 
concerns about the nominations to the Elder Stubbs Charity and asked why she was 
not being re-appointed as a City-Council-nominated Trustee for the Charity as she was 
available and willing to serve another 4-year term. She also asked for confirmation that 
new nominees lived within the requisite area to be a Trustee, and that all nominees 
were available for meetings. 
 

111

Agenda Item 13



 

Councillor Brown explained that the Council’s approach was now that all appointments 
to these bodies are filled by elected councillors to fulfil the role as a contact between 
the body and the Council.  
All non-councillor appointees were replaced as their term ended. As such this was in no 
way a reflection on Ms Harley’s service or capability. She understood Ms Harley would 
be appointed by the charity in another capacity and wished her well.  
Councillor Brown confirmed that all nominees met the criteria for membership, but 
noted that given demands on councillors’ time their attendance could not be 
guaranteed. 
 

23. Councillor Addresses on any item for decision on the Board's 
agenda  

None received. 
 

24. Councillor Addresses on Neighbourhood Issues  

None received. 
 

25. Items raised by Board Members  

None received. 
 

26. Scrutiny Committee Reports  

The Cabinet had before it two Scrutiny reports and the draft Cabinet responses to 
them. Councillor Gant spoke to these reports in his capacity as Chair of Scrutiny 
Committee. 
 
Minute Seacourt Park and Ride Extension  
 
Councillor Gant noted the response to the Scrutiny Committee’s report and that the 
recommendation was not accepted.  
 
Minute Safeguarding report and action plan 
 
Councillor Gant noted that the Housing Panel would consider matters relating to 
safeguarding homeless adults. He was concerned that Cabinet’s response did not 
make mention of the requested data gathering; and that the Guest House Review set 
out actions, subsequently agreed, which were now apparently being set aside. He was 
concerned at the apparent overturn of the Cabinet’s previous decisions. 
 
In response Councillor Chapman said that it would be very difficult for the Council, not 
being the lead safeguarding authority, to gather meaningful and reliable data on the 
number of school aged children receiving face to face safeguarding awareness training. 
The recommendations from the 2015 Guest House Review would not be revisited in the 
depth and detail implied in the Scrutiny recommendation because matters had moved 
on since that review. 

112



 

 

27. Seacourt Park and Ride Extension  

The Executive Director Development had submitted a report to seek approval to 
appoint a contractor for the main contract works and for final scheme approval. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Planning & Sustainable Transport, Councillor Alex 
Hollingsworth introduced and moved the recommendations for the reasons set out in 
the report. 
 
Cabinet resolved to: 
 
1. Approve the appointment of ODSL (Oxford Direct Services Ltd) as the main 

contractor to construct the park and ride extension, subject to final scheme 
approval; 
 

2. Grant final scheme approval to enable the scheme, as amended, to be delivered 
within the budget of £5,156,122 approved by Council in February 2019; and 

 
3. Delegate to the Director of Development, acting in consultation with the Heads of 

Law & Governance and Financial Services, and the Portfolio holder for Planning & 
Sustainable Transport, the authority to enter into all necessary and appropriate 
contracts to implement the delivery of the proposed extension to the Park and Ride 
scheme at Seacourt. 

 

28. Bus Euro 6 Low Emission Zone  

The Transition Director had submitted a report seeking Cabinet agreement to support 
Oxfordshire County Council in the application to the traffic commissioner for the 
implementation of a Bus Euro VI Low Emission Zone. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Zero Carbon Oxford, Councillor Hayes introduced and moved 
the recommendations for the reasons set out in the report. Cabinet noted the bid would 
be made by the County Council and the benefit would extend beyond the city 
boundaries. 
 
Cabinet resolved to support Oxfordshire County Council in the application to the 
traffic commissioner for the implementation of a Bus Euro VI Low Emission Zone in 
Oxford. 
 

29. Safeguarding report and action plan  

The Assistant Chief Executive has submitted a report on the progress made on the 
Oxford City Council’s Safeguarding Action Plan 2018/19. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Safer Communities & Customer Focused Services, Councillor 
Chapman introduced and moved the recommendations for the reasons set out in the 
report. Cabinet noted the ongoing good and innovative work to improve safeguarding. 

113



 

 
 
Cabinet resolved to: 
 
1. Note the key achievements of the Safeguarding work delivered through Oxford City 

Council  during 2018/19; 
 

2. Agree the Safeguarding Action Plan 2019/20 set out in Appendix 1; and 
 
3. Approve Oxford City Council’s safeguarding policy updated April 2019. 

 
 

30. Release of capital funds for the  East Oxford Community Centre  

The Interim Executive Director Customer and Communities had submitted a report to 
seek the release of £800k for consultancy support for the delivery of the East Oxford 
Community Centre including any associated social housing. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Supporting Local Communities, Councillor Tidball introduced 
and moved the recommendations for the reasons set out in the report. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Finance and Asset Management noted there should be no 
expansion in the already allocated funding and agreed timetable for the project.  
 
Cabinet resolved to: 
 
1. Approve the release of £800k of the East Oxford Community Centre Capital budget 

for detailed design and feasibility work, technical specification, planning and 
oversight of the build of the East Oxford Community Centre including social housing, 
to occupation; and 

 
2. Delegate to the Executive Director Customer and Communities, acting in 

conjunction with the Heads of Law & Governance and Financial Services, and in 
conjunction with the Portfolio Holders for Supporting Local Communities and 
Finance & Asset Management, the authority to enter into all necessary and 
appropriate contracts and to take any required steps to secure the development of 
the East Oxford Community Centre and associated housing. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

114



 

31. Appointment to Outside Bodies 2019/20  

The Head of Law and Governance had submitted a report to agree appointments to 
charities, trusts, community associations and other organisations for the 2019/20 
Council Year. 
 
The Leader of the Council, Councillor Brown, introduced the report.  
 
Cabinet agreed to vary the usual approach of appointing local ward councillors to 
community associations and in Appendix 1A make a change to the proposed 
appointment: 

6.  East Oxford Community Association Cllr Azad  
Cllr Rowley 
Cllr Hayes 

 
and to ask the report author to propose to the Elder Stubbs Charity that they review 
their membership with a view to reducing the number of places allocated to City Council 
appointees. 
 
On being moved, Cabinet agreed the recommendations for the reasons set out in the 
report, noting the changes above. 
 
On being moved, Cabinet agreed the recommendations for the reasons set out in the 
report, noting the changes above. 
 
Cabinet resolved to: 
 
1. Amend the nominees for East Oxford Community Association to replace Cllr 

Hayes with Cllr Rowley; 
 
2. With that change, approve appointments to charities, trusts, community 

associations and other organisations as shown in Appendices 1A – 1D; and note 
the appointments to partnerships as detailed in Appendix 1E; 
 

3. Ask the report author to propose to the Elder Stubbs Charity a reduction in the 
number of City Council appointees; 

 
4. Note the guidance for appointees as detailed in Appendix 2; 

 
5. Agree to add the Climate Alliance and the Oxfordshire Building Trust to the list of 

charities, trusts, community associations and other organisations as detailed at 
paragraph 14 of the report; and  

 
6. Delegate authority to the Head of Law and Governance, in consultation with the 

Leader of the Council, and where appropriate with other group leaders, to make any 
changes to appointments to Outside Bodies as may be required during the course 
of the Council year 2019/20. 

 
 

115



 

32. Minutes  

Cabinet agreed to amend Minute 2 to read: “…..addressed the Cabinet in relation to 
item 11 on the agenda”. 
 
Cabinet resolved to APPROVE the amended minutes of the meeting held on 29 May 
2019 as a true and accurate record. 
 

33. Dates of Future Meetings  

Meetings are scheduled for the following dates: 

 10 July 

 07 August 

 11 September 

 09 October 

 13 November  
 

34. Matters Exempt from Publication  

The Board did not resolve to exclude the press and the public from the meeting during 
consideration of any of the items on the exempt from publication part of the agenda, it 
will be necessary for the Board to pass a resolution in accordance with the provisions of 
Paragraph 4(2)(b) of the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Access to 
Information) (England) Regulations 2012 on the grounds that their presence could 
involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as described in specific paragraphs 
of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.  
 
(The Board may maintain the exemption if and so long as, in all the circumstances of 
the case, the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest 
in disclosing the information.) 
 
No matters were considered in confidential session. 

35. Seacourt Park & Ride  -  Appendix 2  

Noted under Minute 27 but not discussed.   
 
 
 
 
The meeting started at 6.00 pm and ended at 6.45 pm 
 
 
 
Chair …………………………..   Date:  Wednesday 10 July 2019 

116



Document is Restricted

117

Agenda Item 14
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	7 Scrutiny Committee Reports
	Cabinet Response - Fusion

	8 Q4 Integrated Performance  Report
	AppA - GF Outturn 1819 V4
	App B - Capital Programme 1819 V1
	App C - HRA 1819 V2
	App D Carry Fwd 1819 V6
	App E Corporate Risk
	App F Corporate PIs

	9 Fusion Lifestyle’s Annual Service Plan for Oxford leisure facilities (2019/20)
	Appendix1 (S)
	Appendix 2 (S)
	Appendix 3  (S)
	Appendix 4 (S)

	10 Barton Oxford LLP
	13 Minutes
	14 Q4  Integrated Report Appendix G



